Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
Sam’s Town Casino Hotel and Convention Center, Shreveport, LA
January 25, 2005

- Summary of Action Items 1. Approved amended minutes of the October 27, 2004 meeting.
2. Recognized the Corporate Governance Committee’s recommendations to have Kevin Easley represent
State/Federal Power Agencies on the Members Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
and appointed Mike Palmer to represent Transmission Owners on the Corporate Governance
Committee.
3. Approved the Strategic Planning Committee’s recommendations regarding Market Implementation,
Independent Market Monitor, RTO/RRO and the Cost Allocation Proposal.
4. Approved SPP Criteria changes for Criteria 4 for improved use of Counter-Flows and Positive Flows to
increase short-term AFCs (daily and weekly firm).
5. Approved Tariff Attachment AC, system impact studies for short-term service.
6. Approved Tariff Schedule 9, NITS service by load served by transmission owner.
7. Approved the following SPP Tariff modifications to support the Regional State Committee’s Cost
Allocation Plan:
• New: Tariff Part V and Schedule 11- Base Plan Charge
• Modified:
o Attachment H – Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement
o Attachment J – Recovery of Costs Associated with New Facilities
o Attachment L – Treatment of Revenues
o Attachment S – Procedure for Calculation of MW-mile Impacts
o Attachment Z – Aggregate Transmission Service Study Procedures
• Supplemented: Section 1 – Definitions
8. Adopted the Regional State Committee’s Cost Allocation Proposal and instructed SPP Staff to file tariff
language pursuant to Section 205 of the Federal Power Act.
9. Adopted the Finance Committee recommendation to direct staff to provide Membership the required
notice (30 days) that the Board Directors will be considering a Membership Agreement revision at its
April 26 meeting.

MINUTES NO. 97
Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
Sam’s Town Casino Hotel and Convention Center, Shreveport, LA
January 25, 2005
Agenda Item 1 - Administrative Items
SPP Chair Mr. Jim Eckelberger called the meeting to order at 9:03 a.m. and thanked everyone present and
participating by phone for attending. Mr. Eckelberger then called for a round of introductions and referred to
the agenda (Agenda – Attachment 1). The following Board/Members Committee members were in attendance
or represented by proxy:
Ms. Phyllis Bernard, director
Mr. Nick Brown, Southwest Power Pool
Mr. David Christiano, City Utilities of Springfield, MO
Mr. Harry Dawson, Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority
Mr. Michael Desselle, American Electric Power
Mr. Jim Eckelberger, director
Ms. Trudy Harper, Tenaska Power Services Company
Mr. Doug Henry, Westar
Mr. Quentin Jackson, director
Mr. Joshua Martin, director
Mr. Mike Palmer, Empire District Electric Company
Mr. Stephen Parr, Kansas Electric Power Cooperative
Mr. Alan Derichsweiler, for Mr. Gary Roulet, Western Farmers Electric Cooperative
Mr. Robert Schoenberger, director
Mr. Harry Skilton, director
Mr. Richard Spring, Kansas City Power & Light
Mr. Kurtz Stowers, for Mr. Jim Stanton, Calpine
Mr. David Brian, for Mr. Rick Tyler, Northeast Texas Electric Cooperative
Mr. Gary Voigt, Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corporation
Mr. Kurtz Stowers, for Mr. Walt Yeager, Cinergy Corporation
There were 55 persons in attendance representing 20 members and 7 regulators (Attendance List Attachment 2). Mr. Brown reported proxies and a quorum was declared (Proxies - Attachment 3).
Mr. Eckelberger referred to draft minutes of the October 27 meeting (10/27/04 Meeting Minutes - Attachment 4)
and noted the following changes:
• Mr. Walt Yeager (Cinergy Services, Inc.) was in attendance.
• Omit the following sentence from Agenda Item 3, second paragraph: A percentage to be determined
by the Cost Allocation Working Group would be set as a cap on the allowable impact a DNR-related
upgrade may have on the zonal rates.
Mr. Skilton moved that the minutes be approved as amended. Mr. Brown seconded the motion, which passed.
Mr. Eckelberger invited the Members Committee and the Markets and Operations Policy Committee chair to
attend the executive session following the meeting.
Mr. Eckelberger instructed Mr. Schoenberger who joined the meeting via teleconference to submit his votes by
email to Mr. Carl Monroe (SPP).
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Agenda Item 2 – President’s Report
Mr. Nick Brown presented the President’s Report (President’s Report – Attachment 5). In addition to the
Quarterly Report, Mr. Brown announced that Commissioner Pat Wood has planned a FERC meeting with the
directors of the RTO/ISO organizations, FERC commissioners and senior FERC staff to continue dialog on
various initiatives including, standardized cost accounting, interfacing and governance. Mr. Brown pointed out
that this was an historic meeting and encouraged all SPP directors to check their calendars and plan to
participate.
Mr. Brown reported intentions to hold training sessions to provide education on various issues and to help keep
directors better informed. Members will be contacted to offer input regarding style of training sessions to aid
Staff in the training structure.
Mr. Brown provided an update on recent FERC activities:
• Southwest Power Pool was given final acceptance as a Regional Transmission Organization in
response to materials submitted for the October 1, 2004 conditional order.
• Approved Attachment Z regarding the Aggregate Transmission Service Study Procedures and
suspended the cost allocation portion for 5 months pending SPP’s filing of the Cost Allocation
Proposal.
• Rehearing regarding the SPP/MISO JOA was denied. Staff will discuss whether additional action
should be taken.
Agenda Item 3 – Corporate Governance Committee Report
Mr. Brown presented the Corporate Governance Committee report (CGC Report – Attachment 6). Mr. Brown
explained that Southwestern Power Administration (SPA) withdrew its membership from SPP effective October
31, 2004 replacing it with a contractual relationship. SPA represented the State/Federal Power Agencies
sector of the membership on the Members Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, as well as
the Transmission Owning sector of the membership on the Human Resources Committee. In accordance with
SPP Bylaws, the Corporate Governance Committee offered the following recommendation to fill these
vacancies:
1) The Corporate Governance Committee asks that the Board of Directors recognize Kevin Easley from
GRDA as the representative of the State/Federal Power Agencies membership sector on the Members
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee effective immediately.
2) The Corporate Governance Committee nominates Mike Palmer for appointment to the Human
Resources Committee to fill the Transmission Owning member vacancy.
Mr. Brown moved to approve this recommendation. Mr. Jackson seconded the motion. The Members
Committee vote was unanimous in approval. The directors voted and the motion passed.
The Corporate Governance Committee plans to meet again in April in conjunction with the Board of Directors
meeting.
Agenda Item 4 – Regional State Committee Report
Oklahoma State Commission Chairman and RSC President, Denise Bode was asked to give the Regional
State Committee (RSC) report. Chairman Bode stated that the Regional State Committee met January 24 and
thanked everyone who participated. Ms. Bode reported that the Cost Benefit Study was currently running. A
preliminary report will be provided by the end of January with a final report expected in March 2005.
Ms. Bode informed the Board of Directors that the RSC has tentatively planned its next meeting to be in
conjunction with the NARUC meeting on Tuesday, February 15, to discuss cost allocation and the
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reasonableness test. Notice of this meeting will be posted.
Ms. Bode stated that Mr. Brown led a discussion at the RSC meeting on how the RSC and SPP can interact
moving forward to ensure maximum support and to improve processes so that together we can achieve the
best product possible.
Ms. Bode announced that David Fleischaker, Secretary of Energy for Oklahoma, had joined the RSC as an
associate member and welcomed him aboard.
Agenda Item 5 – Independent Market Monitor Report
Mr. Craig Roach (Boston Pacific) was asked to provide a summary of the Independent Market Monitor (IMM)
activities. Mr. Roach stated that Boston Pacific has developed a monitoring plan as required by FERC. The
Market Implementation Task Force approved the monitoring plan November 2004 and the Market Working
Group offered approval in December 2004. The Regional Tariff Working Group and the Markets and
Operations Policy Committee will review the monitoring plan for approval. There is a work session planned
with FERC in February 2005. The complete plan including protocols and market mitigation is expected to be
ready in April 2005. FERC requires a state of the market report in June. Full participation in markets trials are
due to take place this summer prior to going live October 1, 2005.
Agenda Item 6 – Strategic Planning Committee Report
Mr. Richard Spring presented the Strategic Planning Committee Report (SPC Report & Recommendations –
Attachment 7). Mr. Spring recognized the SPC as: Ricky Bittle, Dave Christiano, Michael Desselle, Jim
Eckelberger, Josh Martin, Mike Palmer, Steve Parr, Mel Perkins, Harry Skilton and Jim Stanton with Stacy
Duckett as staff secretary. Mr. Spring provided an update on SPC activities and presented the following SPC
recommendations:
• Market Implementation: The Strategic Planning Committee recommends that the Board of Directors
affirm SPP’s planned phased implementation of additional market services, including directing the
Markets Working Group through the Markets and Operations Policy Committee and the Strategic
Planning Committee to conduct an assessment of the impact to existing and prospective members of
the offering and timing of additional services prior to a significant investment of resources in design
and development of these next phases.
• Independent Market Monitor: The Strategic Planning Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee jointly recommend that the IMM report to the Compliance Committee of the Board.
• RTO/RRO: The Strategic Planning Committee recommends that the Membership receive the required
notice (30 days) that the Board of Directors will be considering at its April 26 meeting the necessary
Bylaws revisions to reflect that the NERC Compliance function reports to the Board of Directors to
assure independence of the function within SPP.
• Cost Allocation Proposal: The Strategic Planning Committee has no recommendation at this time as to
the position SPP should take relative to the RSC’s proposed plan, but does recommend that staff work
with the membership, the RSC, and state regulatory bodies to develop a cost recovery solution related
to the RSC’s plan.
Mr. Brown moved to approve all SPC recommendations as presented. Mr. Martin seconded the motion. Mr.
Eckelberger asked the Members Committee to vote on each recommendation. The Members Committee
showed unanimous support on all four recommendations. The Directors were instructed to vote on each SPC
recommendation; the motion passed.
Agenda Item 7 – Markets & Operations Policy Committee
Mr. Mel Perkins presented the Markets & Operations Policy Committee Report (MOPC Report & Presentation
– Attachment 8). Mr. Perkins stated that the MOPC had the following recommendations to present to the Board
for approval:
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•

•
•

SPP Criteria 4, Improved use of Counter-Flows and Positive Flows to increase short-term AFCs (daily
and weekly firm). Mr. Brown moved to approve Criteria 4 modifications. Mr. Skilton seconded the
motion. The Members Committee voted unanimous support. The directors voted and the motion
passed.
Attachment AC, System Impact Studies for Short Term Service: Mr. Brown moved to approve
Attachment AC. Mr. Skilton seconded the motion. The Members Committee voted unanimous
support. The directors voted and the motion passed.
Schedule 9, NITS service by load served by transmission owner: Mr. Brown moved to approve
Schedule 9. Mr. Skilton seconded the motion. The Members Committee voted unanimous support.
The directors voted and the motion passed.

Mr. Ricky Bittle (AECC) provided an overview of the Regional Tariff Working Group (RTWG) activities
regarding the Transmission Cost Allocation Proposal and SPP OATT modifications. Mr. Bittle provided
revisions of the following primary sections and attachments of SPP OATT:
• New: Tariff Part V and Schedule 11- Base Plan Charge
• Modified:
o Attachment H – Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement
o Attachment J – Recovery of Costs Associated with New Facilities
o Attachment L – Treatment of Revenues
o Attachment S – Procedure for calculation of MW-mile impacts
o Attachment Z – Aggregate Transmission Service Study Procedures
• Supplemented: Section 1 – Definitions
Mr. Bittle made the following recommendation as approved by the MOPC:
Without addressing the merits of the RSC Cost Allocation Plan, the MOPC submits the following
revised OATT for FERC filing, where such revisions reflect the intent of the RSC Cost Allocation Plan
and conforms the existing OATT provisions to accommodate such RSC Cost Allocation Plan. The
MOPC recommends that SPP staff and the RTWG be authorized to make, with appropriate
involvement from the CAWG, any needed clarifications and structural modifications necessary in
preparation for filing the revised OATT at FERC.
Mr. Brown moved to accept the MOPC recommendation. Mr. Skilton seconded the motion. The Members
Committee voted in support with one abstention from Mr. Dawson. The directors voted and the motion passed.
SPP has committed to file the revised SPP OATT by March 1.
The RTWG was commended for its great work, theamount of effort required and expended and the timely
fashion in which the task was completed. The SPP directors stated appreciation and recognized the
complexity of work and unity of purpose exhibited in this process. Mr. Bittle gave credit to the assistance of
Pam Kozlowski of BDR, Inc. The RTWG passed the following resolution: By acclamation and with great
appreciation the RTWG recognizes the knowledge, support and sacrifice of Pam Kozlowski, BDR, Inc., and
expresses its appreciation for her support in the development of the RSC Cost Allocation Policy and the
conversion of that Policy into Tariff language. Mr. Brown suggested that written documentation be sent to
BDR, Inc.
Mr. Brown stated that there had been much debate between the RSC and the Board of Directors on the
procedure of filing the Transmission Cost Allocation Proposal and the SPP Tariff language that supports the
proposal. Mr. Brown made the following motion:
The SPP Board of Directors adopts and accepts the Cost Allocation Proposal of the Regional State
Committee and instructs SPP Staff to file jointly the tariff language developed by the Regional Tariff
Working Group with the RSC pursuant to Section 205 and 206 of the Federal Power Act.
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Following discussion Mr. Brown amended the motion to read:
The SPP Board of Directors adopts and accepts the Cost Allocation Proposal of the Regional State
Committee and instructs SPP Staff to file the tariff language developed by the Regional Tariff Working
Group pursuant to Section 205 of the Federal Power Act.
Mr. Skilton seconded the amended motion. The Members Committee voted in support with 9 in favor, Mr.
Spring against and Mr. Palmer, Mr. Desselle and Mr. Henry in abstention. The directors voted and the motion
passed.
Mr. Bittle continued with an update on RTWG regulatory activities and filings. Mr. Perkins concluded his
presentation providing information on the Operating Reliability Working Group’s work regarding the feasibility of
reducing control areas, the Market Working Group, the Reactive Compensation Task Force, and offered a
compliance update.
Agenda Item 8 – Finance Committee Report
Mr. Harry Skilton presented the Finance Committee report (FC Report and Recommendations – Attachment 9).
Mr. Skilton reported that the Finance Committee had met with auditors, developed language on the
Membership Withdrawal formula, and completed the Finance Committee self-evaluation as required in the SPP
Bylaws. Mr. Skilton explained that due to the requirement to notify the membership 30 days in advance of the
Board’s consideration of Membership Agreement modifications, the Finance Committee’s recommendation
would be amended to direct staff to provide the Membership the required notice (30 days) that the Board of
Directors will be considering the revisions at its April 26 meeting. The directors voted to approve the amended
recommendation. Mr. Tom Dunn was commended for his work regarding membership withdrawal.
Agenda Item 9 – Human Resources Committee Report
Mr. Quentin Jackson provided a Human Resources Committee report. Mr. Jackson stated that the committee
had met at 6:30 a.m. prior to the Board meeting and were in full attendance. Items discussed:
• SPP has engaged Foundation Resource Management to manage the assets of the defined benefit
pension plan.
• SPP has engaged Smith Capital Management to manage the assets in the 401K plan.
• Updated the Investment Policy Statement to allow direct investment in non-U.S. domiciled entities.
• Reviewed the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) and directed Mr. Brown to determine
the level of interest in select staff to participate in a SERP.
Agenda Item 10 – Compliance Committee Report
Mr. Josh Martin presented the Compliance Committee report. Mr. Martin provided history and a committee
scope statement (Compliance Committee Scope – Attachment 10). The Board accepted the scope statement
as presented.
Future Meetings
The next Board of Directors Meeting will be held April 26, 2005 in Austin Texas. Mr. Brown asked for
comments concerning the October meeting location in Santa Fe, New Mexico.
Adjournment
With no further business, Mr. Eckelberger thanked everyone for participating and adjourned the meeting at
11:55. He reminded the Members Committee and MOPC chair of the executive session to convene at 12:45
p.m.
Stacy Duckett, Corporate Secretary
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Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
January 25, 2005
Sam’s Town Casino Hotel and Convention Center – Shreveport, LA
• AGENDA •
9:00 a.m. – 3:00 p.m. central

1. Administrative Items.................................................................... Mr. Jim Eckelberger
2. President’s Report................................................................................Mr. Nick Brown
3. Corporate Governance Committee Report...........................................Mr. Nick Brown
4. Regional State Committee Report.....................................................Ms. Denise Bode
5. Independent Market Monitor Report................................................... Mr. Craig Roach
6. Strategic Planning Committee Report ............................................ Mr. Richard Spring
7. Markets and Operations Policy Committee Report ............................. Mr. Mel Perkins
8. Finance Committee Report .............................................................. Mr. Harry Skilton
9. Human Resources Committee Report ........................................ Mr. Quentin Jackson
10. Compliance Committee Report ........................................................... Mr. Josh Martin
Adjourn to Executive Session

Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING & SPECIAL MEETING OF MEMBERS
Sam’s Town Casino Hotel and Convention Center, Shreveport, LA

January 25, 2005
ATTENDANCE LIST
Name
David Fleischaker
Gary Newell
Ron Gary
Steve Owens
Tony Ingram
John Rogers
Bary Warren
Rick Wolfinger
Tom Dunn
Stacy Duckett
Charles Yeung
Johnie Wise
Michael Wise
Calvin Crowder
Nick Akins
Raj Rana
Les Dillahunty
Bruce Rew
Carl Huslig
Walt Shumate
Shah Hossain
Tom Stuchlik
Mel Perkins
Richard House
J. Michael Peters
Brian Moline
Sandy Hochstetter
Denise Bode
Julie Caruthers Parsley
Joyce Davidson
Jess Totten
Foster Campbell
Terri Gallup
Darrell Gilliam
Lamona Lawrence
Cheryl Robertson
Kurtz Stowers

System
Secretary of Energy, Oklahoma
Counsel to Lafayette Utilities System
Lafayette Utilities System
Entergy
FERC
FERC
The Empire District Electric Company
Constellation Energy Commodities Group
Southwest Power Pool
Southwest Power Pool
Southwest Power Pool
AEP-Southwestern Electric Power Group
Golden Spread Electric Cooperative
AEP
AEP-SWEPCO
AEP
Southwest Power Pool
Southwest Power Pool
Aquila
Shumate & Associates-EEI
Westar Energy
Westar Energy
OG+E
Arkansas PSC
KCC
KCC
Arkansas PSC
Oklahoma Corporation Commission
Texas PUC
Oklahoma Corporation Commission
Texas PUC
Louisiana PSC
AEP
Southwestern Power Administration
Southwest Power Pool
Southwest Power Pool
Calpine
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Alan Derichsweiler
Josh Martin
Dave Christiano
Gary Voigt
Doug Henry
Trudy Harper
Harry Skilton
Jim Eckelberger
Nick Brown
Richard Spring
David Brian
Quentin Jackson
Michael Desselle
Harry Dawson
Phyllis Bernard
Mike Palmer
Mark Anderson

WFEC
Director
City Utilities of Springfield, MO
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corporation
Westar Energy
Tenaska
Director
Director
Southwest Power Pool
Kansas City Power and Light
Northeast Texas Electric Cooperative
Director
AEP
OMPA
Director
The Empire District Electric Company
WFEC
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Subject: SPP Members meeting
-----Original Message----From: Rick Tyler [mailto:ricktyler@ntec.cc]
Sent: Sunday, January 23, 2005 10:45 AM
To: Stacy Duckett
Cc: Brian, David
Subject: SPP Members meeting
Stacy, please allow David Brian to have my proxy for the SPP members meeting on January 25. Thanks.
Rick Tyler
Northeast Texas Electric Coop.

1/26/2005

Subject:

SPP Board of Directors/Members Committee meeting 1/25/05

-----Original Message----From: Jim Stanton [mailto:JStanton@calpine.com]
Sent: Thursday, January 06, 2005 5:02 PM
To: Cheryl Robertson
Cc: Stowers, Kurtz
Subject: RE: SPP Board of Directors/Members Committee meeting 1/25/05
Cheryl, I would like for Kurtz Stowers to fill my spot on the Members
Committee for this meeting, and vote in my place in any straw votes or other
proceedings.
Thanks.
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Proxy for SPP Board meeting

From:

Yeager, Walt [Walt.Yeager@Cinergy.COM]

Sent:

Monday, January 24, 2005 4:39 PM

To:

Stanton, James

Cc:

Cheryl Robertson; Nick Brown

Page 1 of 1

Subject: Proxy for SPP Board meeting
Jim,
Due to an unforseen conflict, I will not be able to attend the SPP Board / Members Committee meeting tomorrow. Would
you be willing to carry my proxy for the Members Committee. I should be ok to attend the next meeting,
Thanks,
Walt Yeager
Managing Director, Market Development
Cinergy Services, Inc.
(513) 419-5711

1/26/2005

Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
Embassy Suites, Little Rock. Arkansas
October 27, 2004

- Summary of Action Items 1. Approved minutes of the July 27, 2004 meeting.
2. Acknowledged the Regional State Committee’s Transmission Expansion Cost Allocation Straw
Proposal for Base Funded Upgrades with plans to complete the SPP committee process and file by
December 31, 2004.
3. Approved the following Strategic Planning Committee recommendations:
• Revisions to SPP Bylaws 5.1.1.1, defines “large” and “small” retail customer Members
• Revisions to SPP Membership Agreement 2.1.1 k, clarifies SPP’s operational authority
• Revisions to SPP Tariff Section 39, requires SPP to remove tariff exceptions that require all TO
load be made subject to the non-rate terms and conditions of its OATT
• Revisions to SPP Tariff Attachment C, requires SPP to specify when ATC is reduced by a “margin”
• IMM Exhibit C, requires Boston Pacific to inform SPP Board of Directors before accepting
engagements involving clients with SPP-related business interests or clients with interests
connected to SPP
4. Approved SPP Criteria changes for:
• Criteria 3.3.3, to benchmark SPP models
• Criteria 4, allowing flexibility to change short-term thresholds
• Criteria 12 and Appendix 2, to update the new ASHRAE handbook
• Criteria 12, capacity ratings for wind plants
5. Approved the following Regional Tariff modifications:
• Section 10, the limitation of liability to protect SPP and Transmission Owners from operational
errors
• Attachment P, requiring new request timing requirements
• Attachment J, to extend the application of current provisions for one year to permit development
and implementation of the new cost allocation plan
6. Approved the Finance Committee’s recommendation for the 2005 Budget.
7. Approved the Finance Committee’s recommendation to develop a new schedule to the Regional Tariff
to collect revenues to satisfy the FERC assessments.
8. Approved the Finance Committee’s recommendation to increase corporate and professional liability
insurance policies to $75 million, and director and officer liability policies to $30 million.
9. Approved the Finance Committee’s recommendation for the planned construction of a primary data
and operations center and the operating and capital costs associated with this initiative.
10. Approved the Finance Committee recommendation to engage BKD, Inc. to perform the audit of SPP’s
2004 financial records.

MINUTES NO. 96
Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
Embassy Suites, Little Rock, Arkansas
October 27, 2004
Agenda Item 1 - Administrative Items
SPP Chair Mr. Jim Eckelberger called the meeting to order at 8:04 a.m. and thanked everyone present and
participating by phone for attending. Mr. Eckelberger then called for a round of introductions and referred to
the agenda (Agenda – Attachment 1). The following Board/Members Committee members were in attendance
or represented by proxy:
Ms. Phyllis Bernard, director
Mr. Nick Brown, Southwest Power Pool
Mr. David Christiano, City Utilities of Springfield, MO
Mr. Harry Dawson, Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority
Mr. Jim McDonald, for Mr. Michael Deihl, Southwestern Power Administration
Mr. Michael Desselle, American Electric Power
Mr. Jim Eckelberger, director
Mr. Greg Geisler, for Ms. Trudy Harper, Tenaska Power Services Company
Mr. Doug Henry, Westar
Mr. Quentin Jackson, director
Mr. Joshua Martin, director
Mr. Mike Palmer, Empire District Electric Company
Mr. Stephen Parr, Kansas Electric Power Cooperative
Mr. Gary Roulet, Western Farmers Electric Cooperative
Mr. Robert Schoenberger, director
Mr. Harry Skilton, director
Mr. Richard Spring, Kansas City Power & Light
Mr. Kurtz Stowers, for Mr. Jim Stanton, Calpine
Mr. David Brian, for Mr. Rick Tyler, Northeast Texas Electric Cooperative
Mr. Gary Voigt, Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corporation
There were 81 persons in attendance representing 28 members and 4 regulators (Attendance List Attachment 2). Mr. Brown reported proxies and a quorum was declared (Proxies - Attachment 3).
Mr. Eckelberger referred to draft minutes of the July 27 meeting (7/27/04 Meeting Minutes - Attachment 4) and
asked for corrections or a motion for approval. Mr. Skilton moved that the minutes be approved as presented.
Mr. Martin seconded the motion, which passed.
Agenda Item 2 – President’s Report
Mr. Nick Brown presented the President’s Report (President’s Report – Attachment 5). In addition to the
Quarterly Report, Mr. Brown offered joys, concerns and challenges for both this past year and the future. He
listed as a joy the formation of the Regional State Committee, which is an historic milestone in getting
commissioners from many states in the footprint at the same table to resolve joint issues. Mr. Brown stated
that
SPP transitioned to a non-stakeholder Board of Directors in May, which is a concern to many members in a
member-driven organization. Mr. Brown also reported that Sunflower Electric will be placing its transmission
facilities under the regional Tariff and that SPP continues efforts for full integration of Aquila. Mr. Brown noted
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that, while SPP has been blessed by the participation of a federal entity as a member, a going concern and
challenge is the ability to meet special conditions of Southwestern Power Administration while protecting the
uniformity of SPP services to all members and customers. Mr. Brown noted that one of the biggest joys of
2004 was achieving RTO recognition on October 1. Mr. Brown displayed a commemorative reminder that was
crafted and will be distributed to key people to celebrate this occasion. Mr. Brown also noted that over the past
six months he had observed segregation of the membership between transmission owners and nontransmission owners and he urged everyone to view the organization in a different light and work to break this
trend. Mr. Brown stated that a big challenge before the SPP Staff was outreach, especially to Entergy. He
stated that there have been FERC Technical Conferences in New Orleans and Jackson regarding Entergy’s
Independent Coordinator of Transmission proposal and he stressed that it is paramount to reach out and
perform services for Entergy and doing what it takes to bring them under the SPP umbrella of regional
services.
Agenda Item 3 – Regional State Committee Report
Oklahoma State Commission Chairman and RSC President, Denise Bode was asked to give the Regional
State Committee (RSC) report. Chairman Bode stated that the Regional State Committee met October 26 and
thanked everyone for their help in making it a successful meeting. Chairman Bode reported that thanks in
large part to Sam Loudenslager’s (APSC) efforts the Cost Benefit Study would be complete in February 2005.
Chairman Bode also reported that the RSC adopted a travel policy and she thanked SPP staff for assistance
on this project.
Chairman Bode reported that numerous people have worked diligently since September 2003 and at the
October 26 meeting the RSC finalized the Transmission Expansion Cost Allocation Straw Proposal for Base
Funded Upgrades (Cost Allocation Proposal – Attachment 6). Mr. Mike Proctor (MPSC) distributed a copy of
the document reflecting the addition of a safe harbor provision as a recommendation to the Board. Chairman
Bode explained that this was a regional zonal approach for cost allocation using the MW mile to identify zones
that benefit from the upgrades allocating remaining costs, about 67%, of base plan upgrades to these zones.
Waivers were provided to permit flexibility under certain circumstances. This plan would review the allocation
factor every 5 years. Chairman Bode asked Bruce Rew (SPP) to explain the safe harbor provision for zonal
rate impact. Mr. Rew walked the group through an example to explain this provision. A percentage to be
determined by the Cost Allocation Working Group would be set as a cap on the allowable impact a DNRrelated upgrade may have on the zonal rates. Mr. Brown explained that SPP will need to draft Tariff language
and formulate SPP’s position. He explained that SPP Bylaws allow SPP stakeholders the opportunity to review
and consider the RSC proposal. Mr. Brown suggested that the Regional Tariff Working Group (RTWG) draft
the Tariff language to be presented to the Market and Operations Policy Committee (MOPC) and then the
Board of Directors at their respective January meetings. He also suggested that the Strategic Planning
Committee (SPC) formulate SPP’s position on this issue, pass it to the MOPC for comment before presenting it
to the Board of Directors in January. Mr. Brown noted that SPP is obligated to file the RSC proposal, but
procedural processes allow for SPP’s position to be different, in which case two filings would need to be made.
Many RSC members, directors and participants encouraged all efforts to be made to make one filing at the
FERC. Although FERC set a deadline for filing by December 31, 2004, Mr. Brown felt that a 30-day extension
would not be a problem. Following considerable discussion, the following motions were made by Mr.
Eckelberger for vote by the Members Committee and Board:
1) The RTWG and MOPC will develop tariff language necessary to submit the RSC proposal to FERC.
Concurrently, the SPC will develop the SPP position on cost allocation. The MOPC will submit a
minority and majority report on the RSC and SPP recommendations at a December 14 special
meeting of the Board of Directors.
2) The RTWG and MOPC will develop tariff language necessary to submit the RSC proposal to FERC.
Concurrently, the SPC will develop the SPP position on cost allocation. The MOPC will submit a
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minority and majority report on the RSC and SPP recommendations at the January 27 Board of
Directors meeting.
Mr. Eckelberger asked the Members Committee to vote for each motion. The first motion failed with 2 voting in
favor and 12 against. The second motion passed with 14 in favor. Mr. Eckelberger then asked the Directors to
cast their votes voting for the motion and specifying the date. The motion passed with December 14, 2004
chosen as the next meeting date. The MOPC will schedule a meeting in December prior to the special Board
of Directors Meeting.
Agenda Item 4 – Strategic Planning Committee Report
Mr. Richard Spring presented the Strategic Planning Committee Report (SPC Report and Recommendations –
Attachment 7). Mr. Spring presented recommendations for the following revisions required by the most recent
order in the RTO docket:
• SPP Bylaws 5.1.1.1, defines “large” and “small” retail customer Members
• Membership Agreement 2.1.1 k, clarifies SPP’s operational authority
• SPP Tariff Section- 39 requires SPP to remove tariff exceptions that require all TO load be made
subject to the non-rate terms and conditions of its OATT
• SPP Tariff Attachment C, requires SPP to specify when ATC is reduced by a “margin”
• IMM Exhibit C, requires Boston Pacific to inform SPP Board of Directors before accepting
engagements involving clients with SPP-related business interests or clients with interests
connected to SPP
Mr. Schoenberger moved to approve these revisions as presented. Mr. Skilton seconded the motion. The
Members Committee voted 14 in favor of passing all SPC recommendations with the exception of the IMM
Exhibit C in which 12 voted in favor and 2 abstained. The directors voted and the motion passed.
Agenda Item 5 – Markets and Operations Policy Committee
Mr. Mel Perkins presented the Markets and Operations Policy Committee Report (MOPC Report and
Presentation – Attachment 8). Mr. Perkins stated that the MOPC had the following recommendations to
present to the Board for approval:
• SPP Criteria 3.3.3: This is a validation of models for Blackout Recommendation 14. Mr. Brown moved
to approve Criteria 3.3.3 revisions. Mr. Schoenberger seconded the motion. The Members Committee
supported the motion unanimously. The directors voted and the motion passed.
• SPP Criteria 4: This provides flexibility to change short-term thresholds. Mr. Brown moved to approve
Criteria 4 revisions. Mr. Jackson seconded the motion. The Members Committee supported the
motion unanimously. The directors voted and the motion passed.
• SPP Criteria 12 and Appendix 2: This change is an update for the new ASHRAE handbook. Mr.
Schoenberger moved to approve Criteria 12 revisions. Mr. Brown seconded the motion. The
Members Committee supported the motion unanimously. The directors voted and the motion passed.
Mr. Perkins asked Mr. Dennis Reed (Westar) to present recommendations for Tariff modifications as approved
by the RTWG and MOPC. Mr. Reed presented the following items:
• Section 10: The limitation of liability to protect SPP and transmission owners from operational errors.
Mr. Brown moved to approve Section 10 of the Tariff. Mr. Schoenberger seconded the motion. The
Members Committee voted with 9 in favor, 2 against and 3 abstaining. The directors voted and the
motion passed.
• Attachment P: Revisions require new request timing requirements. Mr. Brown moved to approve
Attachment P. Mr. Jackson seconded the motion. The Members Committee supported the motion
unanimously. The directors voted and the motion passed.
• Attachment J: This is to extend the application of current provisions for one year to permit
development and implementation of the new cost allocation plan. Mr. Brown moved to approve
4
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•

Attachment J. Mr. Schoenberger seconded the motion. The Members Committee voted with 13 in
favor and 1 abstaining. The directors voted and the motion passed.
Criteria 12: Mr. Mitch Williams made a presentation and referred to a white paper provided by the
MOPC in support of capacity for wind plants (Presentation and White Paper – Attachment 10).
Following discussion, Mr. Brown moved to approve Criteria 12 as recommended with the stipulation
that existing facilities be exempt from the new ratings for wind capacity for a period of three years.
Mr. Schoenberger seconded the motion. The Members Committee voted for approval with 13 in favor
and 1 abstaining. The directors voted and the motion passed.

Mr. Perkins proceeded to informational items. He asked Mr. Richard Ross (AEP) to give an update on the
market implementation timeline from the Market Working Group (MWG). Mr. Ross reported that due to many
variables the market implementation timeline is behind schedule. The MWG recommended to the MOPC
extending the timeline from May 2005 to September 2005. Due to several schedule risks not accounted for in
this extension, the MOPC revised the timeline to reflect an implementation date of October 1, 2005.
Mr. Perkins provided an update on pending Tariff filings, items from the Transmission Working Group, VAR
Compensation Task Force, and seams issues.
Agenda Item 6 – Finance Committee Report
Mr. Harry Skilton presented the Finance Committee report (FC Report and Recommendations – Attachment 9).
Mr. Skilton reported on activities of the Finance Committee and presented the following recommendations:
• SPP 2005 Budget: After reviewing a budget summary, Mr. Skilton moved to approve the 2005 Budget.
Ms. Bernard seconded the motion. The Members Committee supported the 2005 Budget
unanimously. The directors voted and the motion passed.
• FERC Assessments: Direct the SPP staff to develop and file a new schedule to the SPP Regional
Tariff to collect sufficient revenues to satisfy the FERC assessments. The Members Committee
supported this motion unanimously. The directors voted and the motion passed.
• Insurance: Recommends an increase of corporate and professional liability policies to $75 million, and
the limits on its director and officer liability policies to $30 million. The Members Committee supported
this motion unanimously. The directors voted and the motion passed.
• Primary Operation Center: Approve the planned construction of a primary data and operations center
and the operating and capital costs associated with this strategic initiative. Mr. Skilton moved to
approve this recommendation. Mr. Schoenberger seconded the motion. The Members Committee
supported this motion unanimously. The directors voted and the motion passed.
• Assessment and Tariff Schedule 1 Rates for 2005: Establish an assessment and Tariff Schedule 1
rate of $0.16/MWh effective January 1, 2005. Mr. Skilton moved to approve this assessment. Mr.
Martin seconded the motion. The Members Committee supported this motion unanimously. The
directors voted and the motion passed.
• Auditors: Recommends that the SPP Board of Directors engage BKD, Inc. to perform the audit of
SPP’s 2004 financial records. Mr. Skilton moved to approve this recommendation. Ms. Bernard
seconded this motion. The Members Committee supported this motion unanimously. The directors
voted and the motion passed.
Chair Eckelberger needed to leave the meeting due to a prior commitment. Vice-Chair Skilton continued the
meeting.
Agenda Item 7 – Human Resources Committee Report
Mr. Skilton explained that Human Resources Committee agenda item would be taken care of in executive
session and would be moved to the end of the agenda.
Other Business
Mr. Schoenberger asked that due to conversations during lunch, he would like the Board to revisit the RSC
5
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Cost Allocation Proposal decision. He made the following motion:
1. Move that the Board endorse the RSC recommendation.
2. Move that the Membership be allowed to go through the stakeholder process on cost allocation.
3. Move that the Board reconsider the December schedule.
Mr. Jackson seconded the motion. Following discussion, Mr. Jackson withdrew his second and Mr. Brown
seconded the motion. Following continued discussion, Mr. Schoenberger withdrew the motion.
Future Meetings
The next Board of Directors Meeting will be held on December 14, 2004 at the DFW Hyatt.
Adjournment
With no further business, Mr. Skilton thanked everyone for participating and adjourned the meeting at
2:45 to be followed by the Annual Meeting of Members. He reminded the Human Resources Committee of the
executive session immediately following the Annual Meeting of Members.
Stacy Duckett, Corporate Secretary
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SUMMARY
4Q 2004

3Q 2004

2Q 2004

1Q 2004

Assessments/Tariff Fees & Member Fees

$40.3M (YTD)

$31.0M

$20.8M

$9.8M

Cash

$47.6M (YTD)

$42.1M

$41.2M

$12.0M

Operating Cash Flow

$18.7M (YTD)

$3.5M

$8.4M

$2.6M

Operating Expenses

$28.4M (YTD)

$20.8M

$14.1M

$7.4M

TLR Events

105

128

55

23

Tags (daily average)

416

440

520

489

61,504

65,099

32,901

27,844

Transmission Service Study Queue

172 requests/
74 studies

136/63

132/61

122/53

Generation Interconnection Queue

35 requests

37
requests

40
requests

50
requests

Stakeholder Meetings

55

55

40

42

FERC Dockets Pending

15

13

7

7

Legal Matters Pending

0

0

0

1

Officer Speaking Engagements

27

26

17

5

Number of Members

43

48

48

48

8 (2005)

15 (2004)
2 (2005)

16 (2004)

12 (2004)

131

131

128

119

Transmission Service Requests

Withdrawal Notices
Staff
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Balance Sheet
•

•
•
•
•

•

Cash balances grew by $32.5 million from year end 2003 balances. This growth resulted
from:
• $25 million in new long-term borrowings
• Positive cash from operations of $18.7 million (including additional $5.1 million in
security deposits from tariff customers)
Accounts receivable and accounts payable resulting from tariff activities are now reported on
a net basis as a result of accounting rule interpretation. This effectively leaves only SPP’s
administrative fee remaining in accounts receivable.
Net fixed assets increased $1.6 million as SPP booked nearly $6 million in gross purchases
during the year.
Accounts payable grew by nearly $1.3 million representing heightened activity in SPP
activities. SPP generally pays on a net 30 day basis unless stated billing terms are shorter.
SPP takes advantage of all discounts offered.
SPP issued $25 million in 4.78% senior unsecured debt during 2004 intended to fund capital
expenditure activities over the next 2 + years. The proceeds from the debt issue, together
with $3.3 million of cash allocated by the Board of Directors for capital expenditure
purposes, funded nearly $6 million in capital expenditures during the year. SPP holds
approximately $22.3 million in cash earmarked for capital expenditures during 2005 and
beyond.
Members’ equity increased by $8.6 million as a result of retention of earnings.

Income Statement
•
•
•

•
•

Revenues from assessments and tariff administrative fees exceeded budget by $1.6 million
due to SPP’s forecast of billing determinants falling 4% below actual.
Miscellaneous income exceeded budget by nearly $2 million due to billings of withdrawing
members.
Operating expenses fell $4.1 million short of budget as a result of delays in implementation
of SPP’s imbalance energy market. Staffing levels were originally forecast to total 142 at
year-end 2004 however, actual staffing was only 132 thereby saving nearly $1.7 million.
Additionally, SPP was able to delay implementation of 24 X 7 maintenance agreements on
its system, deferring over $1 million in expenses.
SPP funding its capital needs for the coming years in mid-2004 resulting in an increase in
interest expense of $600 thousand over budget.
SPP recognized bad debt reserves for uncollected withdrawal obligations billed to LG&E
Energy Marketing and Reliant. SPP continues to pursue collection efforts.

Cash Flow
•

SPP recorded a net surplus of $8 million at year end (prior to adjustment for accrual of
potential FERC assessments for 2004 activities). This figure differs by $2 million from the
forecast utilized in preparation of the 2005 budget due to realization of numerous member
withdrawals.

Southwest Power Pool

Statements of Income and Members' Equity
For the Year Ending December 31, 2004

DRAFT
($000)
Ordinary Income/Expense
Income
Assessment/Tariff
Member Fees
Miscellaneous Income
Total Income
Expense
Salary & Benefits
Employee Travel
Administrative
Assessments & Fees
SPP/NERC Meetings
Communications
Leases & Maintenance
Services
Total Expense
Net Ordinary Income
Other Income/Expense
Other Income
Gain/Loss on Sale Fixed Asset
Gain/Loss on Vacation Fund
Total Other Income
Other Expense
Depreciation & Amortization
Amortization
Interest Expense
Bad Debt Expense
Total Other Expense
Net Other Income (Expense)
Net Income

Jan - Dec 03

Jan - Dec 04

2004 Budget

2004 Variance
to Budget

26,270
1,050
2,720
30,040

39,284
1,078
3,722
44,084

37,635
1,145
1,732
40,512

1,649
(67)
1,990
3,572

12,006
583
1,753
623
191
1,107
1,426
4,637
22,326

14,626
593
1,091
692
310
1,170
2,620
7,315
28,417

16,315
831
1,151
800
507
1,638
3,767
7,473
32,482

(1,689)
(238)
(60)
(108)
(197)
(468)
(1,147)
(158)
(4,065)

7,714

15,667

8,030

7,637

0
0
0

2
11
13

0
0
0

2
11
13

4,367
40
1,993
4
6,404

4,357
61
2,246
368
7,032

4,680
0
1,594
0
6,274

(323)
61
652
368
758

(6,404)

(7,019)

(6,274)

(745)

1,310

8,648

1,756

6,892

Southwest Power Pool

Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2004

DRAFT
($000)

Dec. 31, 2004

Dec. 31, 2003

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash & Equivalents
Accounts Receivable (net) 1
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Total Fixed Assets
Total Other Assets

47,626
4,401
492
52,519
21,459
223

15,111
3,869
315
19,295
19,841
81

32,515
532
177
33,224
1,618
142

TOTAL ASSETS

74,201

39,217

34,984

1,657
16,405
5,000
1,085
24,147

368
11,319
5,000
1,124
17,811

1,289
5,086
0
(39)
6,336

15,000
25,000
40,000
64,147
10,054

20,000
0
20,000
37,811
1,406

(5,000)
25,000
20,000
26,336
8,648

74,201

39,217

34,984

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable (net) 1
Customer Deposits
Current Maturities of LT Debt
Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
7.50% Senior Notes - 2008
4.78% Senior Notes - 2011
Total Long Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Total Members' Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY
1

Variance

A total of $18,498,947.66 was owed from SPP Transmission Customers to SPP Transmission Owners on December 31, 2004
($17,333,066.73 at 12/31/03.) SPP acts as the agent for purposes of collecting and distributing these monies.
Given that the related revenues and expenses are not recorded in SPP's P&L, the associated A/R and A/P should also be
excluded from SPP's balance sheet.

Southwest Power Pool

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

DRAFT
($000)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to net cash provided by operations:
Depreciation
Amortization
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Customer deposits
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

Jan - Dec 04

8,648

4,357
61
(532)
(177)
1,289
(39)
5,086
18,693

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities

(5,975)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of 4.78% Senior Notes - 2011
Repayment on 7.5% Senior Notes - 2008
Loan acquisition costs
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities

25,000
(5,000)
(203)

Net cash increase (decrease) for period
Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period

(5,975)

19,797
32,515
15,111
47,626

Page 3 of 4

Southwest Power Pool

Capital Expenditures
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

DRAFT
($000)
Jan-Dec 04

Budget

Variance to Budget

Disaster Recovery Site
Maintenance - Hardware
Maintenance - Servers
Maintenance - Software
Maintenance - Routers and Switches
Market Project
OASIS AFC Granualarity Project

142
884
299
634
228
3,616
172

1,069
866
229
753
245
12,587
140

(927)
18
70
(119)
(17)
(8,971)
32

Total Capital Expenditures

5,975

15,889

(9,914)

Capital Expenditures
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RELIABILITY COORDINATION
TLR Events per Quarter
140

# of Events

120
100
80
60
40
20
0
SPP

4Q-03

1Q-04

2Q-04

3Q-04

4Q-04

48

23

55

128

105

4Q04 v. 4Q03 shows increase in number of events.

SCHEDULING
Daily Average Tags Processed
600

Number of Tags

500
400

300
200
100
0

SPP

4Q-03

1Q-04

2Q-04

3Q-04

4Q-04

495

489

520

440

416

4Q04 v. 4Q03 shows decrease in the number of tags processed.
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TARIFF ADMINISTRATION
Total Requests Subm itted
70000
60000
50000
40000
30000
20000
10000
0
SPP

4Q-03

1Q-04

2Q-04

3Q-04

4Q-04

26101

27844

32901

65099

61504

4Q04 v. 4Q03 shows strong increase in total transmission service requests.
% of Total Requests that are Confirm ed
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
SPP

4Q-03

1Q-04

2Q-04

3Q-04

4Q-04

60%

71%

63%

29%

32%

4Q04 v. 4Q03 shows decrease in percentage of transmission service requests granted.
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QUEUE STATUS REPORT
Transmission Service Request Queue
Number of requests/studies = 172/74, representing 19,745 MW
Number of non-DC Tie requests/studies = 74/38, representing 10,700 MW
There are 77 requests/25 studies for DC Tie requests representing 8,110 MW that cannot be
processed due to impending DC Tie competition.
During the same period last year, there were 103 requests/33 studies in process, representing
5,913 MW. There were 39 requests/10 studies for DC Tie requests representing 1,824 MW that
could not be processed due to impending DC Tie competition.

Generation Interconnection Queue
Number of requests = 35, representing 7,928 MW
•
Number of wind requests = 26, representing 4,178 MW
•
Number of fossil fuel requests = 10, representing 3,899 MW
Number of requests with Interconnection Agreement pending = 8
Interconnection Agreements signed during 2004 = 8
During the same period last year, there are 44 requests in process (25 wind; 2 fossil fuel)
representing 9,984 MW (5,130 MW wind; 4,854 MW fossil fuel). There were 17 Interconnection
Agreements pending.
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SPP DOCKETS AT FERC/STATE COMMISSIONS
DOCKET
NUMBER

CASE NAME

RT04-01 and
ER04-48

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

ER05-326

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

ER04-1096

ER04-833

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

SPP filed a proposal for recognition as an RTO. By order
issued February 10, the Commission accepted SPP’s
proposal for recognition as an RTO subject to conditions
and compliance filing requirements. On October 1, 2004
FERC issued an Order on SPP’s August 2, 2004
compliance filing. The order recognized SPP as an RTO
and required several additional compliance steps by
November 1.
SPP filed an amendment to Attachment J to allow the
implementation of the Regional State Committee Cost
Allocation Proposal that was approved by the SPP Board
of Directors.
Filing of a proposed joint operating agreement with
MISO in tandem with the August 2, 2004 RTO
Compliance Filing in RT04-1-002 (ER04-1096-000).
Pursuant to FERC’s October 1 Order, SPP filed an
executed JOA with MISO with the condition that the
JOA could be amended if rehearing was granted.

SPP submitted compliance
filings to the October 1 Order on
November 1. FERC granted
rehearing on its October 1 Order
and SPP filed a timetable to
remove pancaking from its
Schedule 1 rates on December
30, 2004.

SPP filed Attachment AA to add an experimental
customer pre-payment option to support construction of
transmission facilities to facilitate incremental
transmission service, especially short-term service. On
July 7, 2004, FERC issued a letter order regarding the
filing of Attachment AA requiring additional
information.

SPP is awaiting a FERC decision
on Attachment J.
FERC granted rehearing on
December 1 and is encouraging
SPP and MISO to discuss
flowgate allocation in a
collaborative process.
On August 6, 2004 SPP made a
supplemental filing responding
to the July 7, 2004 order. On
October 5, 2004 FERC issued an
order accepting SPP’s Filing as
supplemented. FERC granted
rehearing to its October 5 Order
on December 7, 2005.
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DOCKET
NUMBER
ER05-109

CASE NAME

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP filed Attachment Z on October 29, 2004 to provide
an aggregate transmission service study process that will
allow long term transmission service requests to be
studied in aggregate to provide ATC at the minimum
total cost.

SPP is awaiting FERC action on
this docket.

ER05-156

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP filed Attachment AD on November 1, 2004 to
provide an interim agreement between SPP and
Southwestern Power Administration until a permanent
agreement can be executed.

ER04-1232

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Filing of an amendment to the SPP OATT to implement
a rate change proposed by Excel for Southwestern Public
Service in Docket ER04-1174-000

East Texas Electric
Cooperatives, Inc. v. FERC

SPP filed revisions to its tariff in order to implement
network integration transmission service. ETEC filed for
rehearing and was denied by FERC. ETEC appealed to the
Court of Appeals. The case was dismissed in part and
remanded in part to decide whether ETEC facilities within
the SPP region are integrated with the SPP transmission
system.

ER99-4392

On December 28, 2004, FERC
found the Attachment AD
deficient and asked that SPP
address its concerns within 60
days from the filing. SPP is
working with SPA to execute a
permanent contract for services
and coordinating agreement.
FERC accepted the revisions,
suspended them for five months,
to become effective May 20,
2005, subject to refund, and
establishee hearing and
settlement judge procedures.
On September 27, 2004 FERC
issued an Order granting the
rehearing request of ETEC. SPP
is awaiting FERC action.
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DOCKET
NUMBER

ER03-765

CASE NAME

Calpine Oneta Power, L.P

EC03-131

Oklahoma Gas & Electric
Company and NRG
McLain

ER04-699-000

Entergy Services, Inc.

Arkansas
04-137-U

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

DESCRIPTION
Calpine Oneta filed a rate schedule intended to allow it to
provide Reactive Power Service to SPP and charge SPP
based on an annual revenue requirement of $2.7M. SPP
intervened asserting that Calpine Oneta had not made an
adequate showing that it is entitled to compensation for
Reactive Power Service, and that SPP only acts as a
conduit to collect Reactive Power Service charges and
pass the revenues through to the provider of the service.
OG&E and NRG filed an application for OG&E to acquire
NRG’s ownership interest in the McLain generating
facility. FERC stated that the proposed transaction could
have an adverse effect on competition and established
hearing procedures. One of the issues set for hearing was
whether a third-party should perform the disputed tariff
functions until SPP is determined to be a fully independent
system operator or regional transmission organization
(“RTO”).

CURRENT STATUS
The procedural schedule for
resolution of Calpine’s issue has
been reinstated and is scheduled
to have an initial decision by the
ALJ on November 3, 2005.

In its July 2 Order, FERC
approved the settlement proposal
set forth by OG&E. On August
2, 2004 Intergen requested
rehearing of the FERC Order.
FERC issued a tolling order on
September 1, 2004.

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission proceedings
concerning Entergy’s ICT proposal.

Entergy filed its enhanced ICT
proposal on January 3, 2005.

SPP’s CCN Filing with APSC for recognition as a public
utility.

On October 13, 2004, SPP made
a CCN Filing with APSC for
recognition as a public utility
and asked for disclaimer of
regulation.
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DOCKET
NUMBER

CASE NAME

Kansas
04-GIME922-GIE.

In the Matter of a General
Investigation into the
Involvement of Kansas
Jurisdictional Utilities in
the Southwest Power Pool
Regional Transmission
Organization

Louisiana
U-28155

Arkansas
04-050-U

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

On April 15, 2004 the KCC Staff initiated a general
investigation into the question of jurisdictional utilities’
involvement in SPP.

On September 10, 2004, SPP
filed a response to questions of
the KCC Staff concerning RTO
participation appropriate for
Kansas electric utilities.

Entergy Services, Inc.

Louisiana Public Service Commission proceedings
concerning Entergy’s ICT proposal

SPP filed an intervention on
September 13, 2004. Entergy
filed its enhanced ICT proposal
on January 6, 2005.

Entergy Services, Inc.

An Investigation regarding Entergy Arkansas, Inc.’s
participation in an Entergy-only independent
transmission system administrator structure as compared
to its participation in the Southwest Power Pool Regional
Transmission Organization.

SPP has filed initial and reply
comments in the proceeding.
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EXECUTIVE SPEAKING ENGAGEMENTS
Speaker

Event

Nick Brown

Cost Allocation Symposium, Dallas, TX
USEA Africa Delegation Visit (SPP office)
IRC, Toronto, Canada
Entergy
S&P and AEGIS

Les Dillahunty

Cost Allocation Symposium, Dallas, TX
New Mexico Attorney General's Office, Santa Fe, NM
SPP RSC at NARUC Annual Convention, Nashville, TN

Stacy Duckett

ISO/RTO Communications Group (SPP hosted)

Carl Monroe

FERC Conference on Entergy ITC
SPP/MAPP/MISO Seams
NERC Resources SubC, Reno, NV
IRC Markets Committee
NERC Standing Committees, Kansas City, MO
NERC Meeting for Market Protocols
SPP Regional Planning III
Entergy and Arkansas Commissioners

Charles Yeung

IRC-SRC
NAESB BPS
NERC Stakeholders & Board
NAESB IIPTF
NAESB WEQ Members
Oklahoma State Energy Conference
NERC Regional Mgrs
NERC Members Committee
WEQ Exec Committee
BPS – Energy Day
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WITHDRAWAL LETTERS
MEMBERS

EFFECTIVE DATES

Cleco Corporation

10/31/05

Grand River Dam Authority

10/31/05

Louisiana Energy & Power Authority

10/31/05

City of Lafayette Utilities System

10/31/05

Midwest Energy

10/31/05

Oklahoma Municipal Power

10/31/05

The Empire District Electric Company

10/31/05

Westar Energy

10/31/05
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STAFFING REPORT
SPP Employee count as of January 1, 2004:

116

1Q New hires:
2Q New hires:
3Q New hires:
4Q New hires:

6
11
6
4

YTD Terminations:
1 – Retiree
6 – Voluntary terminations
2 – Involuntary terminations
3 – Interns (part time/seasonal)

12

SPP Employee count as of December 31, 2004:

131

SPP Employee count as of December 31, 2003:

116

There were 142 full time employees in the 2004 budget.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Report to the Board of Directors
January 25, 2005

BOARD APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEE REPRESENTATION
Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Corporate Governance Committee:
Nick Brown, Chair
Jim Eckelberger
Dave Christiano
Steve Parr
Mel Perkins
Jim Stanton

Director
Director
City Utilities of Springfield
KepCO
OG+E
Calpine

Background
Southwestern Power Administration (SPA) withdrew its membership from SPP effective October 31,
2004. SPA represented the State/Federal Power Agencies sector of the membership on the Members
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, as well as the Transmission Owning sector of the
membership on the Human Resources Committee.
Analysis
As relates to vacancies on the Members Committee, in accordance with Section 5.1.4 Vacancies in the
Bylaws:
“If a vacancy occurs the Corporate Governance Committee may elect an interim
representative from the same sector to serve until a replacement representative from the
same sector is elected and takes office. A special election shall be held at the next
meeting of Members to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term.”
The Corporate Governance Committee met for purposes of selecting an interim representative, that being
Kevin Easley from Grand River Dam Authority (GRDA).
As relates to vacancies on the Corporate Governance Committee, in accordance with Section 6.6
Corporate Governance Committee in the Bylaws:
“Where a vacancy occurs with respect to a representative of a sector, the representatives
from the appropriate sector will fill the vacancy.”
GRDA and LEPA comprise the State/Federal Power Agencies sector of the membership.
Representatives from those organizations have selected Kevin Easley from GRDA to will the vacancy on
the Corporate Governance Committee.
As relates to vacancies on the Human Resources Committee, in accordance with Section 6.3 Human
Resources Committee in the Bylaws:
“Where a vacancy occurs the Corporate Governance Committee will fill the vacancy on
an interim basis until the next meeting of the Board of Directors.”

The Corporate Governance Committee selected Mike Palmer (Transmission Owning member, Empire
District) as the interim representative to the Human Resources Committee and nominates him to the
Board of Directors for appointment.
Recommendation
1) The Corporate Governance Committee asks that the Board of Directors recognize Kevin Easley
from GRDA as the representative of the State/Federal Power Agencies membership sector on the
Members Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee effective immediately.
2) The Corporate Governance Committee nominates Mike Palmer for appointment to the Human
Resources Committee to fill the Transmission Owning member vacancy
Approved:

Corporate Governance Committee

Action Requested:

Approve the recommendation

January 17, 2005

SPP SPC Report
c

Cost/Benefit Task Force Status

c

RTO/RRO – Recommendation

c

Non-Disclosure Agreement

c

Market Implementation –
Recommendation

Richard Spring, Chair

c

Staff Goals and Incentives

January 25, 2005

c

Independent Market Monitor –
Recommendation

c

RSC Cost Allocation

Strategic
Planning
Committee

1

Market Implementation

2

Independent Market Monitor

The Strategic Planning Committee
recommends that the Board of Directors affirm
SPP’s planned phased implementation of
additional market services, including directing
the Market Working Group through the Markets
and Operations Policy Committee and the
Strategic Planning Committee to conduct an
assessment of the impact to existing and
prospective members of the offering and
timing of additional services prior to a
significant investment of resources in design
and development of the next phases.

The Strategic Planning Committee
recommends that the IMM report to
the Compliance Committee of the
Board.

3

4

Cost Allocation Proposal

RTO/RRO
The Strategic Planning Committee
recommends that the Membership
receive the required notice (30 days)
that the Board of Directors will be
considering at its April 26, 2005 meeting
the necessary Bylaws revision to reflect
that the NERC Compliance function
reports to the Board of Directors to
assure independence of the function
within SPP.
5

c

The SPC reached no consensus to
develop an alternative plan from that
developed by the RSC at this time but
reserves the right to revisit this at a
future date.

c

The SPC recommends that the SPP
BOD direct Staff to diligently work
with the SPP membership, RSC, and
the SPP footprint state commissions
to understand and develop practical
cost recovery solutions related to the
Cost Allocation Plan.
6
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE
Report to the Board of Directors
January 25, 2005

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Strategic Planning Committee:
Richard Spring, Chair
Ricky Bittle
David Christiano
Michael Desselle
Jim Eckelberger
Josh Martin
Mike Palmer
Steve Parr
Mel Perkins
Harry Skilton
Jim Stanton

KCP&L
AECC
City Utilities of Springfield
AEP
Director
Director
Empire District
KepCO
OG+E
Director
Calpine

Background
SPP is moving forward with the implementation of an energy imbalance market in 2005. This is the first of
three planned stages for market implementation for the region. Phases 2 and 3 concern congestion
management and ancillary services, respectively. Pursuant to the RTO order, cost/benefit studies are
necessary to determine whether SPP will implement these other market phases.
Analysis
The SPC discussion centered on the timing of studies and additional market design/development,
specifically, should the studies or additional design work occur first, or should these occur in parallel.
Since SPP is under no deadline to implement any additional services, there is adequate time to consider
whether members would utilize them, as well as how they would impact the overall market and operations
of SPP prior to investing time and resources in design and development. While the MWG will need to
provide some guidance as to market design for purposes of assessing interest and impact, this can be
done at a high-level for these purposes.
Recommendation
The Strategic Planning Committee recommends that the Board of Directors affirm SPP’s planned phased
implementation of additional market services, including directing the Markets Working Group through the
Markets and Operations Policy Committee and the Strategic Planning Committee to conduct an
assessment of the impact to existing and prospective members of the offering and timing of additional
services prior to a significant investment of resources in design and development of these next phases.

Approved:

Strategic Planning Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

January 13, 2005

MARKET DEVELOPMENT UPDATE
Discussion for the Board of Directors/Members Committee
January 24-25, 2005

Background
SPP Board of Directors approved a market development plan in April 14, 2003. That plan was to be
implemented in three phases: 1) Energy Imbalance Market (on schedule for implementation in October
2005), 2) Market Based Congestion Management, and 3) Ancillary Service Markets.
Analysis
Strategic Planning Committee
The SPC discussed in the November 18-19, 2004 meeting future market steps. Also discussed was a list
of the possible components that would need to be considered in any future markets within SPP. It was
recognized that any change to the phased implementation of markets would need to be studied based on
the following considerations: 1) requirements of FERC, including cost benefit studies; 2) role of the RSC,
technical considerations; and 3) impact on existing and future members of SPP.
Operational Control Task Force of the Operating Reliability Working Group
The OCTF was formed to complete two tasks that were ordered within the February 10, 2004 FERC order
for SPP RTO status: 1) Document the roles and responsibilities of SPP, its members, control areas, and
transmission owners using the NERC functional model (previously completed for FERC filing); and 2)
study the feasibility of reducing the number of control areas within SPP. The second task has recently
been completed and accepted by the ORWG and MOPC. This analysis determined that the functions of
the control area as related to the balancing authority were the focus of FERC interest. In that study they
have recommended rigorously defining the regulation ancillary service requirements and exploring
voluntary consolidation of those control area services to SPP.
Markets Working Group
The Markets Working Group had some formal discussions of the implementation phases of market
development and implementation. At the last meeting there was some informal discussion regarding how
the current market design might allow for congestion management without requiring financial transmission
rights. This included recognition that some history under the operation of the energy imbalance market
might be needed to determine the next steps in market-based congestion management. Also, the ORWG
work was discussed and some parties encouraged first implementing ancillary services markets.
Reactive Compensation Task Force
The MOPC created the RCTF to explore the compensation of reactive ancillary service and changes to
the governing documents to accomplish it. Although not considered for a market, this is related to
ancillary service provision under the FERC OATT.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE/CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Joint Report to the Board of Directors
January 25, 2005

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Strategic Planning Committee:
Richard Spring, Chair
Ricky Bittle
David Christiano
Michael Desselle
Jim Eckelberger
Josh Martin
Mike Palmer
Steve Parr
Mel Perkins
Harry Skilton
Jim Stanton

KCP&L
AECC
City Utilities of Springfield
AEP
Director
Director
Empire District
KepCO
OG+E
Director
Calpine

The following members represent the Corporate Governance Committee:
Nick Brown, Chair
Jim Eckelberger
Dave Christiano
Steve Parr
Mel Perkins
Jim Stanton

SPP
Director
City Utilities of Springfield
KepCO
OG+E
Calpine

Background
In accordance with Order 2000, SPP has engaged an independent market monitor (IMM). The IMM is
expected to report to the Board of Directors. This includes Board review of potential conflicts of interest.
The actual reporting process/contact for the IMM must be developed.
Analysis
The IMM is to report to the Board of Directors, however the exact process for this relationship had not
been developed. Considering the need to maintain the IMM’s independence from market participants, it
was determined that the IMM should report to the Compliance Committee of the Board of Directors on a
routine basis since that committee is comprised solely of directors. The Compliance Committee would
then elevate any issues for Board action as needed, including possible conflicts of interest.
Recommendation
The Strategic Planning Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee jointly recommend that the
IMM report to the Compliance Committee of the Board.
Approved:

Strategic Planning Committee
Corporate Governance Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

November 18, 2004
January 17, 2005

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE
Report to the Board of Directors
January 25, 2005

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Strategic Planning Committee:
Richard Spring, Chair
Ricky Bittle
David Christiano
Michael Desselle
Jim Eckelberger
Josh Martin
Mike Palmer
Steve Parr
Mel Perkins
Harry Skilton
Jim Stanton

KCP&L
AECC
City Utilities of Springfield
AEP
Director
Director
Empire District
KepCO
OG+E
Director
Calpine

Background
At the October 2004 North American Electric Reliability Council (NERC) Board of Trustees meeting, the
Regional Managers Committee presented the report entitled, “Examination of the Future Role of the
Regional Reliability Councils and Assessment of Eastern Interconnection Regional Reliability Council
Boundaries”, dated October 5, 2004. The NERC Board of Trustees endorsed the report and approved a
schedule to complete the recommendations contained within.
Analysis
Of particular interest to the industry is the independence between an entity’s operations and compliance
functions. SPP is the only Regional Reliability Council (RRC) to operate as a Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission (FERC) approved Regional Transmission Organization (RTO) including the responsibilities
as a NERC Reliability Coordinator. As stated in SPP’s Strategic Plan, SPP has chosen to move forward
with an RTO and maintain SPP as the RRC. Today, the compliance function reports to the President of
SPP, allowing for the perception of a conflict of interest/undue influence when SPP and its staff are
monitored for compliance. To address this, the Strategic Planning Committee is recommending that the
NERC Compliance function report to the Board of Directors, through the Compliance Committee and the
Markets and Operations Policy Committee. Bylaws changes are proposed that implement this change.
Recommendation
The Strategic Planning Committee recommends that the Membership receive the required notice (30
days) that the Board of Directors will be considering at its April 26 meeting the necessary Bylaws
revisions to reflect that the NERC Compliance function reports to the Board of Directors to assure
independence of the function within SPP.
Approved:

Strategic Planning Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

January 18, 2005

3.16 Compliance Monitoring
Compliance monitoring of Members and Staff shall be performed to ensure compliance with all
requirements of Membership. SPP compliance monitoring functions shall be performed in concert with
related NERC programs. Compliance monitoring shall be an after-the-fact investigative and assessment
function. Compliance monitoring functions shall be provided by SPP Staff, independent and separate
from reliability coordination and tariff administration functions.
The Director, Compliance shall be selected by and report to the Board of Directors. The President shall
ensure that the Director, Compliance has adequate resources, access to information, and the full
cooperation of Staff and Organizational Groups for the effective execution of its duties. Any reports
submitted shall first be provided to the Compliance Committee, and, following appropriate review, to the
Board of Directors and the appropriate regulatory or oversight body or bodies.
Compliance monitoring functions shall include but are not limited to:
a. Investigation of all reports or discoveries of non-compliance with approved Bylaws, Criteria,
OATT, agreements between SPP and its Members, and NERC policies and standards;
b. Obtaining all information needed to investigate all facets of possible non-compliance;
c.

Performance of in-depth reviews of operations upon approval from the Compliance Committee;

d. Comprehensive compliance audits when recurring issues covering a broad spectrum of violations
are determined and documented;
e. Imposition of financial penalties and/or sanctions for non-compliance pursuant to approved
standards, policies and/or Criteria;
f.

Ensure Confirmation that SPP is conforming to its own Criteria, OATT, business practices, and
reliability operations in a manner that does not stifle the efficiency of the energy markets;

g. Utilization of dispute resolution procedures as necessary to resolve conflicts; and
h. Coordination of policy modifications to clearly define requirements, standards, and penalties in
order to objectively monitor compliance.

1

PROPOSED REVISIONS
for January 2005 BOD Meeting

4.0 BOARD OF DIRECTORS
4.1 Duties
The Board of Directors shall at all times act in the best interest of SPP in its management, control and
direction of the general business of SPP. The Board of Directors shall solicit and consider a straw vote
from the Members Committee as an indication of the level of consensus among Members in advance of
taking any actions other than those occurring in executive session. Its duties shall include, but are not
limited to the following:
a. Direct activities of all SPP Organizational Groups;
b. Serve on SPP Organizational Groups;
c.

Remove Members, and approve the re-entry of Members that have been removed;

d. Authorize all major contracts and debt instruments;
e. Select and review the performance of Officers, who shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of
Directors;
f.

Determine positions, duties, qualifications, salaries, benefits and other necessary matters
pertaining to the SPP Staff;

g. Review, approve, disapprove or recommend revision to the actions of any Organizational Group;
h. Act on appeals pursuant to Section 3.10;
i.

Approve or revise the operating and capital budgets and any additional expenditures;

j.

Convene a meeting of Members at least annually;

k.

Approve amendments to these Bylaws;

l.

Approve amendments to the Membership Agreement;

m. Approve Criteria pertaining to planning and operating standards and policies and penalties for
non-compliance with such Criteria; and
n. Authorize filings with regulatory bodies.

2

PROPOSED REVISIONS
for January 2005 BOD Meeting

6.1 Markets and Operations Policy Committee
Each SPP Member shall appoint a representative to the Markets and Operations Policy Committee
(MOPC) at the regular meeting of the Board of Directors immediately following each annual meeting of
Members. Each representative designated shall be an officer or employee of the Member. The Board of
Directors will appoint the Chair and Vice Chair of the MOPC. Each member of the MOPC may continue to
be a member thereof until the appropriate Member appoints a successor.
The MOPC shall meet at least three times per calendar year, and additionally as needed. The MOPC shall
report to the Board of Directors following each MOPC meeting with respect to its activities and with such
recommendations, as the MOPC deems necessary.
The responsibilities of the Markets and Operations Policy Committee shall include:
a. Recommend practices for system design, planning, adequacy, regional transmission service tariff,
interconnections, operation, reliability, market designs and efficiency, and market power mitigation
that will help to assure efficient and reliable power supply among the systems in SPP and SPP
transmission customers;
b. Continue coordination Coordination of its efforts with the efforts of NERC, including periodic
review of NERC Policies and Standards and their applicability to SPP and its Members;
c.

In coordination with the SPP Compliance Committee, make appropriate recommendations to the
Board of Directors regarding SPP’s compliance with NERC Policies and Standards;

c.d. Review Member operating plans and problems that are pertinent to SPP planning and operation;
d.e. Maintain an annual series of load flow and short circuit models and associated stability data bases
representing the current and planned electric network of the region, and maintain a data base of
all transmission, generation, and supporting facilities within SPP;
e.f. Review and assess the current and planned electric system of the region;
f.g. Make use of studies available from other regions;
g.h. Recommend to the Board of Directors criteria for planning, operations, and to assist in the
efficiency and vitality of the wholesale electricity market;
h.i. Coordinate inter-regional and intra-regional plans and facilitate planning, information exchange,
and operations between inter-regional and intra-regional groups;
i.j. Develop a coordinated plan for intra-regional transmission for greater efficiency and reliability of
electric power supply;
j.k. Recommend to the Board of Directors and Members individual or joint action to improve the
operation of the systems comprising SPP;
k.l. Respond to activities as requested by the Strategic Planning Committee and the Board of
Directors;
3

PROPOSED REVISIONS
for January 2005 BOD Meeting

l.m. Monitor the current state and evolution of the electric energy supply industry and proactively
recommend commercial practices that meet industry needs and promote commerce;
m.n.

Work with all SPP Organizational Groups to promote a high standard of operational

reliability;
n.o. Continue coordination of its efforts with the efforts of North American Energy Standards Board
(NAESB) and the ISO/RTO Council (IRC), including periodic review of NAESB business practices
and IRC policies and their applicability to SPP and its Members;
o.p. Complete a self-assessment annually to determine how effectively the MOPC is meeting its
responsibilities; and
p.q. Perform such other functions as the Board of Directors may delegate or direct.

4
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6.4 Compliance Committee
The Compliance Committee (CC) shall be comprised of three members from the Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors shall appoint the representatives of the CC at the regular meeting of the Board of
Directors immediately following each annual meeting of Members. Each representative of the CC shall
continue to be a representative thereof until the Board of Directors appoints his/her successor. Where a
vacancy occurs, the Board of Directors will fill the vacancy.
The CC shall meet as needed, provided that a quorum, as defined in these Bylaws, is present. The CC
shall report to the Board of Directors following each CC meeting with respect to its activities and with such
recommendations, as the CC deems necessary.
The responsibilities of the Compliance Committee shall include:
a. Oversee the process of monitoring compliance to SPP and NERC policies;
b.

Independently review activities of the Staff;

c.

Hear and rule on appeals from Members regarding penalty assessment or fine distribution
prior to dispute resolution proceedings;

d. Recommend Criteria changes necessary for enforcement of mandatory compliance and in
response to unclear enforcement provisions of Criteria;
e. Grant specific additional authority to the Staff responsible for the compliance monitoring
function when needed to perform challenging investigations;
f.

Complete a self-assessment annually to determine how effectively the CC is meeting its
responsibilities; and

g. Perform such other functions as the Board of Directors may delegate or direct.

5
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE
Report to the Board of Directors
January 25, 2005

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Strategic Planning Committee:
Richard Spring, Chair
Ricky Bittle
David Christiano
Michael Desselle
Jim Eckelberger
Josh Martin
Mike Palmer
Steve Parr
Mel Perkins
Harry Skilton
Jim Stanton

KCP&L
AECC
City Utilities of Springfield
AEP
Director
Director
Empire District
KepCO
OG+E
Director
Calpine

Background
Earlier this year, SPP organizational groups initiated discussions to develop a transmission
expansion/cost allocation plan for the region through the Cost Allocation Working Group (CAWG).
Following its establishment in April, the Regional State Committee (RSC) assumed responsibility for and
management of the CAWG. This action was pursuant to SPP Bylaws delegating the responsibility for
determining regional proposals and the transition process as to whether and to what extent participant
funding will be used for transmission enhancements.
At the October Board of Directors meeting, the RSC provided its recommended plan for transmission
expansion/cost allocation for the region. Pursuant to Section 7.2 of the SPP Bylaws:
As the RSC reaches decisions on the methodology that will be used to address any of
these issues, SPP will file this methodology pursuant to Section 205 of the Federal Power
Act. However, nothing in this section prohibits SPP from filing its own related proposal(s)
pursuant to Section 205 of the Federal Power Act.
While the CAWG has met in open forums allowing SPP stakeholder discussion and input, the process
used facilitated agreement between RSC members. Voting by stakeholders within the SPP organizational
group structure had not occurred. SPP is obligated to file a plan by year-end pursuant to a February 2004
FERC order. The SPP Board of Directors directed organizational groups to develop necessary tariff
language to reflect the RSC plan, and also directed the SPC to provide a recommendation as to SPP’s
position on the RSC’s plan and/or provide an alternate plan for consideration by the Board of Directors to
represent SPP’s position on the issue.
Analysis
The primary issues/concerns related to the RSC’s plan are cost recovery at the retail level of those
regional costs assigned to a transmission owner as a result of the proposed plan, and the treatment of
designated network resources. These are not issues that can be resolved easily or quickly. Following
considerable discussion by the SPC, the following motions were made and passed:

The SPC reached no consensus to develop an alternative cost allocation plan from
that developed by the RSC at this time but reserves the right to revisit this at a future
date.
The SPC recommends that the SPP BOD direct Staff to diligently work with the SPP
membership, RSC and the SPP footprint state commissions to understand and
develop practical cost recovery solutions related to the Cost Allocation Plan.
Recommendation
The Strategic Planning Committee has no recommendation at this time as to the position SPP should
take relative to the RSC’s proposed plan, but does recommend that staff work with the membership, the
RSC, and state regulatory bodies to develop a cost recovery solution related to the RSC’s plan.
Approved:

Strategic Planning Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

November 18, 2004

SPP Presentation

Markets and
Operations
Policy
Committee

Mel Perkins, OG&E
Chairman
January 25, 2005
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Agenda
c

Actions Items
♦
♦

c

Criteria changes
Regional Tariff changes

Action
Items

Informational Items
♦
♦
♦
♦
♦

Operating Reliability WG
Market WG
Reactive Compensation TF
Regional Tariff WG
Compliance update
3

4

Tariff Modifications

Criteria Changes
c

c

The MOPC recommends that the
Board of Directors approve the
changes to Criteria 4 – Improved
use of Counter-Flows and
Positive Flows to increase shortterm AFCs (daily and weekly
firm).
Proposed as trial for one year
5

c

Attachment AC – System Impact
Studies for Short Term Service

c

Schedule 9 – NITS service by
Load served by Transmission
Owner

c

RSC CAWG Proposal

6

1

RTWG Tariff
Update Process
Transmission
Cost Allocation
Proposal –
SPP Tariff
Modifications

Ricky Bittle
January 25, 2005

c

Where are we in the process

c

What is the expected timeline for
completion

c

Brief review of the RSC Plan

c

Review of the proposed tariff
changes

7

8

Status

Overview
c

RTWG has made changes to
the tariff to implement the
RSC approved participant
funding plan

c

Its role did NOT include
evaluation of the merits of
the plan

c

Specific primary Tariff sections and
attachments have been modified with
the expectation that there will be no
substantive changes to the content of
those sections prior to filing.

c

There are some minor changes that
remain necessary to conform other
portions of the Tariff to those primary
elements as modified.

9

10

Possible Reasons for
Delaying a Filing

Primary Sections Changed
c

A problem in the proposed tariff
language is discovered

Modified: Attachments H, J, L, S,
and Z

c

RSC/CAWG request changes to
the proposed tariff language

Supplemented: Section 1 Definitions

c

Proposed language is not
approved by the MOPC and/or
the Board

c

New: Tariff Part V and Schedule 11

c

c

11

12

2

A Review of
the RSC Plan

Time Table
c

The RTWG developed the Tariff language
for the primary sections working with the
CAWG and RSC

c

The MOPC approved the language at its
January meeting

c

The revisions are submitted to the Board
for review and approval at this meeting

c

This sequence provides for January
policy review and February
implementation of any directives

c

c

100% of the costs of approved Base Plan
upgrades are recovered through the Tariff

c

The Plan defines the rules for how an
upgrade is included in the Base Plan
♦
♦

♦

SPP has committed to file by March 1

RTO-approved reliability upgrade
Upgrades required by network customers to
receive power from a new DNR, if upgrades
meet certain criteria
Upgrades required by point-to-point
customers to receive power from a new
resource, if upgrades meet the same criteria

13
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RSC Plan (cont.)

RSC Plan (cont.)
c

♦
♦
♦
♦

c

c

Conditions for Base Plan treatment of
upgrades for new designated resources
(DRs)

Waiver requirements
♦
♦

Minimal cost (<$100,000)
DR must be a 5-year or longer firm
entitlement
Customer cannot exceed a 125% reserve
margin
Upgrade costs capped at $180,000/MW

♦
♦

♦

The Plan does allow for SPP to waive
some or all of the above conditions

♦

Customer must request waiver and provide
supporting documentation
SPP staff will review waiver request
SPP staff presents waiver request and its
recommendation to MOPC
MOPC will provide waiver, SPP staff
recommendation and its recommendation to
Board
SPP Board will approve/deny waiver request
Customer has right to present its position at
all levels

15
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Required Tariff Changes
c

The RSC Plan calls for major changes in rate
design
♦

♦

c

Two-tiered rate
\ Current Zonal charge for customers that take
service under the tariff
\ Base Plan charge applied to all load in SPP for
recovery of Base Plan upgrade costs with regional
and zonal components
\ Facilities not eligible for Base Plan treatment
directly assigned with revenue credits

Tariff
Modifications

A new schedule is required to implement the plan

The remaining changes are primarily in rewriting
Attachments H, J, L and S
17
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3

Major Tariff Changes for
Implementation of
Cost Allocation Proposal

Implementation
of Proposal
c

c

Need to modify the Tariff to:
♦

Allocate costs for new transmission
upgrades

♦

Establish rates for collecting the costs

♦

Recover and distribute the TOs revenue
requirement

♦

Document new defined terms

Modify Attachment J – Recovery of Costs
Associated with New Facilities
♦
♦

c

Add Part V and Schedule 11 – Base Plan
Charge
♦

c

Presently includes sunset provision for roll-in
Allocates costs for new upgrades

Establishes rates and applicability of the rates to
recover TOs revenue requirement for new upgrades

Modify Attachment L – Treatment of Revenues
♦

Distributes revenues collected under Schedule 11 to
the TOs

19

20

Attachment J

Attachment J

Cost Allocation Provisions
c

Base Plan Upgrades

c

Economic Upgrades

c

Requested Upgrades
♦

c

Other Provisions

Provides a link to existing Attachment Z,
Aggregate Transmission Service Study
Procedures

Generation interconnection related
Network Upgrades
♦

Provides a link to existing Attachment V,
Large Generator Interconnection Procedures

c

Review of the regional allocation factor
and zonal allocation methodology at
least once every five years

c

Conditions for including future DRs as
Base Plan Upgrades (Safe Harbor)

c

Waiver process for DRs that do not
meet the Safe Harbor conditions

c

Intra-zonal allocation review process

c

Cost allocation provision for Network
Upgrades that defer or displace the
need for a Base Plan Upgrades

21

Applicability of
Base Plan Charge

Part V – Recovery of Costs
for Base Plan Upgrades
c

22

c

Establishes a new charge (Base Plan
charge) to collect revenue
requirement for Base Plan upgrades
and any portion of other Network
upgrades that are eligible for Base
Plan upgrade treatment

c

Sets out applicability of charge

c

Provides a link to new Schedule 11
that sets out rate/charge

The intent is to apply this charge to ALL
load within the SPP footprint
♦

Load currently taking network service under the
SPP Tariff

♦

Load not currently taking service under the SPP
Tariff
\ Bundled retail load for which TOs have not
requested service under the SPP Tariff
\ All

load being served under Grandfathered
Agreements

c

23

To Transmission Customers taking pointto-point service under the SPP Tariff
24

4

Schedule 11 –
Base Plan Charge
c

Charge to Network Customers and
TOs is assessed on a load ratio share
basis

c

Charge to Transmission Customers
taking point-to-point under the SPP
Tariff is based on Reserved Capacity

c

Attachment L –
Treatment of Revenues
c

Currently, establishes distribution of
revenues to TOs collected by SPP for
transmission service and other
services

c

Adds new provision for distribution of
revenues to TOs collected by SPP
under new Schedule 11

Zonal component and regional
component assessed for load and for
point-to-point

♦

In proportion to their respective ATRRs
for new transmission upgrades

25
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Conclusion

Other Tariff Changes
c

Attachment H: Annual Transmission
Revenue Requirement

The new Tariff language properly
represents the intent of the RSC
cost allocation plan

c

Attachment S: Procedure for
calculation of MW-mile impacts

The new Tariff language is
workable within the SPP RTO

c

The new Tariff language does not
create conflicts with or violate
other Tariff provisions

c

Section 1: Definitions

c

c

27
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MOPC Motion
c

Pending Issues

The MOPC approved the following
motion:
♦

c

Without addressing the merits of the RSC
Cost Allocation Plan, the MOPC submits the
following revised OATT for FERC filing,
where such revisions reflect the intent of the
RSC Cost Allocation Plan and conforms the
existing OATT provisions to accommodate
such RSC Cost Allocation Plan. The MOPC
recommends that SPP staff and the RTWG be
authorized to make, with appropriate
involvement from the CAWG, any needed
clarifications and structural modifications
necessary in preparation for filing the revised
OATT at FERC.
29

The RTWG seeks the opportunity to
resolve the following issues at its
February 3, 2005 meeting:
♦

Consider the need for provisions in
Attachment J or elsewhere as necessary
to commit to provide support for rates
and charges resulting from the addition
of base funded upgrades prior to the
assessment of such charges

♦

Review Attachment Z in light of FERC’s
January 21, 2005 order and modify it as
necessary
30
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RTWG Regulatory Activities Complaints

Resolution of the RTWG
c

At its January 20, 2005 meeting, the
RTWG resolved the following :
♦

c

Calpine Reactive Compensation
(ER03-765-000)
♦ Settlement discussions terminated
♦ Case put back on a hearing track
♦ Initial decision of the ALJ due
November 3, 2005

By acclamation and with great
appreciation the RTWG recognizes the
knowledge, support and sacrifice of
Pam Kozlowski, BDR, Inc., and
expresses its appreciation for her
support in the development of the RSC
Cost Allocation Policy and the
conversion of that Policy into Tariff
language.

c

Aquila Complaint (EL05-16-000)
♦
♦
♦

Filed October 26, 2004
Asserts SPP misapplied weekly rate
caps to redirected service
SPP’s definition of a “week” set for
hearing

31
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RTWG Regulatory Filings
c

RTWG Regulatory Filings
c

New Attachment Z - filed October 29, 2004
♦

c

♦
♦
♦

c

Defer rate base roll-in of all new network upgrades
from February 1, 2005 to February 1, 2006
♦ Allows time for conclusion of the RSC Cost
Allocation Proposal

Membership Agreement terminated October 2004
Interim Coordination Agreement executed and
filed with FERC November 2004
Final coordination agreement under negotiation
Deficiency Notice issued by FERC, Interim
Agreement extended

c

♦

Attachment P - filed December 13, 2004
♦
♦

Joint Operating Agreement with MISO
♦

Attachment J - filed December 13, 2004
♦

Aggregate transmission service study process

Coordination Agreement with SWPA
♦

c

November 1, 2004, SPP filed a request for
rehearing of Commission’s October 1 order on
SPP-MISO JOA
December 2, 2004, SPP filed executed JOA with
MISO

Modification to non-firm hourly scheduling deadline
Footnote addition to facilitate orderly use of DC Ties
for non-firm hourly service for next day
transmission

New Rates for SPA Zone - filed December 30, 2004,
effective January 1, 2005
♦
♦

DOE has approved new rates for SPA, subject to
review by FERC
SPA has filed rates with FERC

33

RTWG Regulatory Filings
c

34

(cont.)

Schedule 1 – Pancaking
♦

♦

♦

c

(cont.)

FERC orders in SPP’s RTO proceeding
require a timetable detailing timeframe for
elimination of pancaked scheduling charges
December 30, 2004, SPP filed commitment to
submit findings of rate pancaking study to
SPP’s Board at its July 2005 meeting
Approach used could be influenced by
conclusion of the control area consolidation
issue

Informational
Items

Compliance Filing – Cost Allocation Plan
♦
♦

Status report filed December 30, 2004
Commitment to conclude a Section 205 rate
filing by February 28, 2005
35

36

6

Operating Reliability
Working Group

Approach to Study
c

In its order to SPP issued February 10, 2004,
FERC identified the following additional
requirement:

Define Control Area tasks –
Operational Authority Whitepaper
♦

“While we share many of the concerns
intervenors identified, we will not, at this
time, require SPP to have a single control
area. We will, however, require SPP to
study the feasibility of reducing its control
areas and provide the Commission, within
one year of the date of this order, the
outcome of its study” (¶ 81).

c

Consolidation would address
“balancing authority” functions only
(regulation, operating reserve) based
on concerns in FERC order

Control area survey – 10 responses
(2 from Aquila)

c

ACE diversity analyses
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Survey Results
c

No major barriers identified toward
control area consolidation - i.e.,
SPP can act as Balancing Authority
♦

♦

c

Issues Raised

Member Costs - $400k total quantified
in system upgrades, but a few
members could not quantify costs
SPP costs - Minimal up-front costs
(approximately $100k); annual costs
ranging from $500K to $1M

c

Lack of definite regulation criteria

c

CPS1 and CPS2 (regulation reliability
measurement)
♦

c

♦

Benefits perceived, but…
♦

Some members advocate going
forward

How is responsibility to be subdivided?

Difficult to find ways to measure
perceived benefits
\

Reduced regulation
Reduced staff training
\ Reduced staff responsibiities, etc.
\

In anticipation of regulation market
development
39
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Moving Forward
c

c

Discussed cost benefit study for
regulation market to be completed
by October 1, 2005
♦
♦

c

Market Working Group

Tasked ORWG to develop criteria
for regulation requirement and
report back to MOPC with a timeline

Part of MWG’s Phase III approach
Discussion at Strategic Planning
Committee

c

Market, market monitoring, market
power mitigation protocols all
approved by consensus from MWG to
start work on drafting tariff language

c

Tariff language anticipated for April
MOPC and Board meetings

c

System is on schedule, but schedule
is tight for October, 2005

Tasked ORWG to examine voluntary
consolidation
41
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Reactive Compensation
Task Force
c

Formed to look at changes to Tariff,
Criteria, and Membership
Agreement to provide mechanism
for VAR compensation

c

Made up of ORWG, RTWG, BPWG,
and GWG members

c

Plan: changes completed and back
to MOPC and Board for end of year

Compliance
Update

43

44

Major Compliance Items

Control Area Certification
at SPP
c

2004

There is no requirement for a control area to
be certified (no SPP control areas are currently NERC
certified)

c

SPP uses two methods to certify control areas
♦
♦

c

Full certification of new control areas
Short form certification for existing control areas

The NERC Compliance and Certification
Committee (CCC) has approved a third method
utilizing the results of the NERC Readiness
Audits

c

c

No DCS violations through 3Q04

c

No CPS or SOL/IROL violations
through November 2004

c

6 Field Reviews completed

c

4 NERC Readiness Audits completed

c

UFLS results are still under review
♦

Ron Ciesiel/Gerry Burrows will present the
CCC recommendation to the ORWG in March

♦

45

Six Level 1 results are under appeal
Five Level 4 results will be disclosed to
NERC as soon as all notifications to
members are completed

SPP Compliance Violation
Disclosures
c

♦
♦

c

2005 Proposed
SPP Field Reviews

Missouri Public Service
♦

c Spring

Transmission Protection
Maintenance
Generator Protection Maintenance
Business Continuity Plan

♦
♦
♦

♦
♦

Southwestern Power Administration
Empire District Electric Company
Grand River Dam Authority

c Fall

Sunflower Electric
♦

46

♦

Capacity and Energy Plan
Restoration Plan
Business Continuity Plan

♦
♦
47

Western Farmers Electric Coop
Oklahoma Gas and Electric
Kansas City Power and Light
48

8

2005 NERC
Readiness Audits
c

c

Spring
♦
♦
♦
♦
♦

c

2005 Preview
♦

SPP Reliability Coordinator - April 19-21
CLECO - April 26-28
Missouri Public Service - May 24-26
Sunflower Electric - June 21-23
SPP Compliance Program - TBD

♦

c

Fall
♦
♦
♦

Program contents

Board of Public Utilities Kansas City, KS
City of Independence
Western Resources

Program size approximately same
as 2004 +/- 4 templates
Increased notification requirements
for violations

Compliance Rollout Workshop
scheduled for March 15-16, 2005
in Tulsa, Oklahoma

49
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Version “0”
Entity Registration

Cyber Security
c

c

Control Areas and Reliability
Coordinators are responsible for
completing survey; due March 11
Presentation on Standard 1200
available on SPP website

c

SPP member information was due
January 11

c

SPP Staff will review submittals for
gaps/overlaps

c

Initial registration information due to
NERC January 28

c

To date, no surprises on submittals

(Compliance> December 2004 Workshop)

51
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Contact SPP

cmonroe@spp.org

http://www.spp.org
General Inquiries: 501-614-3200
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
January 24-25, 2005

Organizational Roster
The following Operating Reliability Working Group members participated in group discussions:
Scott Moore – AEP
Bob Cochran – SPS
Steve Massey – Westar
Keith Sugg – AECC

Gerry Burrows – KCP&L
Allen Klassen – Westar
Bill Nolte – Sunflower Electric (by proxy)

The following stakeholders participated in group discussions:
Dan Boezio – AEP
Will Franklin – Entergy EMO
Steve Hillman – WPEK
Billy Miller – Calpine

Mike Crouch – WFEC
Don Hargrove – OG&E
John Mason – MPS
Richard Ross – AEP

Background
Criteria 4.5.5.2 (for monthly calculations) and 4.5.5.3 (for daily and weekly calculations) describe how
existing reservations are accounted for in the AFC calculation processes. SPP currently uses all
reservations (both point-to-point and network service) with positive flow impacts to decrease short-term
AFC and uses counter-flow impacts of reservations for network service from designated resources to
increase short-term firm AFC. SPP Staff voiced concerns with this methodology to the ORWG, TWG, and
BPWG.
One concern was that reservations for network service from designated resources are not the appropriate
indicators of the actual counter-flows that may be experienced in real-time operations and should not be
used for purposes of increasing short-term firm AFC. They are inappropriate due to two factors: 1)
reservations for Network Service from Designated Resources are not always scheduled and 2) different
counter-flows may result from scheduled point-to-point reservations. As more network service is taken
under the SPP OATT, the first factor is likely to cause this method for increasing firm AFC to become a
bigger concern.
The other concern voiced was that using 100% of positive flow reservations to decrease AFC was an
overly conservative approach for short-term AFC. Very rarely are 100% of all reservations that have a
positive flow impact on a flowgate actually scheduled.
Staff submitted to the ORWG and TWG proposed changes to Criteria 4.5.5.2 and 4.5.5.3 that would
address these concerns. Comments were also solicited from the BPWG regarding these proposed
changes. The changes proposed by SPP Staff would allow for those reservations that are expected to be
scheduled based on historical scheduling data to be used as counter-flows and positive flows in the firm
monthly, weekly and daily AFC calculations.

Analysis
At its September 21, 2004 meeting, the BPWG reviewed the changes being proposed by SPP Staff. The
BPWG generally believed that those changes would increase the accuracy of SPP’s AFC calculations
and be beneficial to the market.
At its September 29-30, 2004 meeting, the ORWG considered the concerns raised by SPP Staff and the
proposed changes to Criteria 4.5.5.2 and 4.5.5.3. The ORWG generally agreed with Staff’s concerns but
decided to approve only those proposed changes to Criteria 4.5.5.3. The group believed that it would be
prudent to make the suggested changes that would only affect weekly and daily AFC calculations and to
monitor the effectiveness of those changes for a period of one year. At the end of that period, the ORWG
could consider continuing those changes for weekly and daily calculations and applying similar changes
for monthly calculations based on the experience gained over the one-year period.
At their October 28, 2004 meeting, the TWG considered the changes to Criteria 4.5.5.3 as approved by
the ORWG. The TWG did not voice any objections to the action taken by the ORWG. The TWG further
concluded that its approval of those changes was not necessary since these changes affected short-term
service only.
The following is the modified SPP Criteria 4.5.5.3 as approved by the ORWG:
4.5.5.3 Daily and Weekly Calculations (Day 2 through 31)
For Daily and Weekly calculations, composite area interchange values will be determined by
integrating all OASIS Confirmed and Accepted reservations into projection models. Base
flows will be determined by the projection models. The impacts of OASIS reservations that
are in Study mode will be applied to each Flowgate according to the TDF values determined.
Positive impacts on a Flowgate due to Confirmed reservations that are not expected to be
scheduled based on actual historical scheduling data will be removed and allowed to
increase firm Available Flowgate Capacity. and counter flow impacts will be backed out by
applying the necessary negative TDF calculations to all Accepted, Confirmed and Study
reservations. For Non-firm Available Flowgate Capacity calculations, up to 50% of the
counter flow impacts due to all firm Confirmed reservations will be allowed. For firm Available
Flowgate Capacity, the cCounter flow impacts of Confirmed reservations for Designated
Network Resources are allowed to unload Flowgates. that are expected to be scheduled
based on actual historical scheduling data will be allowed to increase firm Available Flowgate
Capacity. Up to 50% of the counter flow impacts due to all firm Confirmed reservations will
be allowed to increase non-firm Available Flowgate Capacity.
Recommendation
The ORWG recommends that the MOPC adopt the proposed modifications to Criteria 4.5.5.3.
Approved:

Operating Reliability Working Group
Markets and Operations Policy Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

9/29/04
1/11/05

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendations to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
January 24-25, 2005

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Regional Tariff Working Group (RTWG):
AEP-West
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp.
Calpine Energy Services
Cargill - Alliant, LLC
Coral Power Trading
East Texas Electric Cooperative
Empire District Electric Co.
Kansas City Power & Light
Kansas Electric Power Cooperative
Midwest Energy
Missouri Public Service Commission
OG+E Electric Services
Oklahoma Municipal Power
Southwest Power Pool
Southwestern Power Administration
Southwestern Public Service Co.
Tenaska Power Services Co.
Westar Energy
Western Farmers Electric

Mr. Dennis Bethel
Mr. Ricky Bittle
Mr. James Stanton
Mr. David Toole
Mr. Jeff Brown
Mr. David Brian
Mr. Bary Warren
Mr. Charles Locke
Mr. Robert Bowser
Mr. Bill Dowling
Mr. Mike Proctor
Mr. John Gunesch Jr.
Mr. Gene Anderson
Mr. Pat Bourne
Mr. James Sherwood
Mr. Bernard Liu
Mr. Mark Foreman
Mr. Dennis Reed
Mr. Mitchell Williams

The following additional stakeholders participated in group discussions:
East Texas Electric Cooperative
Lafayette Utilities System
Lafayette Utilities System

Ms. Christine Ryan
Mr. Ron Gary
Mr. Gary Newell

Background
Tariff Modifications
The RTWG recommends approval of two Tariff modifications: The addition of Attachment AC – System
Impact Study for Short Term Service – Experiment and a modification to Schedule 9. The RTWG
approved the new Attachment AC at its November 4, 2004 meeting and the modification to Schedule 9 at
its December 2, 2004 meeting. The RTWG expects no major changes in structure or intent of any of the
provisions.

Analysis
Addition of Tariff Attachment AC - System Impact Study for Short Term Service - Experiment
Attachment AC is a proposed Tariff addition that provides for an experimental process with a term of one
year, during which customers requesting daily, weekly or monthly short term service may obtain and pay
for a system impact study and be provided an opportunity to arrange for any redispatch necessary to
facilitate the requested service. The substance of this experiment was approved by the MOPC at its
January 15, 2004 meeting subject to development and filing of Tariff provisions. Addition of this new
Attachment AC to the Tariff was unanimously supported by vote of the RTWG members at the November
4, 2004 meeting.
Schedule 9 Modification
The proposed Schedule 9 modification provides Transmission Owners taking Network Integration
Transmission Service under the Tariff the opportunity not to pay otherwise applicable monthly demand
charges if such Transmission Owner would have received, pursuant to Attachment L, the amount it seeks
not to pay. Such Transmission Owner remains obligated to pay all other applicable charges associated
with the service it takes and remains responsible for any credits payable pursuant to Tariff Section 30.9.
The provision will sunset on January 31, 2010. This revision to Schedule 9 was approved, without
opposition, by vote of the RTWG members at the December 2, 2004 meeting.
Recommendation
The RTWG recommends that the MOPC approve the following items:
1. The addition of Attachment AC - System Impact Study for Short Term Service to the SPP OATT.
2. The proposed modification to Schedule 9 of the SPP OATT.
Approved:

RTWG
Markets and Operations Policy Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

Attachments: New Tariff Attachment AC
Revised Schedule 9

11/04/04 and 12/02/04
01/11/05

Draft New Attachment AC – RTWG Approved – November 4, 2004

Attachment AC
Optional Reservation Processing Method For Short Term Firm Transmission Service
(Experimental)
1. Introduction
1.1. Definitions
1.1.1. Qualifying Request – a daily, weekly or monthly request for short-term firm
transmission service for which Customer has requested the application of this
processing method pursuant to the notification requirements set out below.
1.1.2. Qualifying Redispatch Options – any generation redispatch provisions,
confirmed firm service curtailment provisions, or combination thereof.
1.2. Nature of the Process
This Optional Reservation Processing Method For Short Term Firm Transmission
Service provides for an optional alternative to the standard evaluation process applied to
daily, weekly and monthly firm transmission service requests and an associated
mechanism for administration of related energy schedules.
Customers requesting daily, weekly and monthly short term firm transmission service
will have the opportunity to request, obtain and pay for system impact studies that
provide information about the system constraints that prohibit Transmission Provider’s
acceptance of the requested service and redispatch options that may alleviate those
constraints. Additionally, customer response time requirements will be adjusted to
provide an opportunity for Customer to contract for any redispatch mitigation necessary
for Transmission Provider’s acceptance of the requested service.
2. Experiment Description
This Optional Reservation Processing Method For Short Term Firm Transmission Service is
hereby implemented on an experimental basis.
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Application if this optional processing method is contingent on the request being found to be
feasible pursuant to the Initial Feasibility Analysis specified in Section 3.2 below.
The duration of the experiment shall be one (1) year from the effective date of this
Attachment AC. All Qualifying Requests entered on the SPP OASIS during the term of this
experiment will be processed using this method.
3. Reservation Processing Provisions
3.1. Customer Request for Application of These Procedures
This Optional Reservation Processing Method For Short Term Firm Transmission
Service will be used to process short-term firm requests upon notification by Customer
requesting the service. Such notification shall be made only by including the following
statement in the customer comment field of such reservation: “exercise system impact
study option.” Entry of this comment constitutes customer’s agreement to pay for all
system impact studies necessary to support the evaluation of this service. Such request
will, by this notification, become a Qualifying Request.
3.2. Initial Feasibility Analysis
Upon receipt of such Qualifying Request, SPP shall conduct an initial analysis of the
feasibility of such reservation at no cost to the customer. This preliminary study will be
posted on the SPP OASIS web site. Such reservation shall be deemed feasible if the
number of flowgate constraints are three or less and the AFC required is the lesser of the
TRM Value minus the capacity used by other reservations granted pursuant to these
procedures or fifteen percent of the flowgate capacity minus capacity used by other
reservations granted pursuant to this method. If the reservation is not deemed to be
feasible, it will be processed according to the normal methodology used for short-term
firm service requests provided for in this Tariff. Upon conclusion of the feasibility
analysis, the customer will be notified of the results of the analysis and if the reservation
is deemed to be feasible, the response time provisions of Addendum 1 to this Attachment
AC will become effective.
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3.3. Redispatch Option Identification
Upon notification by the Transmission Provider that the reservation is feasible, customer
shall notify the Transmission Provider of its election to move forward with this process or
terminate it. If Customer elects to terminate this process, such reservation will be
processed according to the normal methodology used for short-term firm service requests
otherwise provided for in this Tariff, including the provision of a counter offer when
appropriate. If Customer elects to move forward with this process, Customer shall make
notification to the Transmission Provider pursuant to Addendum 1 to this Attachment AC
of the Qualifying Redispatch Options it believes permits acceptance of the requested
reservation.
3.4. Redispatch Study
Once Customer has proposed the Qualifying Redispatch Options, Transmission Provider
will determine whether the proposed redispatch will permit Transmission Provider to
accept the reservation. Transmission Provider will provide a timely response to
Customer, pursuant to the response times specified on Addendum 1 to this Attachment
AC, and post the results of the study on its OASIS. If the redispatch options permit
Transmission Provider to accept the reservation, Customer will be responsible to
negotiate and contract for such redispatch service from the provider or providers of
Qualifying Redispatch Options and provide copies of such agreements within the
response times specified on Addendum 1 to this Attachment AC. Upon demonstration of
such agreement, Transmission Provider will accept the reservation. In the event the
customer does not provide demonstration of such agreement within the required time, the
request will be deemed withdrawn.
4. Response Time Requirements
Once Customer is notified of the results of the Initial Feasibility Analysis, both Customer and
Transmission Provider shall meet their respective obligations pursuant to the response time
requirements specified in Addendum 1 to this Attachment AC. Customer’s failure to make
timely response will result in the request being deemed to be withdrawn. In the event that
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there is a pending reservation in the transmission service queue that would be accepted if the
reservation under study were to be refused, Customer will be responsible to meet the
“reservation pending” response times specified on Addendum 1 to this Attachment AC.
5. System Impact Study Charges
By its request for application of these procedures, Customer thereby agrees to pay for all
system impact studies conducted by the TP for the purpose of evaluating the acceptability of
such request.
6. Scheduling Requirements and Redispatch Implementation
6.1. Scheduling Requirements
Any tag associated with a reservation requiring specification of redispatch provisions
must be submitted not later than one hour prior to its start. The Transmission Provider’s
Reliability Coordinator will determine whether redispatch will be required during the
next clock hour and inform Customer not later than thirty minutes prior to the top of the
hour.
6.2. Conditions under which redispatch would be required
In the event that such reservation impacts a flowgate that is currently in or is expected to
be in a TLR level 3 or higher and curtailment of existing non-firm schedules is not
adequate to reduce flowgate loading to an acceptable level, Customer will be informed of
the required action for relief. Customer will be required to take the required action at the
top of the hour. Implementation of redispatch options will be required subsequent to a
relevant impacted flowgate being in TLR level 3 and prior to TLR Level 5. In the event
that the Reliability Coordinator determines that required redispatch has not been
implemented, the reservation(s) will be terminated for the remainder of the hour.
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Addendum 1 to Attachment AC
Time Frames for Short-Term System Impact Studies
Term

Customer Responds to
Preliminary Study

SPP Studies and Post
System Impact Study

Customer Meets
Requirements

Monthly (more than 1 month)
1 Business Day
10 Business Days
7 Business Days
Weekly
4 Business Hours
3 Business Days
3 Business Days
Multi-Daily (up to 1 week)
2 Business Hours
2 Business Days
2 Business Days
Daily
2 Business Hours
2 Business Days
2 Business Days
Daily (Day Prior)
1 Business Hour
1 Business Day
1 Business Day
Note: Business Hour: One Hour between 8 AM through 5 PM, Central Prevailing Time, during one business day.
Business Day: Monday through Friday, except NERC Holidays.

Customer Meets
Requirements
1
(Reservation Pending)
4 Days
2 Days
24 Hours
2 Hours
2 Hours

1

Pending Reservation is a reservation that would be accepted if the reservation in System Impact Study were to be refused. This situation demands a shorter time
frame.

5

Draft Revised Schedule 9 – RTWG Approved – December 2, 2004
SCHEDULE 9
Network Integration Transmission Service
The Transmission Customer shall compensate the Transmission Provider for Network
Integration Transmission Service at the applicable charges set forth below in addition to other
applicable charges specified in the Tariff.
1.

Zonal Rates:

The Transmission Customer taking Network Integration

Transmission Service shall pay a monthly demand charge for the Zone where the load is located.
Each month, the Transmission Customer shall pay the Transmission Provider the applicable
monthly zonal Demand Charge, determined in accordance with Section 34.1. If a Transmission
Customer has load in multiple Zones, the Transmission Customer shall pay the monthly demand
charge for each Zone in which its load is located (i.e. the rate for each Zone shall be multiplied
by the Transmission Customer's monthly Network Load in that Zone and the sum of the
calculation for each applicable Zone shall be the total charges paid by the Transmission
Customer). For load not physically interconnected with the Transmission System designated as
Network load pursuant to Section 31.3, the Network Customer shall pay the zonal Demand
Charge for the Zone interconnected with the Control Area, external to the SPP Region, that is the
designated Point of Delivery. Where there is more than one Zone interconnected with such
Control Area, the lowest zonal Demand Charge of the interconnected Zones is applicable. The
annual revenue requirements of each Zone is stated in Attachment H.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Tariff, a Transmission Owner taking
Network Integration Transmission Service may elect not to pay (in whole or in part) the monthly
demand charges specified in the preceding paragraph to the extent that the Transmission Owner
would have received under Attachment L (revenue distribution) the amounts it seeks to not pay
under this provision. A Transmission Owner electing this option shall remain obligated to pay
any applicable charges for transmission services using any other Transmission Owner’s facilities
unless the transmission is provided pursuant to a Grandfathered Agreement (in which case
compensation provisions under the Grandfathered Agreement control). A Transmission Owner
electing this option shall remain responsible for any credits pursuant to Section 30.9 and for all
other applicable charges under this Tariff. This election will only be effective through January
31, 2010.
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The Zones are as follows:
Zone 1:

Public Service Company of Oklahoma and Southwestern Electric Power
Company, Subsidiaries of American Electric Power, Inc.

Zone 2:

Cleco Corporation

Zone 3:

City Utilities of Springfield, Missouri

Zone 4:

Empire District

Zone 5:

Grand River Dam Authority

Zone 6:

Kansas City Power and Light Company

Zone 7:

Oklahoma Gas & Electric Company

Zone 8:

Mid-West Energy

Zone 9:

Missouri Public Service

Zone 10:

Southwestern Power Administration

Zone 11:

Southwestern Public Service

Zone 12:

Sunflower Electric Cooperative

Zone 13:

Western Farmers Electric Cooperative

Zone 14:

Western Resources, Inc. (Kansas Gas & Electric and Western Resources)

Zone 15:

West Plains Energy

No changes in Zones shall be made without submitting a filing to the Commission.
2.

Redispatch Costs: The redispatch costs shall be calculated in accordance with

the formula and protocols shown on Attachment K. The Transmission Provider shall provide an
estimate of such redispatch costs before service begins.
3.

Losses:

The Transmission Customer shall replace losses determined in

accordance with Attachment M.
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4.

Direct Assignment Costs:

Where a System Impact and/or Facilities Study

indicates the need to construct Direct Assignment Facilities to accommodate a request for
Transmission Service, the Transmission Customer shall be charged the full cost of such Direct
Assignment Facilities in addition to the charges specified in this Schedule and Tariff. The
annual costs of the facility shall be calculated by multiplying the levelized fixed charge rate of
the Transmission Owner by the nondepreciated cost of the facility.

Each month the

Transmission Customer shall pay a charge based on such annual costs divided by twelve.
5.

Wholesale Distribution Service:

Where Wholesale Distribution Service is

provided to effectuate Network Integration Transmission Service, the Network Customer shall
pay all charges levied pursuant to the Wholesale Distribution Service Agreement and Schedule
10.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendations to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
January 24-25, 2005

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Regional Tariff Working Group (RTWG):
AEP-West
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp.
Calpine Energy Services
Cargill - Alliant, LLC
Coral Power Trading
East Texas Electric Cooperative
Empire District Electric Co.
Kansas City Power & Light
Kansas Electric Power Cooperative
Midwest Energy
Missouri Public Service Commission
OG+E Electric Services
Oklahoma Municipal Power
Southwest Power Pool
Southwestern Power Administration
Southwestern Public Service Co.
Tenaska Power Services Co.
Westar Energy
Western Farmers Electric

Mr. Dennis Bethel
Mr. Ricky Bittle
Mr. James Stanton
Mr. David Toole
Mr. Jeff Brown
Mr. David Brian
Mr. Bary Warren
Mr. Charles Locke
Mr. Robert Bowser
Mr. Bill Dowling
Mr. Mike Proctor
Mr. John Gunesch Jr.
Mr. Gene Anderson
Mr. Pat Bourne
Mr. James Sherwood
Mr. Bernard Liu
Mr. Mark Foreman
Mr. Dennis Reed
Mr. Mitchell Williams

The following stakeholders participated in group discussions:
East Texas Electric Cooperative
Lafayette Utilities System
Lafayette Utilities System

Ms. Christine Ryan
Mr. Ron Gary
Mr. Gary Newell

Background
Tariff Modifications
The RTWG recommends approval of Tariff modifications necessary to implement the Regional State
Committee’s transmission expansion cost allocation plan. Modifications to key Tariff sections and
attachments necessary to implement the RSC’s cost allocation plan were approved at its January 5-6,
2005 meeting with the understanding that there may need to be minor clarifications prior to filing. The
RTWG expects no major changes in structure or intent of any of the provisions.

Analysis
RSC Cost Allocation Proposal Implementation Tariff Changes
The SPP Regional State Committee (RSC) has developed a plan for the allocation of revenue
requirements associated with transmission system upgrades necessary to be constructed subsequent to
the upgrades included in the 2005 transmission expansion plan. The RTWG has undertaken the
responsibility to develop the Tariff changes necessary to implement the RSC’s plan. Modifications to key
Tariff sections and attachments necessary to implement the RSC’s cost allocation plan were approved at
its January 5-6, 2005 meeting with the understanding that there may need to be minor clarifications prior
to filing. The RTWG expects no major changes in structure or intent of any of the provisions. In
conjunction with this approval, RTWG members agreed to continue their review of work to date and alert
other members by email notice, distributed using the RTWG exploder, if a significant problem should be
discovered.
Recommendation
1. The RTWG recommends that the MOPC approve the proposed modifications to the SPP OATT
necessary to implement the RSC’s transmission expansion cost allocation proposal.
The MOPC approved the following motion:
Without addressing the merits of the RSC Cost Allocation Plan, the MOPC submits the following
revised OATT for FERC filing, where such revisions reflect the intent of the RSC Cost Allocation
Plan and conforms the existing OATT provisions to accommodate such RSC Cost Allocation
Plan. The MOPC recommends that SPP staff and the RTWG be authorized to make, with
appropriate involvement from the CAWG, any needed clarifications and structural modifications
necessary in preparation for filing the revised OATT at FERC.
Approved:

RTWG
Markets and Operations Policy Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

Attachments: Tariff Revisions for RSC Cost Allocation Proposal implementation:
Section 1 – Definitions
Part V, Schedule 11
Attachment H
Attachment J
Attachment L
Attachment S
Attachment Z

01/06/05
01/11/05

Southwest Power Pool
FERC Electric Tariff
Fourth Revised Volume No. 1

Original Sheet No. 7

I.

COMMON SERVICE PROVISIONS

1

Definitions
1.1

Ancillary Services: Those services that are necessary to support the transmission
of capacity and energy from resources to loads while maintaining reliable
operation of the Transmission Provider's and Transmission Owner's(s)
Transmission System in accordance with Good Utility Practice.

1.2

Annual Transmission Cost: The total annual cost of the Transmission System
for purposes of Network Integration Transmission Service shall be the amount
specified in Attachment H until amended by the Transmission Provider or
modified by the Commission.

1.3

Application:

A request by an Eligible Customer for transmission service

pursuant to the provisions of the Tariff.
1.3a

Attachment Facilities: Facilities that serve to interconnect a generating unit with
a Transmission Owner’s transmission facilities.

1.3b

Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirement:

The revenue requirement

associated with previously approved Base Plan Upgrades that have been deferred
or displaced due to a subsequently identified transmission upgrade.
1.3c

Base Plan Charge:

Charge assessed by SPP in accordance with Schedule 11 to

recover the revenue requirement of facilities classified as Base Plan Upgrades.
1.3d

Base Plan Region-wide Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement: The
sum of the annual transmission revenue requirement for each Base Plan Upgrade
and of the Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirement(s), if any, that are allocated
to the SPP Region in accordance with Attachment J to this Tariff.

1.3e

Base Plan Region-wide Charge: Regional component of the charge assessed by
SPP in accordance with Schedule 11 to recover the revenue requirement of
facilities classified as Base Plan Upgrades.

1.3f

Base Plan Region-wide Load Ratio Share: Ratio of a Network Customer's or
Transmission Owner’s Resident Load in the SPP Region to the total load in the
SPP Region computed in accordance with Section II.B. to Schedule 11 of this
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1.3g

Base Plan Region-wide Rate: Regional component of the rate (per kW of
Reserved Capacity for Point-to-Point Transmission Service) assessed by SPP in
accordance with Schedule 11 to recover the revenue requirement of facilities
classified as Base Plan Upgrades.

1.3h

Base Plan Upgrades: Those upgrades included in and constructed pursuant to
the SPP RTO Expansion Plan in order to ensure the reliability of the Transmission
System. Base Plan Upgrades shall also include those upgrades required for new
or changed Designated Resources to the extent allowed for in Attachment J to this
Tariff.

1.3i

Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement:

For each

Zone, the sum of the annual transmission revenue requirement for each Base Plan
Upgrade and of the Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirement(s), if any, that are
allocated to the Zone in accordance with Attachments J and S to this Tariff.
1.3j

Base Plan Zonal Charge: Zonal component of the charge assessed by SPP in
accordance with Schedule 11 to recover the revenue requirement of facilities
classified as Base Plan Upgrades.

1.3k

Base Plan Zonal Load Ratio Share:

Ratio of a Network Customer's or

Transmission Owner’s Resident Load in a Zone to the total load in that Zone
computed in accordance with Section II.A. to Schedule 11 of this Tariff and
calculated on a calendar year basis, for the prior calendar year.
1.3l

Base Plan Zonal Rate: Zonal component of the rate (per kW of Reserved
Capacity for Point-to-Point Transmission Service) assessed by SPP in accordance
with Schedule 11 to recover the revenue requirement of facilities classified as
Base Plan Upgrades.

1.4

Commission: The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

1.5

Completed Application: An Application that satisfies all of the information and
other requirements of the Tariff, including any required deposit.

1.6

Control Area:

An electric power system or combination of electric power

systems to which a common automatic generation control scheme is applied in
order to:
(1)

match, at all times, the power output of the generators within the electric
power system(s) and capacity and energy purchased from entities outside

the electric power system(s), with the load within the electric power
system(s);
(2)

maintain scheduled interchange with other Control Areas, within the limits
of Good Utility Practice;

Southwest Power Pool
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maintain the frequency of the electric power system(s) within reasonable
limits in accordance with Good Utility Practice; and

(4)

provide sufficient generating capacity to maintain operating reserves in
accordance with Good Utility Practice.

1.7

Curtailment: A reduction in firm or non-firm transmission service in response to
a transmission capacity shortage as a result of system reliability conditions.

1.8

Delivering Party: The entity supplying capacity and energy to be transmitted at
Point(s) of Receipt.

1.9

Designated Agent: Any entity that performs actions or functions required under
the Tariff on behalf of the Transmission Provider, a Transmission Owner, an
Eligible Customer, or the Transmission Customer.

1.9a

Designated Resource: Any designated generation resource owned, purchased or
leased by a Transmission Customer to serve load in the SPP Region. Designated
Resources do not include any resource, or any portion thereof, that is committed
for sale to third parties or otherwise cannot be called upon to meet the
Transmission Customer's load on a non-interruptible basis.

1.10

Direct Assignment Facilities:

Facilities or portions of facilities that are

constructed by any Transmission Owner(s) for the sole use/benefit of a particular
Transmission Customer or a particular group of customers or a particular
Generation Interconnection Customer requesting service under the Tariff. Direct
Assignment Facilities shall be specified in the Service Agreements that govern
service to the Transmission Customer(s) and Generation Interconnection
Customer(s) and shall be subject to Commission approval.
1.10a Economic Upgrades: Elective upgrades, identified in the SPP RTO Expansion
Plan, which have potential economic benefit to the SPP Region, but are not
required for reliability reasons.
1.10ba Effective Date:

For Short-Term Firm and Non-Firm Point-To-Point

Transmission Service the Effective Date of this Tariff is June 1, 1998. For LongTerm Firm Point-To-Point Transmission Service the Effective Date of this Tariff
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is April 1, 1999. For Network Integration Transmission Service the Effective
Date of this Tariff is February 1, 2000.
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Eligible Customer: (i) Any electric utility (including the Transmission Owner(s)
and any power marketer), Federal power marketing agency, or any person
generating electric energy for sale for resale. Electric energy sold or produced by
such entity may be electric energy produced in the United States, Canada or
Mexico. However, with respect to transmission service that the Commission is
prohibited from ordering by Section 212(h) of the Federal Power Act, such entity
is eligible only if the service is provided pursuant to a state requirement that a
Transmission Owner offer the unbundled transmission service, or pursuant to a
voluntary offer of such service by a Transmission Owner. (ii) Any retail customer
or eligible person taking unbundled transmission service pursuant to a state
requirement that a Transmission Owner offer the transmission service, or pursuant
to a voluntary offer of such service by a Transmission Owner, is an Eligible
Customer under the Tariff.

1.11a Existing Facilities: (i) Transmission System facilities placed in service on or
before December 31, 2005; or (ii) planned Transmission System facilities
identified in the SPP RTO Expansion Plan required to be in service to meet SPP
and NERC reliability standards for the summer of 2005; or (iii) Transmission
System facilities identified by Transmission Owners, and not included in the SPP
RTO Expansion Plan, required to be in service to meet SPP and NERC reliability
standards for the summer of 2005.
1.11b Existing Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement: The revenue
requirement for Existing Facilities in each Zone for purposes of determining the
charges under Schedules 7, 8 and 9 of this Tariff.
1.12

Facilities Study: An engineering study conducted by the Transmission Provider
in collaboration with the affected Transmission Owner(s) to determine the
required modifications to the Transmission System, including the cost and
scheduled completion date for such modifications, that will be required to provide
the requested transmission service or Generation Interconnection Service. The
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Transmission Provider shall have the ultimate responsibility for any such studies.
However, the Transmission Provider’s final decision must be consistent with
Good Utility Practice.

Facilities studies for any facilities not under the

operational control of the Transmission Provider shall be performed by the
Transmission Owner or any entity it designates to perform the studies.
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1.12a Feasibility Study: A coordinated preliminary determination by the Transmission
Provider and the affected Transmission Owner(s) of the Attachment Facilities,
other Direct Assignment Facilities, and system upgrades that are needed to accept
power into the grid at the interconnection receipt point, that will be necessary to
accommodate a Generation Interconnection Request made under Attachment V.
1.12b Federal Power: All power and energy generated at reservoir projects under the
control of the Department of Army in the marketing area of the Southwestern
Power Administration (Southwestern) plus power and energy delivered to
Southwestern from other sources for the purpose of fulfilling Southwestern’s
contractual obligations for the sale of power and energy pursuant to
Southwestern’s Federal power allocations.
1.13

Firm Point-To-Point Transmission Service: Transmission Service under this
Tariff that is reserved and/or scheduled between specified Points of Receipt and
Delivery pursuant to Part II of this Tariff.

1.13a Generation Interconnection Customer: An entity that submits a Generation
Interconnection Request under Attachment V.
1.13b Generation Interconnection Request: A request made under Attachment V to
connect a generating unit to the Transmission System or to increase the capacity
of a generating unit that is connected to the Transmission System.
1.14

Good Utility Practice: Any of the practices, methods and acts engaged in or
approved by a significant portion of the electric utility industry during the relevant
time period, or any of the practices, methods and acts which, in the exercise of
reasonable judgment in light of the facts known at the time the decision was
made, could have been expected to accomplish the desired result at a reasonable
cost consistent with good business practices,
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reliability, safety and expedition. Good Utility Practice is not intended to be
limited to the optimum practice, method, or act to the exclusion of all others, but
rather to be acceptable practices, methods, or acts generally accepted in the
region.
1.14a Grandfathered Agreements or Transactions: Grandfathered Agreements or
Transactions include (1) agreements providing long term firm transmission
service executed prior to April 1, 1999 and Network Integration Transmission
Service executed prior to February 1, 2000; (2) bundled wholesale contracts (that
reserve transmission as part of the contract); (3) short-term firm and non-firm
point-to-point transmission transactions which were accepted and confirmed prior
to the Effective Date; (4) existing or new contracts entered into by the
Southwestern Power Administration on behalf of the United States for the use of
transmission facilities of the Southwestern Power Administration that are
constructed or acquired by purchase or other agreement, as authorized under
Section 5 of the Flood Control Act of 1944, for the transmission of Federal
Power; and (5) contracts executed before the Effective Date, regardless of term,
entered into by the Southwestern Power Administration on behalf of the United
States for the transmission of power or energy across transmission facilities
owned and operated by the Southwestern Power Administration.

These

agreements are set forth on the list which is Attachment W to this Tariff.
Umbrella service agreements are specifically not Grandfathered.
1.15

Interruption: A reduction in non-firm transmission service due to economic
reasons pursuant to Section 14.7.
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Load Ratio Share: Ratio of a Transmission Customer's Network Load in a Zone
to the total load in that Zone computed in accordance with Sections 34.2 and 34.3
of the Network Integration Transmission Service under pPart III of this Tariff and
calculated on a calendar year basis, for the prior calendar year.

1.17

Load Shedding: The systematic reduction of system demand by temporarily
decreasing load in response to transmission system or area capacity shortages,
system instability, or voltage control considerations under Part III of the Tariff.

1.18

Long-Term Firm Point-To-Point Transmission Service: Firm Point-To-Point
Transmission Service under Part II of the Tariff with a term of one year or more.

1.18a Member: A member of SPP.
1.19

Native Load Customers: The wholesale and retail power customers of the
Transmission Owner(s) on whose behalf the Transmission Owner(s), by statute,
franchise, regulatory requirement, or contract, has (have) undertaken an obligation
to construct or operate the Transmission Owner's(s') system(s) to meet the reliable
electric needs of such customers. In addition, Native Load Customers also may
include the customers of the Federal Government on whose behalf the
Government, by policy, statute, regulatory requirement, or contract, delivers
Federal capacity and energy to meet all or a portion of the reliable electric needs
of such customers.

1.20

Network Customer: An entity receiving transmission service pursuant to the
terms of the Transmission Provider's Network Integration Transmission Service
under Part III of the Tariff.

1.21

Network Integration Transmission Service: The transmission service provided
under Part III of the Tariff.
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Network Load: The load that a Network Customer designates for Network
Integration Transmission Service under Part III of the Tariff.

The Network

Customer's Network Load shall include all load served by the output of any
Network Resources designated by the Network Customer. A Network Customer
may elect to designate less than its total load as Network Load but may not
designate only part of the load at a discrete Point of Delivery. Where an Eligible
Customer has elected not to designate a particular load at discrete points of
delivery as Network Load, the Eligible Customer is responsible for making
separate arrangements under Part II of the Tariff for any Point-To-Point
Transmission Service that may be necessary for such non-designated load.
1.23

Network Operating Agreement: An executed agreement that contains the terms
and conditions under which the Network Customer shall operate its facilities and
the technical and operational matters associated with the implementation of
Network Integration Transmission Service under Part III of the Tariff.

1.24

Reserved:

1.25

Network Resource: Any designated generating resource owned, purchased or
leased by a Network Customer under the Network Integration Transmission
Service Tariff. Network Resources do not include any resource, or any portion
thereof, that is committed for sale to third parties or otherwise cannot be called
upon to meet the Network Customer's Network Load on a non-interruptible basis.

1.26

Network Upgrades:

All or a portion of the modifications or additions to

transmission-related facilities that are integrated with and support the
Transmission Provider's overall Transmission System for the general benefit of all
users of such Transmission System.
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1.26a Next-Hour-Market Service: Non-firm transmission service that (a) is reserved
for one clock hour and (b) is requested within sixty (60) minutes before the start
of the next clock hour for service commencing at the start of that clock hour.
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Non-Firm Point-To-Point Transmission Service: Point-To-Point Transmission
Service under the Tariff that is reserved and scheduled on an as-available basis
and is subject to Curtailment or Interruption as set forth in Section 14.7 under Part
II of this Tariff. Non-Firm Point-To-Point Transmission Service is available on a
stand-alone basis for periods ranging from one hour to one month.

1.28

Open Access Same-Time Information System (OASIS):

The information

system and standards of conduct contained in Part 37 of the Commission's
regulations and all additional requirements implemented by subsequent
Commission orders dealing with OASIS.
1.29

Part I: Tariff Definitions and Common Service Provisions contained in Sections
2 through 12.

1.30

Part II: Tariff Sections 13 through 27 pertaining to Point-To-Point Transmission
Service in conjunction with the applicable Common Service Provisions of Part I
and appropriate Schedules and Attachments.

1.31

Part III:

Tariff Sections 28 through 36 pertaining to Network Integration

Transmission Service in conjunction with the applicable Common Service
Provisions of Part I and appropriate Schedules and Attachments.
1.31a Part IV: Tariff Sections 37 through 3938 pertaining to special Tariff provisions
related to the applicability of the Tariff during and after the Transition Period.
1.31b Part V: Tariff Sections 40 through 41 pertaining to recovery of costs for Base
Plan Upgrades and appropriate Schedules and Attachments.
1.32

Parties: The Transmission Provider and the Transmission Customer receiving
service under the Tariff.
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Point(s) on the Transmission Provider's Transmission

System where capacity and energy transmitted by the Transmission Provider will
be made available to the Receiving Party under Part II of the Tariff. The Point(s)
of Delivery shall be specified in the Service Agreement for Long-Term Firm
Point-To-Point Transmission Service.
1.34

Point(s) of Receipt: Point(s) of interconnection on the Transmission Provider's
Transmission System where capacity and energy will be made available to the
Transmission Provider by the Delivering Party under Part II of the Tariff. The
Point(s) of Receipt shall be specified in the Service Agreement for Long-Term
Firm Point-To-Point Transmission Service.

1.35

Point-To-Point Transmission Service:

The reservation and transmission of

capacity and energy on either a firm or non-firm basis from the Point(s) of
Receipt to the Point(s) of Delivery under Part II of the Tariff.
1.36

Power Purchaser: The entity that is purchasing the capacity and energy to be
transmitted under the Tariff.

1.36a Project Sponsor: One or more entities that voluntarily agree to bear the costs of
an Economic Upgrade.
1.37

Receiving Party: The entity receiving the capacity and energy transmitted by the
Transmission Provider to Point(s) of Delivery.

1.37a Regional State Committee:
1.38

Regional Transmission Group (RTG):

A voluntary organization of

transmission owners, transmission users and other entities approved by the
Commission to efficiently coordinate transmission planning (and expansion),
operation and use on a regional (and interregional) basis.
1.38a Requested Upgrades:

Transmission upgrades, requested by a Transmission

Customer or other entity, which do not meet the definition of any other category
of Network Upgrades.
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Reserved Capacity: The maximum amount of capacity and energy that the
Transmission Provider agrees to transmit for the Transmission Customer over the
Transmission Provider's Transmission System between the Point(s) of Receipt
and the Point(s) of Delivery under Part II of the Tariff. Reserved Capacity shall
be expressed in terms of whole megawatts on a sixty (60) minute interval
(commencing on the clock hour) basis.

1.39a Resident Load: The load for which Base Plan Charges are applicable pursuant to
Part V of the Tariff.
1.40

Service Agreement: The initial agreement and any amendments or supplements
thereto entered into by the Transmission Customer and the Transmission Provider
for service under the Tariff.

1.41

Service Commencement Date: The date the Transmission Provider begins to
provide service pursuant to the terms of an executed Service Agreement, or the
date the Transmission Provider begins to provide service in accordance with
Section 15.3 or Section 29.1 under the Tariff.

1.42

Short-Term Firm Point-To-Point Transmission Service: Firm Point-To-Point
Transmission Service under Part II of the Tariff with a term of less than one year.

1.42a SPP: The Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
1.42b SPP Membership Agreement:

The Southwest Power Pool Membership

Agreement detailing the rights and obligations of the SPP and SPP Members.
1.42c SPP Region: The geographic area of the Transmission System.
1.42d SPP RTO Expansion Plan:
1.43

System Impact Study: A coordinated assessment by the Transmission Provider
and the affected Transmission Owner(s) of (i) the adequacy of the Transmission
System to accommodate a request for either Firm Point-To-Point Transmission
Service or Network Integration Transmission Service or (ii) to determine the
Attachment Facilities, other Direct Assignment Facilities, and system upgrades
that are needed to accept power into the grid at
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the interconnection receipt point, required to accommodate a request for
generation interconnection in accordance with Attachment V and (iii) whether any
additional costs may be incurred in order to provide transmission service or
generation interconnection.
1.44

Third-Party Sale:

Any sale for resale in interstate commerce to a Power

Purchaser that is not designated as part of Network Load under the Network
Integration Transmission Service.
1.44a Transition Period: The period from the Effective Date of this Tariff for the
provision of Network Integration Transmission Service to the last day of the fifth
year thereafter.
1.45

Transmission Customer: Any Eligible Customer (or its Designated Agent) that
(i) executes a Service Agreement, or (ii) requests in writing that the Transmission
Provider file with the Commission, a proposed unexecuted Service Agreement to
receive transmission service under Part II of the Tariff. This term is used in the
Part I Common Service Provisions to include customers receiving transmission
service under Part II and Part III of this Tariff.

1.45a Transmission Owner: Each member of SPP whose transmission facilities (in
whole or in part) make up the Transmission System and has executed a
membership agreement as a Transmission Owner. Those Transmission Owners
that are not regulated by the Commission shall not become subject to Commission
regulation by virtue of their status as Transmission Owners under this Tariff;
provided, however, that service over their facilities classified as transmission and
covered by the Tariff shall be subject to Commission regulation.
1.46

Transmission Provider: The Southwest Power Pool, Inc., as agent for and on
behalf of the Transmission Owners.

1.47

Transmission Provider's Monthly Transmission System Peak: The maximum
firm usage of the Transmission Provider's Transmission System in a calendar
month.
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Point-To-Point Transmission Service provided under

Part II of the Tariff on a firm and non-firm basis.
1.49

Transmission System:

The facilities used by the Transmission Provider to

provide transmission service under Part II, and Part III and Part V of the Tariff
and are reflected in the rates for Network Integration, Long-Term Firm, ShortTerm Firm and Non-Firm Point-to-Point Transmission Service under the Tariff as
stated in Attachments H and T.
1.49a Users: Transmission Customers or other entities that are parties to transactions
under the Tariff.
1.49b Wholesale Distribution Service: The provision of distribution service over a
Transmission Owner's Distribution Facilities necessary to effectuate a transaction
under this Tariff. To the extent such service is required, it shall be specified in the
Service Agreement for the associated service being provided under the Tariff.
The charges for Wholesale Distribution Service are described in Schedule 10.
1.50

Zone: The geographic area of the facilities of a Transmission Owner or a specific
combination of Transmission Owners as specified in Schedules 7, 8, and 9.
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V.

Recovery of Costs for Base Plan Upgrades

40.

Charge for Use of Base Plan Upgrades
SPP shall assess a Base Plan Charge for to recover the revenue requirement of

facilities classified as Base Plan Upgrades.purposes of paying each individual
Transmission Owner for the use of Base Plan Upgrades and any portion of other Network
Upgrades that are eligible for Base Plan Upgrade treatment.
41.

Applicability of Base Plan Charges
Base Plan Charges shall be determined in accordance with Schedule 11 and assessed

to:
(a) Network Customers taking Network Integration Transmission Service to serve
their Network Load under the SPP Tariff;
(b) Transmission Owners providing transmission service to Resident Load where
Resident Load is: (i) bundled retail load for which such Transmission Owners are
not taking Network Integration Transmission Service or Firm Point-to-Point
Transmission Service under the SPP Tariff; and (ii) bundled load being served
under Grandfathered Agreements for which such Transmission Owners are not
taking Network Integration Transmission Service or Firm Point-to-Point
Transmission Service under the SPP Tariff; and
(c) Transmission Customers taking Firm or Non-Firm Point-to-Point Transmission
Service under the SPP Tariff.
For the purposes of Schedule 11, the load defined in Sections 41(a) and (b) shall be
classified as Resident Load a Network Customer’s Resident Load shall be equal to its
Network Load.

SCHEDULE 11
Base Plan Charge
I.

Introduction
Pursuant to Part V of this Tariff, Tthe Network Customer and the Transmission

Owner shall paycompensate the Transmission Provider each month Base Plan Charges to

r00
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recover the revenue requirement of facilities classified as Base Plan Upgrades for the use
of Base Plan Upgrades and any portion of other Network Upgrades that are eligible for
Base Plan Upgrade treatment based on their Resident Load in accordance with Section II
of this Schedules 2 and 3. Likewise, Tthe Transmission Customer taking Point-to-Point
Transmission Service under the SPP Tariff shall paycompensate the Transmission
Provider each month Base Plan Charges to recover the revenue requirement of facilities
classified as Base Plan Upgrades for the use of Base Plan Upgrades and any portion of
other Network Upgrades that are eligible for Base Plan Upgrade treatment based on
rReserved cCapacity in accordance with Section III of this Schedule 4 and 5.
II.

Base Plan Charges to Resident Load
A.

Base Plan Zonal Charge to Resident Load
The Network Customer and the Transmission Owner shall pay a monthly

Base Plan Zonal Charge, which shall be determined by multiplying its Base Plan
Zonal Load Ratio Share times one twelfth (1/12) of the Base Plan Zonal Annual
Transmission Revenue Requirement specified in Attachment H for each Zone in
which the Network Customer’s or Transmission Owner’s Resident Load is
physically located. Where a Network Customer has designated Network Load not
physically interconnected with the Transmission System under Section 31.3,
Network Customer shall pay a monthly Zonal Base Plan Charge, which shall be
determined by multiplying its Base Plan Zonal Load Ratio Share times one
twelfth (1/12) of the Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement
specified in Attachment H for the Zone that is the basis for charges under
Schedule 11.
1.

Determination of Network Customer's and Transmission
Owner’s Monthly Zonal Resident Load
The Network Customer's or Transmission Owner’s monthly zonal

Resident Load is its integrated hourly load (60 minute, clock-hour);
provided, however, the Network Customer's or Transmission Owner’s
monthly Resident Load will be its hourly load coincident with the monthly
peak of the Zone where the Resident Load is physically located. Where a
Network Customer or Transmission Owner has Resident Load in more
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than one Zone, the monthly Resident Load will be determined separately
for each Zone. Where a Network Customer has designated Network Load
not physically interconnected with the Transmission System under Section
31.3, the Network Customer's monthly Resident Load will be its hourly
load coincident with the monthly peak of the Zone that is the basis for
charges under Schedule 11.
2.

Determination of Transmission Provider’s Monthly Zone
Transmission Load
The Transmission Provider's monthly Transmission System load

shall be determined in accordance with Section 34.3 of this Tariff. for each
Zone on a non-coincident basis. The Transmission Provider’s monthly
Zone transmission load is the Zone's monthly Transmission System peak
minus the coincident peak usage of all Firm Point-To-Point Transmission
Service customers pursuant to Part II of this Tariff plus the Reserved
Capacity of all Firm Point-To-Point Transmission Service customers.
[NOTE: This is the same as Section 34.3 of the Tariff.]
B.

Base Plan Region-wide Charge to Resident Load
The Network Customer and Transmission Owner shall pay a monthly

Base Plan Region-wide Charge, which shall be determined by multiplying its
Base Plan Region-wide Load Ratio Share times one twelfth (1/12) of the Base
Plan Region-wide Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement specified in
Attachment H.
1.

Determination of Network Customer's and Transmission
Owner’s Monthly Regional Resident Load
The Network Customer's or Transmission Owner’s monthly

regional Resident Load is the sum of its monthly zonal Resident Load for
each Zone, where the monthly zonal Resident Load is determined
separately for each Zone coincident with the monthly peak of the Zone in
accordance with Section II.A.12a.
2.

r00

Determination of Transmission Provider’s Monthly Regional
Transmission Load
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The Transmission Provider's monthly regional Transmission
System load is the sum of the monthly Zone transmission load for each
Zone, where the monthly zone transmission load for each Zone is
determined on a non-coincident basis in accordance with Section II.A.22b.
III.

Base Plan Charge for Point-to-Point Transmission Service
A.

Base Plan Zonal Charge for Point-to-Point Transmission Service
The Base Plan Zonal Charge shall be assessed to Transmission Customer’s

taking Firm or Non-Firm Point-to-Point Transmission Service under the SPP
Tariff. The Transmission Customer shall pay the Base Plan Zonal Rate (per kW
of rReserved cCapacity) based upon the Zone where the load is located for Pointto-Point Transmission Service where the generation source is outside the SPP
Region and the load is located within the SPP Region and for Point-to-Point
Transmission Service where both the generation source and the load are located
within the SPP Region. For Point-to-Point Transmission Service where the
generation source is located within the SPP Region and the load is located outside
of the SPP Region, and for Point-to-Point Transmission Service where both the
generation source and the load are located outside of the SPP Region, the
Transmission Customer shall pay the Base Plan Zonal Rate (per kW of rReserved
cCapacity) for the Zone interconnected with the Control Area, external to the SPP
Region, that is the designated Point of Delivery. Where there is more than one
Zone interconnected with such Control Area, the lowest Base Plan Zonal Rate of
the interconnected Zones is applicable. The Base Plan Zonal Rates shall be
calculated in accordance with Section III.D7.
The Zones are as follows:
Zone 1:

Public Service Company of Oklahoma and Southwestern Electric Power
Company, Subsidiaries of American Electric Power, Inc.

Zone 2:

Cleco Corporation

Zone 3:

City Utilities of Springfield, Missouri

Zone 4:

Empire District Electric Company

Zone 5:

Grand River Dam Authority

Zone 6:

Kansas City Power & Light Company

r00
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Zone 7:

Oklahoma Gas & Electric Company

Zone 8:

Midwest Energy, Inc.

Zone 9:

Missouri Public Service

Zone 10:

Southwestern Power Administration

Zone 11:

Southwestern Public Service

Zone 12:

Sunflower Electric Cooperative

Zone 13:

Western Farmers Electric Cooperative

Zone 14:

Westar Energy, Inc. (Kansas Gas & Electric and Westar Energy)

Zone 15:

West Plains Energy

No changes in Zones shall be made without submitting a filing to the Commission.
B.

Base Plan Region-wide Charge for Point-to-Point Transmission
Service
The Base Plan Region-wide Charge shall be assessed to Transmission

Customer’s taking Firm or Non-Firm Point-to-Point Transmission Service under
the SPP Tariff. The Transmission Customer shall pay the Base Plan Region-wide
Rate (per kW of rReserved cCapacity) for Point-to-Point Transmission Service.
The Base Plan Region-wide Rate shall be calculated in accordance with Section
III.C6.
C.

Base Plan Region-wide Rate for Point-to-Point Transmission Service
1.

Determination of Annual Base Plan Region-wide Rate
The Base Plan Region-wide Annual Transmission Revenue

Requirement specified in Attachment H is the basis for the Base Plan
Region-wide Rate. The annual Base Plan Region-wide Rate for Firm
Point-to-Point Transmission Service shall be determined in accordance
with the following formula:
BPRR =

BPRATRR/MRTL

in which
BPRR =

the annual Base Plan Region-wide Rate

BPRATRR = the Base Plan Region-wide Annual Transmission
Revenue Requirement as specified in Attachment H
MRTL =

r00

the average of the sum of the monthly regional
Transmission System load for the twelve months of
the calendar year on which the rate is based. The
5

monthly regional Transmission System load is
determined in accordance with Section II.B.23b.
2.

Base Plan Region-wide
Transmission Service

Rate

for

Firm

Point-to-Point

The Base Plan Region-wide Rate for Firm Point-to-Point
Transmission Service shall be:
Per month =

annual Base Plan Region-wide Rate divided
by 12;

Per week =

annual Base Plan Region-wide Rate divided
by 52;

Per day “on peak” = the “per week” Base Plan Region-wide Rate
divided by 5; provided that the rate for 5 to 7
consecutive days may not exceed the “per
week” Base Plan Region-wide Rate; and
Per day “off peak” = the “per week” Base Plan Region-wide Rate
divided by 7.
3.

Base Plan Region-wide Rate for Non-Firm Point-to-Point
Transmission Service
The Base Plan Region-wide Rate for Non-Firm Point-to-Point

Transmission Service shall be:
Per month =

annual Base Plan Region-wide Rate divided
by 12;

Per week =

annual Base Plan Region-wide Rate divided
by 52:

Per day “on peak” = the “per month” Base Plan Region-wide
Rate multiplied by 12 then divided by 260;
Per day “off peak” = the “per month” Base Plan Region-wide
Rate multiplied by 12 then divided by 365;
Per hour “on peak” = the “per month” Base Plan Region-wide
Rate multiplied by 12 then divided by 4160;
and
Per hour “off peak” = the “per month” Base Plan Region-wide
Rate multiplied by 12 then divided by 8760.
6c.

On-Peak and Off-Peak
Off-Peak days shall be Sundays and all NERC holidays. All other days shall be

On-Peak. All hours during Off-Peak days shall be Off-Peak. On-Peak hours during On-

r00
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Peak days shall be all hours between HE 0700 and HE 2200 Central Prevailing Time. All
other hours during On-Peak days shall be Off-Peak.
4.

Total Region-wide Base Plan Charge
The total region-wide charge paid by a Transmission Customer

pursuant to a reservation for hourly delivery shall not exceed the above
on-peak daily rate multiplied by the highest amount of rReserved
cCapacity in any hour during such day. The total region-wide charge in
any week, pursuant to a reservation for hourly or daily delivery, shall not
exceed the above Base Plan Region-wide Rate specified for weekly
delivery multiplied by the highest amount of rReserved cCapacity in any
hour during such week.
D.

Base Plan Zonal Rates for Point-to-Point Transmission Service
1.

Determination of Annual Base Plan Region-wide Rate
The Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue Requirements

specified in Attachment H are the basis for the Base Plan Zonal Rates.
The annual Base Plan Zonal Rates for Firm Point-to-Point Transmission
Service shall be determined in accordance with the following formula for
each Zone.
BPZR =

BPZATRR/MZTL

in which
BPZR =

the annual Base Plan Zonal Rate for the Zone

BPZATRR = the Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue
Requirement for the Zone as specified in
Attachment H
MZTL =

2.

the average of the sum of the monthly zone
transmission load for the Zone for the twelve
months of the calendar year on which the rate is
based. The monthly zone transmission load is
determined in accordance with Section II.A.22b.

Base Plan Zonal Rate for Firm Point-to-Point Transmission
Service
The Base Plan Zonal Rate for Firm Point-to-Point Transmission

Service for each Zone shall be:

r00
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Per month =

annual Base Plan Zonal Rate for the Zone
divided by 12;

Per week =

annual Base Plan Zonal Rate for the Zone
divided by 52;

Per day “on peak” = the “per week” Base Plan Zonal Rate for the
Zone divided by 5; provided that the rate for
5 to 7 consecutive days may not exceed the
“per week” Base Plan Zonal Rate;
Per day “off peak” = the “per week” Base Plan Zonal Rate for the
Zone divided by 7.
3.

Base Plan Zonal Rate
Transmission Service

for

Non-Firm

Point-to-Point

The Base Plan Zonal Rate for Non-Firm Point-to-Point
Transmission Service for each Zone shall be:
Per month =

annual Base Plan Zone Rate for the Zone
divided by 12;

Per week =

annual Base Plan Zonal Rate for the Zone
divided by 52:

Per day “on peak” = the “per month” Base Plan Zonal Rate for
the Zone multiplied by 12 then divided by
260;
Per day “off peak” = the “per month” Base Plan Zonal Rate for
the Zone multiplied by 12 then divided by
365;
Per hour “on peak” = the “per month” Base Plan Zonal Rate for
the Zone multiplied by 12 then divided by
4160; and
Per hour “off peak” = the “per month” Base Plan Zonal Rate for
the Zone multiplied by 12 then divided by
8760.
7c.

On-Peak and Off-Peak
Off-Peak days shall be Sundays and all NERC holidays. All other days shall be

On-Peak. All hours during Off-Peak days shall be Off-Peak. On-Peak hours during OnPeak days shall be all hours between HE 0700 and HE 2200 Central Prevailing Time. All
other hours during On-Peak days shall be Off-Peak.
4.

r00

Total Zonal Base Plan Charge
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The total zonal charge paid by a Transmission Customer for each
Zone pursuant to a reservation for hourly delivery shall not exceed the
above on-peak daily rate multiplied by the highest amount of rReserved
cCapacity in any hour during such day. The total zonal charge for each
Zone in any week, pursuant to a reservation for hourly or daily delivery,
shall not exceed the above Base Plan Zonal Rate for the Zone specified for
weekly delivery multiplied by the highest amount of rReserved cCapacity
in any hour during such week.
E.

On-Peak and Off-Peak
Off-Peak days shall be Saturdays and Sundays and all NERC holidays.

All other days shall be On-Peak. All hours during Off-Peak days shall be OffPeak. On-Peak hours during On-Peak days shall be all hours betweenfrom HE
0700 andthrough HE 2200 Central Prevailing Time. All other hours during OnPeak days shall be Off-Peak.

r00
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ATTACHMENT H

Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement For Network Integration
Transmission Service

1.

The Existing Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement within each Zone for
purposes of determining the charges under Schedule 9, Network Integration Transmission
Service, is specified in column 3. The Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue
Requirement within each Zone for the purposes of determining the zonal charges under
Schedule 11, Base Plan Charges, is specified in column 4.The Annual Transmission
Revenue Requirement for purposes of the Network Integration Transmission Service
within each Zone shall be:

Zone 1:

Public Service Company of Oklahoma and Southwestern
Electric Power Company, Subsidiaries of American
Electric Power, Inc. .............................................................................. $ 88,681,579

Zone 2:

Cleco Corporation ................................................................................ $ 29,328,000

Zone 3:

City Utilities of Springfield, Missouri .................................................. $ 8,651,509

Zone 4:

Empire District ..................................................................................... $ 14,075,000

Zone 5:

Grand River Dam Authority (Est.)....................................................... $ 24,589,256

Zone 6:

Kansas City Power and Light Company .............................................. $ 35,461,776

Zone 7:

Oklahoma Gas & Electric Company.................................................... $ 65,065,032

Zone 8:

Mid-West Energy .................................................................................. $ 4,197,347

Zone 9:

Missouri Public Service ....................................................................... $ 18,884,642

Zone 10:

Southwestern Power Administration..................................................... $ 7,427,000

Zone 11:

Southwestern Public Service................................................................ $ 64,200,000

Zone 12:

Sunflower Electric Cooperative ........................................................... $ 19,637,429

Zone 13:

Western Farmers Electric Cooperative ................................................ $ 20,719,639

Zone 14:

Western Resources, Inc. (Kansas Gas & Electric and
Western Resources).............................................................................. $ 66,491,775

Zone 15:

West Plains Energy .............................................................................. $ 15,728,043

Issued by:

L. Patrick Bourne, Manager
Transmission and Regulatory Policy

Issued on: October 3, 2002

Effective: October 1, 2002

Zone
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15

American Electric Power (Public Service Company of
Oklahoma, Southwestern Electric Power, and SPP
portion of Texas North Company)
Cleco Corporation
City Utilities of Springfield, Missouri
Empire District Electric Company
Grand River Dam Authority (Est.)
Kansas City Power & Light Company
Oklahoma Gas & Electric Company
Midwest Energy, Inc.
Missouri Public Service
Southwestern Power Administration
Southwestern Public Service
Sunflower Electric Cooperative
Western Farmers Electric Cooperative
Westar Energy, Inc. (Kansas Gas & Electric and
Westar Energy)
West Plains Energy

Existing
Zonal ATRR

Base Plan
Zonal ATRR

$ 88,681,579

$0

$ 29,328,000
$ 8,651,509
$ 14,075,000
$ 24,589,256
$ 35,461,776
$ 65,065,032
$ 4,197,347
$ 18,884,642
$ 7,427,000
$ 64,200,000
$ 19,637,429
$ 20,719,639

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$ 66,491,775

$0

$ 15,728,043

$0

2. The Base Plan Region-wide Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement for the purposes of
determining the region-wide charges under Schedule 11 shall initially be $0.
32.

The amounts in (1) and (2) shall be effective until amended by the Transmission Owner
or

modified

by

the

Commission

or

other

applicable

regulatory

authority.
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ADDENDUM 1 TO ATTACHMENT H
MONTHLY DEMAND CHARGE CALCULATION FOR ZONE 1
NETWORK INTEGRATION TRANSMISSION SERVICE

This Addendum to Attachment H sets forth the monthly Demand Charge for Zone 1 for
Network Customers taking Network Integration Transmission Service under Schedule 9 to this
Tariff.
Unless a different rate is approved by the Commission, the monthly Demand Charge for
Zone 1 for Network Customers within that zone during the year 2001 shall be determined by
multiplying the Network Customer’s monthly Network Load, determined in accordance with the
provisions of Section 34.2, expressed in MW, times the rate per MW-month determined by
dividing the Zone 1 revenue requirement, specified in Attachment H, by the sum of the twelve
(12) coincident peak loads during the year 2000.
Until a different rate has been approved by the Commission, such rate for each
succeeding calendar year, to be effective on and after January 1, of such succeeding year, will be
calculated by dividing the Zone 1 revenue requirement, specified in Attachment H, by the sum of
the twelve (12) coincident peak loads during the preceding calendar year. The rate for 2001,
pursuant to the above, is $1,013.18 per MW-month.

Issued By:

L. Patrick Bourne, Manager
Transmission and Regulatory Policy

Issued On: May 11, 2004

Effective:

July 1, 2004

ATTACHMENT J
Recovery Of Costs Associated With New Facilities
1.I.

Direct Assignment Facilities
Where a System Impact and/or Facilities Study indicates the need to construct Direct

Assignment Facilities to accommodate a request for Transmission Service, the Transmission
Customer shall be charged the full cost of such Direct Assignment Facilities. Such costs shall be
specified in a Service Agreement.
2.

Network Upgrades

II.

Network Upgrades
a.There shall be four types of Network Upgrades:

Base Plan Upgrades, Economic

Upgrades, Requested Upgrades and generation interconnection related Network Upgrades as
defined in Attachment V to this Tariff. The costs of completed Network Upgrades shall be
handled as follows:
allocated as specified in Sections III through VI of this i. During the Transition Period:
The Transmission Customer(s) requesting Transmission Service which requires Network
Upgrades shall pay the costs associated with those Network Upgrades to the extent consistent
with Commission policy. Such costs shall be specified in a Service Agreement to be filed with
the Commission.
ii. After the Transition Period:
All Network Upgrades constructed for service under this Tariff shall be rolled-in with all
other transmission facilities. There shall be no direct assignment of Network Upgrade costs to
Transmission Customers. However, the Transmission Provider shall not allow the construction
and roll-in of a Network Upgrade when the Transmission Provider finds more economic or
efficient alternatives. This roll-in of Network Upgrade costs shall not include the portion of any
such Network Upgrades paid for during the Transition Period through direct assignment to
Transmission Customer(s).
Attachment.
III.

Base Plan Upgrades
A.

Allocation of Base Plan Upgrade Costs

1.

If the cost of a Base Plan Upgrade is less than or equal to $100,000, the
annual transmission revenue requirement associated with such Base Plan
Upgrade shall be allocated to the Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission
Revenue Requirement of the Zone in which the Base Plan Upgrade is
located.

2.

If the cost of a Base Plan Upgrade is greater than $100,000, then:
i.

X% of the annual transmission revenue requirement associated
with such Base Plan Upgrade shall be allocated to the Base Plan
Region-wide Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement and
recovered through the Base Plan Region-wide Charge. The initial
value of X shall be 33%.

ii.

(100-X)% of the annual transmission revenue requirement
associated with such Base Plan Upgrade shall be allocated to the
Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement and
recovered through the Base Plan Zonal Charge. This portion of the
annual transmission revenue requirement for each Base Plan
Upgrade shall be allocated to the Base Plan Zonal Annual
Transmission Revenue Requirement of specific Zones based on the
Zones’ share of the incremental MW-mile benefits as computed in
Section 4 of Attachment S to this Tariff. Each Zone with a benefit
of at least 10 MW-miles from a given Base Plan Upgrade shall be
allocated a portion of the Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission
Revenue Requirement for such upgrade based on its incremental
MW-mile benefit divided by the sum of the incremental MW-mile
benefits for all of those Zones with a benefit of at least 10 MWmiles from the upgrade.

B.

Conditions for Classifying Upgrades Associated with Designated Resources
As Base Plan Upgrades
Network Upgrades associated with new or changed Designated Resources
shall be classified as Base Plan Upgrades if the Designated Resource or the
associated upgrades (as applicable) meets each of the following conditions:

1.

The Transmission Customer’s commitment to the Designated Resource
has a duration of at least five years;

2.

In the first year the Designated Resource is planned to be used by the
Transmission Customer, the accredited capacity of the Transmission
Customer’s existing Designated Resources plus the accredited capacity of
new or changed Designated Resources shall not exceed 125% of the
Transmission Customer’s projected system peak responsibility determined
pursuant to SPP Criteria 2; and

3.

The cost of Network Upgrades associated with the new or changed
Designated Resource is less than or equal to $180,000/MW of accredited
capacity (the “Safe Harbor Cost Limit”).

The Transmission Customer must provide SPP the information that SPP deems
necessary to verify that the new or changed Designated Resource meets
conditions 1 and 2 above.
If the Designated Resource or the associated upgrades (as applicable) does
not meet the conditions set forth in 1 and 2 above, and the Transmission Customer
does not secure a waiver of the relevant condition(s), the costs of the upgrades
will be directly assigned to the Transmission Customer. If the costs of upgrades
associated with a new or changed Designated Resource exceeds the Safe Harbor
Cost Limit, and the Transmission Customer does not secure a waiver of that limit,
the costs of the upgrades in excess of the limit will be directly assigned to the
Transmission Customer. The Transmission Customer shall receive transmission
revenue credits in accordance with Attachment Z to this Tariff for any such
directly assigned costs.
C.

Waiver of Conditions for Classifying Upgrades Associated with Designated
Resources As Base Plan Upgrades
1.

Waiver Process
If the Designated Resource or the associated upgrade (as applicable) does

not meet one or more of the conditions in Section III.B. of this Attachment, the
Transmission Customer may seek a waiver from SPP in order that the costs of the
Network Upgrade may be classified in whole or in part as Base Plan Upgrade
costs.

If the Designated Resource does not meet the conditions set forth in
Section III.B.1. or III.B.2. of this Attachment, the Transmission Customer must
submit its request for a waiver to SPP simultaneous with its designation of a the
new or changed Designated Resource to be included in the SPP RTO Expansion
Plan.
Studies performed by SPP as part of the transmission expansion planning
process will determine whether the costs for Network Upgrades associated with a
new or changed Designated Resource may exceed the Safe Harbor Cost Limit. If
SPP determines that the costs for Network Upgrades associated with a new or
changed Designated Resource may exceed the Safe Harbor Cost Limit, SPP shall
notify the affected Transmission Customer. Within 15 days of such notice, the
Transmission Customer must submit to SPP its request for a waiver regarding the
costs in excess of the Safe Harbor Cost Limit.
Following receipt of a request for a waiver, SPP will review the request
and make a determination on a non-discriminatory basis of whether a waiver
should be granted based upon consideration of the factors described in Section
III.C.2. of this Attachment. The Transmission Customer requesting the waiver
shall be responsible for the reasonable costs of any studies that SPP performs in
making its determination. SPP will provide a report and recommendation to the
Markets and Operations Policy Committee for each requested waiver.

The

Markets and Operations Policy Committee will consider the waiver request and
the SPP report and recommendation, and will provide its own recommendation
(along with the SPP report and recommendation) regarding each requested waiver
to the SPP Board of Directors. Barring unusual circumstances, a valid waiver
request will be reviewed and submitted to the SPP Board of Directors within 120
days following the receipt of the waiver request.
2.

Factors to be Considered in Evaluating Waiver Requests
Any waiver request submitted by a Transmission Customer pursuant to

Section III.C.1. of this Attachment shall be evaluated based upon the following
general factors, including but not limited to:
i.

There are insufficient competitive resource alternatives for one or
more Transmission Customers.

ii.

The costs for Network Upgrades associated with a new or changed
Designated Resource are less than or equal to $100,000.

iii.

The resource that is the subject of the designation utilizes a source
of fuel that benefits the SPP Region by providing needed fuel
diversity.

iv.

To the extent that the costs for Network Upgrades exceed the Safe
Harbor Cost Limit, such upgrade costs may be classified in whole
or in part as Base Plan Upgrade costs if the Transmission
Customer’s commitment to the new or changed Designated
Resource exceeds the five-year minimum commitment.

v.

The five year commitment period for the new or changed
Designated Resource may be waived if: (i) the associated Network
Upgrade costs are significantly less than the Safe Harbor Cost
Limit; or (ii) the associated Network Upgrades provides benefits to
other Transmission Customers that would offset in less than five
years any costs allocated to them as a result of the upgrade being
classified as a Base Plan Upgrade.

vi.

If a request for a waiver is received by SPP based upon other
circumstances, such waiver shall be considered pursuant to the
waiver process described in Section III.C.1. of this Attachment.

If the costs of the Network Upgrade(s) required for a new or changed Designated
Resource are not eligible for classification as Based Plan Upgrade costs, the
Transmission Customer may nevertheless request the construction of such
upgrades.

In such event, the costs of such upgrades shall be allocated in

accordance with Section V of this Attachment.
D.

Review of Base Plan Allocation Methodology
1.

SPP shall review the reasonableness of the regional allocation factor (X%)
and the zonal allocation methodology at least once every five years. The
SPP and/or the Regional State Committee may initiate a review of the
regional allocation factor and/or the zonal allocation methodology if either
body determines that circumstances warrant. Any change in the regional

allocation factor and/or the zonal allocation methodology shall be filed
with the Commission.
2.

For each SPP RTO Expansion Plan, SPP shall calculate the cost allocation
impacts of the Base Plan Upgrades to each Transmission Customer within
the SPP Region.

The results will be reviewed for unintended

consequences by the Regional Tariff Working Group and reported to the
Markets and Operations Policy Committee and Regional State Committee.
IV.

Economic Upgrades
The cost of an Economic Upgrade shall be borne voluntarily by the Project Sponsors.

The Project Sponsors shall receive transmission revenue credits in accordance with Attachment
Z to this Tariff.
V.

Requested Upgrades
The cost of a Requested Upgrade shall be allocated in accordance with Attachment Z to

this Tariff. The Transmission Customer shall receive transmission revenue credits in accordance
with Attachment Z.
VI.

Generation Interconnection Related Network Upgrades
The cost of a generation interconnection related Network Upgrade shall be allocated in

accordance with Attachment V to this Tariff.

The Interconnection Customer shall receive

transmission credits in accordance with Attachment V.
VII.

Treatment of Upgrades that Permit Deferral or Avoidance of Base Plan Upgrades
A. Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirement
To the extent an Economic Upgrade, a Requested Upgrade or a generation
interconnection related Network Upgrade defers or displaces the need for a Base Plan
Upgrade, SPP shall calculate the Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirements that are
achievable due to such upgrade. The Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirements shall be
capped at the original project costs for the approved Base Plan Upgrade which is deferred
or displaced. If such upgrade defers or displaces the need for a Base Plan Upgrade
associated with a new or changed Designated Resources for which the costs exceed
theSafe Harbor Cost Limit, the Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirements shall be
capped at the Safe Harbor Cost Limit.

That portion of such an upgrade that defers or

displaces the need for a Base Plan Upgrade shall be considered a Base Plan Upgrade for

the purposes of cost allocation to the extent of the Base Plan Avoided Revenue
Requirements.
B.

Deferred Base Plan Upgrade
In the case of a Base Plan Upgrade that may be deferred as a result of the

Economic Upgrade, Requested Upgrade or generation interconnection related Network
Upgrade (“Deferred Base Plan Upgrade”), the achievable Base Plan Avoided Revenue
Requirement shall be equal to the time value of the affected Transmission Owner’s(s’)
revenue requirement(s) for the Deferred Base Plan Upgrade over the period of the
deferral, calculated as follows:
1.

A Transmission Owner’s annual revenue requirement for a Deferred Base
Plan Upgrade shall be determined using the same method as is used by the
Transmission Owner to calculate its revenue requirement for transmission
facilities for other purposes, but applying that method to the projected
incremental investment in the Deferred Base Plan Upgrade.

2.

The time value of the deferral shall be calculated by discounting to present
value the avoided annual revenue requirement for each individual year in
the deferral period and summing the resulting values. For each individual
year in the deferral period, the time value of the deferral will be
determined by discounting the annual revenue requirement for that year
first from January 1 of that year and then from December 31 of that year,
summing the two resulting values, and dividing by two. For any partial
year encompassed by the deferral period, the time value of the deferral
shall be calculated in the same manner as indicated in the immediately
preceding sentence, except that the resulting value will be pro-rated based
on the number of months in the partial year divided by 12.

C.

Displaced Base Plan Upgrade
In the case of a Base Plan Upgrade that may be displaced as a result of the

Economic Upgrade, Requested Upgrade or generation interconnection related Network
Upgrade (“Displaced Base Plan Upgrade”), the achievable Base Plan Avoided Revenue
Requirement shall be equal to the time value of the affected Transmission Owner’s(s’)
revenue requirement(s) for the Displaced Base Plan Upgrade over the expected service
life of the facility that is displaced. The methodology for calculating the Base Plan

Avoided Revenue Requirement shall be the same as set forth in Section VII.B. of this
Attachment, except that the expected service life of the facility shall be substituted for the
deferral period in all instances.
D.

Allocation of Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirements
The Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirements shall be allocated as follows:
1.

X% of the Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirements shall be allocated to
the Base Plan Region-wide Transmission Revenue Requirement and
recovered through the Base Plan Region-wide Charge. The initial value of
X shall be 33%.

2.

(100-X)% of the Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirements shall be
allocated to the Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue
Requirement and recovered through the Base Plan Zonal Charge. The
portion of the Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirements which shall be
allocated to the Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue
Requirement shall be allocated to the specific Zones that would have
benefited from the Base Plan Upgrade project(s) that will be deferred or
displaced.

The zonal allocation of the Base Plan Avoided Revenue

Requirements shall be determined in accordance with Section III.A. of this
Attachment and Section 4 of Attachment S to this Tariff.
3.

The Project Sponsor(s) for an Economic Upgrade, the Transmission
Customer for a Requested Upgrade or the Interconnection Customer for a
generation interconnection related Network Upgrade shall be responsible
for the net of the present value of the total costs for its upgrade less the
present value of the Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirements. The
method for determining the Base Plan Avoided Revenue Requirement
shall be filed with the Commission prior to the imposition of any charges
or credits hereunder.

VIII. Uncompleted Network Upgrades
b. The costs of Network Upgrades that are not completed through no fault of the
Transmission Owner charged with construction of the upgrades shall be handled as follows:
If a proposed Network Upgrades was included in a Transmission Provider-approved
Transmissionthe SPP RTO Expansion Plan, required by the Transmission Provider, or otherwise
accepted or approved by the Transmission Provider, the Transmission Owner(s) that incurred the
costs shall be reimbursed for those costs by the Transmission Provider. These costs shall
include, but are not limited to: the costs associated with attempting to obtain all necessary
approvals for the project and studies and any construction costs. The Transmission Provider
shall develop a mechanism to recover those costs which will be filed with the Commission on a
case by case basis.
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ATTACHMENT L
TREATMENT OF REVENUES

I.

Payments and Distribution of Revenues
Payment will be made in accord with Section 7 of the Tariff to the Transmission Provider

as agent for the Transmission Owners for all services provided under this Tariff.

The

Transmission Provider will distribute the revenues received to the Transmission Owners in
accord with the provisions of this Attachment L.
II.

Allocation of Base Transmission Service Revenues
A.

Grandfathered Agreements

Except by mutual agreement of the Parties to Grandfathered Agreements, the
Transmission Provider shall have no claim to the revenues collected under such agreements, and
shall not collect or allocate any revenues for transmission service related to such transactions.
The Transmission Owner providing the transmission service under the Grandfathered
Agreements, therefore, will continue to receive payment directly from the customer under the
Grandfathered Agreement.
B.

Network Integration Transmission Service

Revenues collected by the Transmission Provider for Network Integration Transmission
Service under Schedule 9 shall be fully allocated to the Transmission Owner(s) of the host Zone.
Where a Network Customer has designated Network Load not physically interconnected with the
Transmission System under Section 31.3, revenues collected by the Transmission Provider for
Network Integration Transmission Service for that network load shall be allocated to the
Transmission Owners on the same basis as Point-To-Point Transmission Service.

Issued by:

L. Patrick Bourne, Manager
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Point-To-Point Transmission Service

Except to the extent required under Section IV of this Attachment L, revenues collected
by the Transmission Provider for Point-To-Point Transmission Service under Schedules 7 and 8
shall be allocated as follows:
1.

Revenues

collected

by

the

Transmission

Provider

for

Point-To-Point

Transmission Service under Schedules 7 and 8 associated with power transactions where the
generation source(s) and load(s) are located within the host Zone shall be fully allocated to the
Transmission Owner of that host Zone whether the generation source is controlled by the
Transmission Owner or another entity.
2.

All other Transmission Provider Point-To-Point Transmission Service revenues

under Schedules 7 and 8 collected by the Transmission Provider (i.e., other than those revenues
specified in paragraph C.1) are shared between all Zones fifty percent (50%) in proportion to
Existing Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue Requirementsannual revenue requirements; and
fifty percent (50%) based upon the MW-mile impacts incurred by the Transmission Owners.
The Existing Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue Requirementsannual revenue requirements
used shall be those stated in Attachment H. The MW-mile impacts shall be determined by use of
the procedures in Attachment S.
3.

Where there are Transmission Owners within a Zone whose facilities have not

been included in the rates stated in Attachments H and T, the Transmission Provider will further
allocate the Point-to-Point Transmission Service revenues allocated to that Zone among the
Zone’s Transmission Owners on the same basis as the revenues are allocated to the Zone. For
the application of this provision each Transmission Owner shall have an annual revenue
requirement filed with the Commission.
III.

Allocation of Revenues from Base Plan Charges
Revenues associated with the Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue

Requirement and with the Base Plan Region-wide Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement,
specified in Attachment H and collected by the Transmission Provider under Schedule 11, shall
be allocated to Transmission Owners owning Base Plan Upgrades in proportion to their
respective annual transmission revenue requirements for Base Plan Upgrades.
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IVII. Allocation of Other Revenues
1.

Revenues associated with redispatch service will be paid to the generation owner
providing the service for the Transmission Provider.

2.

Revenues associated with Reactive Supply and Voltage Control from Generation
Sources Services under Schedule 2 will be paid to the generation owner providing
the service for the Transmission Provider consistent with the development of the
charges under Schedule 2.
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Energy or revenues received as compensation for transmission losses shall be
distributed consistent with Attachment M.

4.

Revenues associated with Scheduling and Tariff Administration Service under
Schedule 1 will remain with the Transmission Provider to pay for the costs of
providing that service (except for the revenues for related services provided by
individual Control Areas for the movement of power within, into, or out of the
respective Control Areas which shall go to the appropriate Transmission
Owner(s)).

5.

Payments associated with penalties imposed under this Tariff will be used to
reduce the Transmission Provider's Scheduling and Tariff Administration Service
costs (though the non-penalty portion of the charge will go back to the
Transmission Owner(s) that actually provided the service).

6.

Transmission Owner costs associated with System Impact and Facilities Studies
compensated by the Transmission Customer shall go to the appropriate
Transmission Owner(s).

7.

7.

The revenues associated with Direct Assignment Facilities shall go

directly to the Transmission Owner(s) owning the facilities.
8.

The revenues associated with Network Upgrades, not otherwise provided for in
Section III of this Attachment L, shall be first assigned to the Transmission
Owner building the Network Upgrades to meet the annual revenue requirements
of such facilities. If multiple Transmission Owners construct the facilities, the
revenues shall be shared in accordance with each Transmission Owner’s
respective revenue requirement for such facilities or as otherwise agreed by the
Transmission Owners. The remaining revenues shall be allocated in accordance
with Section II of this Attachment L.

98.

The revenues associated with Wholesale Distribution Service shall go directly to
the Transmission Owner(s) owning the facilities consistent with Schedule 10.
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Any additional revenues received under Section 22.1 shall be treated in the same
manner as revenues under Section II.D. of this Attachment L.

VIV. Exception to the Provisions of Section II.C of this Attachment L
Pursuant to the Agreement of the Southwest Power Pool Transmission Owners and
Southwest Power Pool for the Upgrade for the LaCygne to Stilwell 345 kV Transmission Line
(“LaCygne-Stilwell Agreement”) submitted to the FERC on February 20, 2003 in Docket No.
ER03-547, and conditionally accepted by the Commission in an order dated April 10, 2003, the
Transmission Provider and the Transmission Owners agreed to create an exception to the
provisions of this Attachment L for the sole purpose of distributing revenues associated with
upgrades to the LaCygne to Stilwell 345 kV line, as set forth in the LaCygne-Stilwell
Agreement, which has been incorporated into this Attachment L.

Issued by:

L. Patrick Bourne, Manager
Transmission and Regulatory Policy

Issued on: May 12, 2003

Effective: February 21, 2003

Southwest Power Pool
FERC Electric Tariff
Fourth Revised Volume No. 1

Original Sheet No. 175A

Agreement of the Southwest Power Pool Transmission Owners
And Southwest Power Pool
For
The Upgrade of The LaCygne to Stilwell 345 kV Transmission Line
This Agreement, entered into this 20th day of February, 2003, by and between Southwest
Power Pool, Inc. (“SPP”) and the Participating SPP Transmission Owners (collectively, “the
Parties”).
WHEREAS, SPP provides regional transmission service over the transmission systems of
the SPP Transmission Owners pursuant to an Open Access Transmission Tariff (“OATT”) filed
consistent with the Order No. 888 pro forma OATT;
WHEREAS, SPP did not foresee an obligation under the policies of the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) to renew a number of Firm Point-to-Point transmission
reservations previously granted under the SPP OATT;
WHEREAS, SPP does not presently have sufficient Available Transfer Capability
(“ATC”) on the LaCygne to Stilwell line (“the Circuit”) to renew Firm Point-to-Point
transmission service for such reservations;
WHEREAS, FERC’s recent order in Exelon Generation Co., LLC v. Southwest Power
Pool, Inc., 99 FERC ¶ 61,235, reh’g denied, 101 FERC ¶ 61,226 (2002), obligates SPP to renew
said firm transmission reservations, even though the SPP transmission system was not expanded
in anticipation of renewing said firm transmission reservations;
WHEREAS, SPP has experienced Level 5 Transmission Loading Relief due to the
Circuit limitation;
WHEREAS, the Parties desire to remedy system constraints posed by the Circuit by
reconductoring and upgrading its capacity from 1,251 MVA to 1,793 MVA;
WHEREAS, SPP anticipates a merger between it and the Midwest Independent
Transmission System Operator, Inc., forming the Resulting Company, that may occur before the
project costs are fully paid to Kansas City Power & Light Company (“Kansas City Power &
Light”) and
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that subsequent to the effective date of that merger, service will be provided to the Participating
SPP Transmission Owners under the Resulting Company OATT as successor to the SPP OATT;
WHEREAS, the elimination of the Circuit limitation will provide additional ATC and
allow the provision of additional point-to-point transmission service under the SPP OATT and
the Resulting Company OATT and provide significant additional revenue that would be
allocable to the Parties; and
WHEREAS, the Parties agree that capitalized terms used herein shall have the same
meaning as in the SPP OATT.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein,
the Parties agree as follows:
1.0

Kansas City Power & Light agrees to upgrade the Circuit by reconductoring it and
increasing the Circuit’s capacity. Kansas City Power & Light also agrees to use its best
efforts to complete the upgrade by July 1, 2003. Furthermore, Kansas City Power &
Light agrees to use its best efforts to not exceed the upgrade estimated cost of
$6,557,000.

2.0

The Parties agree to initially treat Kansas City Power & Light’s upgrade of the Circuit in
the same manner that a Direct Assignment Facility would be treated under the SPP
OATT and the revenue allocation provisions of Attachment L, Section III.7. The Parties
agree that the circumstances here are unique and that they are not by their Agreement
here agreeing in any way that this same treatment would be appropriate in other
circumstances. Future circumstances similar to this one will need to be evaluated on a
case-by-case basis.

3.0

The Parties agree that SPP and the Resulting Company shall allocate to Kansas City
Power & Light any and all transmission service revenues resulting from transmission
service agreements under Schedules 7 and 8 of the SPP Tariff entered into after the date
of this Agreement, that could not have been approved but for the reconductoring of the
Circuit. At such time as Kansas City Power & Light’s project
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cost (plus a return on invested capital) for the Circuit upgrade is recovered, subject to the
provisions of paragraph 4.0 below, SPP and the Resulting Company shall thereafter
allocate transmission service revenues from service agreements made possible by the
reconductoring of the Circuit pursuant to the applicable provisions of the SPP OATT or
the Resulting Company Transmission Owner Agreement.
4.0

In the event that the actual cost for the project exceeds the estimated project cost of
$6,557,000, the recognized project cost to Kansas City Power & Light shall be limited to
no more than $7,541,000 (115% of the estimated Cost). Any project expenditure in
excess $7,541,000 will be solely borne by Kansas City Power & Light. Additionally,
Kansas City Power & Light shall be allocated a return on invested capital at a rate of 8.25
percent per annum, applied and paid monthly on the outstanding capital balance.

5.0

Kansas City Power & Light agrees to provide the SPP, the Resulting Company and/or the
other Participating SPP Transmission Owners access to its books and records that pertain
to this project for the purpose of any necessary audit of the costs incurred in completing
the upgrade of the Circuit.

6.0

In the event that a Participating SPP Transmission Owner terminates its provision of
service under the SPP OATT or the Resulting Company OATT, such transmission owner
shall be under no further obligation pursuant to this agreement and the revenues
reallocated from the remaining Participating SPP Transmission Owners shall be adjusted
to reflect the revenue allocations that would result after the withdrawal of the terminating
Transmission Owner.

7.0

The SPP will provide monthly reports to each of the Participating SPP Transmission
Owners detailing the amount of transmission revenue allocated on behalf of each party to
Kansas City Power & Light for any month in which such revenues are allocated. The
SPP will provide monthly summary reports and quarterly detailed reports to each of the
Participating SPP Transmission Owners detailing the transmission
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service agreements under Schedules 7 and 8 of the OATT entered into after the date of
the Agreement that could not have been approved but for the reconductoring of the
Circuit.
8.0

The Parties agree that consideration will be given to recognizing the contributions of each
Party to the construction of the facility upgrade at such time as the methodologies for
allocation of Financial Transmission Rights (“FTR’s”), Congestion Revenue Rights
(“CRR’s”), or other assigned transmission rights are developed, consistent with the
requirements of authorities having jurisdiction over such allocation.

9.0

[Reserved]

10.0

This Agreement shall be binding on the successors and assigns of the Parties.

11.0

Any notice or request made to or by a Party regarding this Agreement shall be made to
the representatives of all other Parties as indicated below. Such representative and
address for notices or requests may be changed from time to time by notice by any Party.
Southwest Power Pool:
415 N. McKinley, 800 Plaza West
Little Rock, AR 72205
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Transmission Owners:
1.
American Electric Power Service Corporation as agent for Public Service
Company of Oklahoma and Southwestern Electric Power Company
Sr. VP, Transmission
825700 Tech Center Dr.
Gahanna, OH 43230
and
Director, Transmission & Interconnection Services
1 Riverside Plaza
Columbus, OH 43215
2.

City Utilities of Springfield, Missouri
301 E. Central Street
P.O. Box 551
Springfield, MO 65801

3.

Empire District Electric Company
602 S. Joplin Ave.
P.O. Box 127
Joplin, MO 64801

4.

Grand River Dam Authority
P.O. Box 772
Locust Grove, OK 74352

5.

Kansas City Power & Light Company
1201 Walnut
P.O. Box 418679
Kansas City, MO 64141-9679

6.

Oklahoma Gas & Electric Company
P.O. Box 321
Oklahoma City, OK 73101-0321

7.

Midwest Energy, Inc.
1330 Canterbury Road
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P.O. Box 898
Hays, KS 67601-1432
8.

Southwestern Power Administration
One West Third Street
Tulsa, OK 74103-3519

9.

Xcel Energy Services Inc. as agent for Southwestern Public Service Company
Southwestern Public Service Company
Attn: Dave Grover
600 Tyler Street
Amarillo, TX 79101

10.

Western Farmers Electric Cooperative
P.O. Box 429
701 N.E. 7th Street
Anadarko, OK 73305-0429

11.

Westar Energy, Inc.
Tom Stuchlik
Senior Director, Transmission Services
P.O. Box 889
818 S. Kansas Avenue
Topeka, KS 66601
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ATTACHMENT S
Procedure for Calculation of MW-Mile Impacts for Use in Assignment of Revenue
Requirements, Revenue Allocation and Determination of Losses

1.

Introduction
The purpose of this Attachment S is to provide written documentation ofset out the

procedures for calculation of MW-mile impacts for use in assignment of revenue requirements,
revenue allocation and determination of losses as implemented by the Transmission Provider.
The megawatt-mile technique is a distance based impact method of assessing transmission use
and topology recognizing that power will, to some extent, flow over all available paths from the
generating source to the load. Definitions of the models and parameters used in the calculations
are presented, as well as a description of the calculations performed by the "Megawatt-Mile
Software".

Details of the application of MW-mile impacts to the assignment of revenue

requirements, allocation of revenues and the determination of losses are discussed in
Attachments J, L and M respectively. The megawatt-mile technique is a distance based method
of calculating impacts for transmission use considering that power will, to some extent, flow
over all available paths from the generating source to the load.
2.

Definitions, Models and Parameters Used
2.1

Composition of the Network Model - The network models used in the
transmission service chargeMW-mile calculations are derived from loadflow
models of SPP system the Transmission System assembled annually by SPP.
Prior to April 1 each year, data are submitted, models assembled, modifications
required for using the models in the MW-mile impact calculations are made, and
the impact tables for the upcoming Summer and Winter seasons are computed.
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2.1.1 Seasonal Models - The seasonal models used in the calculations are the
Summer Peak Load Operating modelModel and the Winter Peak Load
Operating modelModel, as modified for use in the transmission service
charge computationsMW-mile analysis.

Modifications to the models

include some AREA (SPP Transmission Owners are represented by
AREAs in the model) renumbering and required changes to phase shifter
representations as outlined in section 2.1.4. Estimated MW-MileMWmile impacts for future Summer and Winter seasons may be calculated
using the appropriate planning model from the annual series of SPP
models.
2.1.2 Transmission Elements Included in the Transmission Service Charge
CalculationsMW-mile Analysis -– The intent in constructing the network
model(s) is to include and accurately represent all facilities that are
expected to exhibit a material response to changes on the Transmission
System.

This set of facilities may not include all facilities that are

included in a Transmission Owner’s revenue requirement.All transmission
lines and terminal equipment reflected in the Transmission Owners'
transmission accounts and included in transmission rates may be included
in the network model.
2.1.3

Transmission Facility Rating Assumptions - The ratings used are the most
limiting rating reported in the then-current SPP operating model onfor the
normal

continuous

MVA

ratingscapacity

of

each

transmission

facilitiesfacility for the applicable season. For transmission lines, these
ratings are normally the lesser of the conductor thermal rating and the
rating of terminal equipment such as switches, wave traps, etc.

For

transformers, these ratings are normally the continuous rating of the
transformers. The corresponding ratings from the applicable SPP planning
model are used in estimating MW-mile impacts for future years.
2.1.4

Modeling Phase Shifters - Phase shifting transformers within SPP are
represented based on typical operations.
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Timing of Formula Changes - Each May 1, the formula provided in Attachment H
will be modified to reflect actual data for the prior calendar year.
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Transmission Facility Ownership Representation - Transmission Owners are
required to update their transmission facility ownership representation annually.
This update shall reflect all new transmission facility additions and retirements for
the prior calendar year including any new network facilities constructed pursuant
to any regional transmission planning process.
2.23.1 Transmission Lines and Terminals - Each transmission line which is to
participatebe included in the calculation of the MW-mile impacts has a
record in a branch ownership file. This file is required by the MegawattMile Software in order to calculate MW-mile impacts for use of every
branch.

The ownership file contains two types of records for every

transmission line: one record contains the total line mileage; the other
reflects the percent of each Transmission Owner's "ownership" (i.e., for
collecting rents) of the line. If ownership percentages for a given branch
are not provided, the ownership will be divided equally to the AREA
numbers in which the buses on either end of the branch reside in the
loadflow model. If a transmission line does not have a mileage entry in
the ownership file, it will not participatebe included in the calculation
since the line mileage is not known.
2.23.2 Transformers - The transformer ownership file is similar to the branch
ownership file, except that there is no mileage record associated with the
transformer. The records for transformers serve the same function as for
transmission lines. If ownership percentages for a given branch are not
provided, the ownership will be divided equally to the AREA numbers in
which the buses on either end of the branch reside in the loadflow model.
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2.23.3 Generation and Load - The ownership representation for generation and
load is maintained in generation and load ownership files. These files are
required by the Megawatt-Mile Software in order to model transactions.
For each bus that has either generation or load, a record in the ownership
file is used to allocates to the AREAs their percent ownership. If no
record is entered for a load bus or generator bus, the ownership is
allocated to the AREA in which the bus resides in the loadflow model.
2.23.4 Representation of Utilities Outside of SPP - Utilities outside of SPP are to
be represented in the model as needed to result in accurate impact
calculations. Minimum representation for a non-Member involved in a
sale to a SPP Member is ownership of a generator bus in the nonMember's system or a generator bus judged to be electrically close to the
non-Member's system.

Similarly, minimum representation for a non-

Member involved in a purchase from a Member is ownership of a load bus
in the non-Member's system or a load bus judged to be electrically close to
the non-Member's system.
3.

Calculating the Impacts for Transmission ServiceRevenue Allocation and

Determination of Losses
3.1

Explanation of the Impact Calculation - The megawatt-mile approach is a distance
based method of assessing transmission service impacts considering that power
will, to some extent, flow over all available paths from the generating source to
the load.

The distribution of flows over each and every facility due to

transactions between each combination of potential parties is calculated. The
megawatt-mile method of calculating transmission service charges utilizes two
computer programs known as the Megawatt-Mile Software to accomplish the
necessary computations.

A commercially available power systems analysis

software package, PTI's PSS/E, is used to performs the necessary network flow
calculations through activity MWMI, which was written specifically for this
application. MWMI also keeps track of cost information and branch, load, and
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generation ownership. A second stand alone program is required to read the
output of MWMI and to develop allocation factors.
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The "Megawatt-Mile" Method
(a)

The megawatt-mile technique starts from a solved loadflow model of the
Transmission Systemsystem.

Transactions are modeled between each

combination of potential parties by changing generation on the sending, or
selling end, and changing the load on the receiving, or buying end. The
amount by which the generation and load are changed is small. A linear
analysis technique is then used to determine the distribution of flows on
each branch in the network. This value is used in subsequent calculations.
(b)

Individual branch chargesimpacts are calculated given the flow on the
branch due to the transaction and the line mileage (for transmission lines)
as described in sSection 2.2 and 2.3. The individual branch impacts for
transmission lines are determined as follows:
Transmission Line Impacts = P * L [MW-miles]
where

(c)

P

=

calculated flow due to the transaction

L

=

line length in miles

Similarly, the individual branch impacts for transformers are determined
as follows:
Transformer Impacts = P * mile [MW-miles]
where
P

(d)

=

calculated flow due to the transaction.

The sum of all the individual branch impacts for each Transmission
Owner is calculated in units MW-miles. These chargesimpacts can be
summarized, by Transmission Owner, for all combinations of power
transfers between Transmission Owner systems.
MW-mile Impacts
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Application to Service Charge RatesDetermination of Losses - Transmission
service MW-mile impacts using this MW-mile methodology shall be set forth in
matrices developed by SPP and posted on SPP OASIS. The matrices shall be
changed twice per year. The Summer season shall consist of the months of June
through September inclusive. The Winter season shall consist of the months of
October through May inclusive.

3.45

Generator and Load Dispatch - All capacity transactions are simulated as coming
from all of a seller's on-line generation, except for that generation which is
already fully loaded, in proportion to unit MVA base (nameplate rating). The
transaction is simulated as delivered to all of the buyer's load.

Energy transactions are simulated as coming from all of the seller's on-line generation,
except for that generation which is already fully loaded, in proportion to the unit MVA base
(nameplate rating) and delivered to all of the buyer's load.
Each load on a bus at which the buyer represents load ownership picks upwill be
allocated a proportionate amount of the transaction. The portion of the transaction picked up
atallocated to any given bus is the amount of load owned by the buyer on that bus divided by the
total load owned by the buyer.
4.

Calculating the Impact for Base Plan Zonal Annual Transmission Revenue

Requirement Assignment
The zonal portion of the revenue requirements associated with Base Plan Upgrades shall
be assigned to Zones using the Incremental MW-mile Benefit Determination. SPP shall develop
a summer season model of the Transmission System, as specified in this Attachment S, using the
most recent information available, that includes all of the transmission enhancements included in
the approved SPP RTO Expansion Plan. For this benefit determination, a comparison is made
between this model with all upgrades in service and with each approved upgrade removed. The
difference in MW-mile impacts for each Zone provides the information necessary for the
determination of the magnitude of benefit for each Zone.
4.1

Explanation of the Incremental MW-mile Benefit Determination Calculation –
The incremental MW-mile is determined by building the base case with all Base
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Plan Upgrades in service. A MW-mile calculation is performed by measuring the
flows on each line multiplied by the distance as described in Section 3.2. The net
change of the MW-mile impacts is used for this calculation. Then a benefit
determination calculation is made with each new transmission upgrade removed
individually. The reduction in MW-mile impact due to each new transmission
upgrade is the measure of its zonal benefit.
4.2
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ATTACHMENT Z
Aggregate Transmission Service Study Procedures

1.

Introduction
This attachment describes the process used to evaluate long-term transmission

service requests using an Aggregate Transmission Service Study process.

The

Transmission Provider will combine all long-term point-to-point and long-term
designated network resource requests received during a specified period of time into a
single aggregate transmission service study. Using this aggregate study process, SPP will
combine all requests received during an open season to conclude an optimal expansion of
the transmission system that provides the necessary ATC to accommodate all such
requests at the minimum total cost. This attachment also details cost allocation, cost
recovery, and credits associated with the new facilities.

For the purposes of this

Attachment Z, all Transmission Owners that are not taking Network Integration
Transmission Service will be treated the same as Transmission Customers taking
Network Integration Transmission Service.

2.

Open Season
The Aggregate Transmission Service Study process commences with the

initiation of an open season. The open season will be 4 months in duration. During that
period, customers may make requests for long-term transmission service that start no
earlier than 4 months after the close of the season. Customers may submit and withdraw
requests during the open season without any obligation. At the close of the open season,
the Aggregate System Impact Study (ASIS) will include only queued requests for which

Aggregate System Impact Study Agreements (ASISAs) have been executed. At the close
of the open season, customer will have 15 days to execute such ASISAs per Section 19.
Existing long-term firm service Customers who desire to exercise a reservation priority
under Section 2.2 shall do so pursuant to the terms of Section 2.2 and shall not be
included in the aggregate study.

3.

Aggregate Impact Study

a.

At the close of the Open Season, all transmission service requests subject to an

ASISA will be included in the ASIS. This study shall be done in accordance with
Section 19. The power flow models shall be developed for each season for the period
from the earliest start of service to the latest end of service for the applicable requests.
The models will include all other applicable existing reservations having equal or greater
queue priority including prospective renewals of existing service having a reservation
priority pursuant to Section 2.2. System constraints will be identified and appropriate
upgrades determined during the ASIS. The Transmission Provider shall determine the
upgrades required to reliably provide all of the requested service. SPP shall also perform
a regional review of the required upgrades to determine if alternative solutions would
reduce overall cost to customers. The Transmission Provider shall estimate the total cost
of these upgrades.

b.

SPP shall recognize constraints due to contractually limited facilities and allocate

available capacity on a first come first served basis on the contractual constraint only.

2

c.

Within the ASIS the Transmission Provider will identify the facilities limiting the

availability of the requested aggregate transmission service and the upgrades required to
provide this service. It will also provide an estimate of the cost of those upgrades. The
assignment of upgrade costs to each reservation will be provided to enable customers to
estimate their costs. Upon receipt of the Impact Study, customers will have 15 days to
execute an Aggregate Facilities Study Agreement (AFSA) per Section 19.

4.

Aggregate Facilities Study
The Transmission Provider shall perform an Aggregate Facilities Study including

the requests of all customers who have executed an Aggregate Facilities Study
Agreement (AFSA). The first phase of the facilities study process shall consist of a
revision of the impact study to reflect the withdrawal of requests for which an AFSA was
not executed, if any. The Aggregate Facilities Study shall be done in accordance with
Section 19 of the Tariff. The Transmission Provider, in conjunction with the applicable
Transmission Owners, shall determine the necessary cost and lead-time for construction
of each upgrade and the estimated cost of service for each request. The Transmission
Provider, in conjunction with the applicable Transmission Owners, shall determine the
optimal set of solutions to reduce the overall costs for the study group and reliably
provide the requested service in a timely manner.

5.

Cost Allocation

a.

For the purpose of determining the cost responsibility for each transmission

service request, all upgrades required to provide transmission service for all transmission
service reservations included in an Aggregate Facilities Study shall be included in an
3

Aggregate Cost Allocation Assessment.

The cost of each transmission upgrade

component will be allocated to each customer in the aggregation group on a pro-rata
impact basis as provided in paragraph b.

The cost of a facility upgrade shall be

allocated to all customers in the aggregate group whose reservation period begins after
commercial operation date of a facility upgrade (COD) or begins before the COD of a
facility and extends past the COD. If an upgrade is first required during a season after
completion of service, no cost would be assigned to the customer. With regard to the
cost allocation, SPP shall review all upgrades and determine the earliest date that each
upgrade is required. This date is considered the COD for each upgrade. All requests that
have a positive impact on the upgrade and for which the service has not been completed
prior to the COD for such upgrade, shall be allocated costs for the upgrade. These
requests shall be reviewed and the request that ends at the latest point in time (End of
Term: EOT), shall define the amortization period for the facility.

b.

An allocation of the cost of each facility upgrade to each request shall be

determined on a pro-rata basis for the positive incremental power flow impacts of the
requested service on such upgraded facility in proportion to the total of all incremental
impacts on such upgraded facility. For each upgraded facility identified, the average
incremental power flow impact of each request in the aggregate study shall be determined
using each summer model available for the aggregate study period, after the COD of such
upgraded facility.

Each impact amount shall be determined by first establishing an

initial case that excludes flows associated with all requests included in the Aggregate
Facilities Study. Then each request will be added to the model and the change in flow
across such upgraded facility shall be determined for each request included in the
4

Aggregate Facilities Study. The cost of an upgrade allocated to each request shall be
proportional to the average positive incremental impact of each request on such facility
divided by the total average positive incremental impact of all requests included in the
Aggregate Facilities Study on such upgraded facility. The cost of each upgrade shall be
allocated to requests independently. Incremental flows having a negative impact on an
upgraded facility shall be ignored.

c.

After concluding the above cost allocations to each reservation in the aggregate

group, the Transmission Provider shall determine the charges for each request by using
the levelized monthly revenue requirement associated with the transmission service
requested by each customer in the aggregate group. This levelized monthly revenue
requirement is determined by calculating the present worth of the revenue requirements
associated with the upgrades as allocated to each customer in the aggregate group and
then calculating an appropriate monthly amount for each customer in the aggregate group
for each respective reservation.

6.

Cost Recovery:

a.

For Point-to-Point Service, the levelized monthly revenue requirement derived

from the cost allocation process shall be compared to the charge applicable for each
request under the base transmission service rates of Schedule 7, Section 1, and each
customer shall be required to pay the higher of the total monthly base rate charges or the
monthly revenue requirement associated with the facility upgrades.

For Network

Integration Service customers the charge shall be a direct assignment charge pursuant to
Schedule 9, Section 4 and each customer will be required to pay the monthly revenue
5

requirement associated with the facility upgrades in addition to the total monthly base
rate charges applicable under Schedule 9, Section 1.

Customers paying the above

charges may receive credits in accordance with paragraph b of this section.
b.

Any charges paid by a customer in excess of the transmission service base rate in

compensation for the revenue requirements for allocated facility upgrade(s) shall be
recovered by such customer from future transmission service revenues until the customer
has been fully compensated. Such amount shall be recovered, with interest calculated in
accordance with 18 CFR §35.19a(a)(2)(ii), from new point-to-point service that increases
loading on the new facility upgrade in the direction of the initial overload. For each new
point-to-point reservation having such loading impact on such new facility upgrade, made
after the facility upgrade is completed (EOC date), the customer shall receive a portion of
the transmission service charge equal to the positive response factor of such new
reservation on the upgraded facility times the new reservation capacity times the rate
applicable to such new reservation. The response factor shall be calculated on a monthly
basis. This allocation from new service shall continue until the customer has been fully
compensated for all charges paid in excess of the normally applicable transmission access
charges pursuant to Schedules 7, 8 or 9 and 11transmission service base rate.
c.

Each Transmission Customer shall be required to pay the monthly revenue

requirement associated with the cost of facility upgrades that were directly assigned to
that Transmission Customer in accordance with Section III.B. of Attachment J, in
addition to any other applicable charges under this Tariff. Transmission Customers
paying the above charges may receive credits in accordance with paragraph d of this
section.
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d.

Any charges paid by the Transmission Customer in excess of the transmission

service base rate in compensation for the revenue requirements for allocated facility
upgrade(s) shall be recovered by such Transmission Customer from future transmission
service revenues until that Transmission Customer has been fully compensated. Such
amount shall be recovered, with interest calculated in accordance with 18 CFR
§35.19a(a)(2)(ii), from new point-to-point service that increases loading on the new
facility upgrade in the direction of the initial overload. For each new point-to-point
reservation having such loading impact on such new facility upgrade, made after the
facility upgrade is completed (EOC date), the customer shall receive a portion of the
transmission service charge equal to the positive response factor of such new reservation
on the upgraded facility times the new reservation capacity times the rate applicable to
such new reservation. The response factor shall be calculated on a monthly basis. This
allocation from new service shall continue until the Transmission Customer(s) has been
compensated for all charges paid in excess of the normally applicable transmission access
charges pursuant to Schedules 7, 8 or 9 and 11.
7.

Transmission Owner Upgrades:
Each SPP Transmission Owner shall possess the right of first refusal to obtain all

rights and responsibilities afforded to customers under this Attachment Z by assuming the
cost responsibility for any or all of the upgrades to their facilities or new facilities which
it constructs to provide transmission service pursuant to this Attachment Z.

If a

Transmission Owner elects to exercise this right of first refusal, the cost of the upgrade
shall not be allocated to the requests in the aggregate group. SPP shall notify each
Transmission Owner of the upgrades required and provide the Transmission Owner the
opportunity to exercise its right of first refusal.
7

8.

Future Roll-In:
When a facility upgrade being paid for pursuant to the provisions of this

Attachment Z is rolled into the revenue requirements used for the development of
generally applicable transmission service rates, the Transmission Owner that constructed
the facility upgrade shall pay the remaining balance of each customer’s unrecovered
payments described in Section 6 b that are applicable to that facility upgrade. All
customers and Transmission Owners who have upgraded facilities and have remaining
balances subject to cost recovery pursuant to Section 6, Cost Recovery, of this
Attachment Z, shall be paid in full. The customer shall continue to pay the charges
specified in the customer’s transmission service agreement for the transmission service
initially reserved.
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Provide a detailed plan of how SPP will perform each control area function and define what will
be required of each control area to transfer its responsibility for that function to SPP;

•

Draft language for the SPP Criteria which will allow SPP to assume additional control area
functions (e.g., a requirement for regulation reserves); and

•

Develop pilot programs for the various control area functions to be assumed by SPP and solicit
participation from member control areas to test SPP’s performance of those functions.
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1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS
As a result of FERC’s February 2004 Order to SPP, the Operating Reliability Working Group
(ORWG) established the Operational Control Task Force (OCTF) in the spring of 2004. One of
the OCTF’s tasks was to prepare a Control Area Consolidation Feasibility study. This study
would detail benefits, costs, timing and issues with reduction of the number of control areas
and/or consolidation of certain control area functions within the SPP RTO. This study is to be
filed with FERC by February 2005.
The OCTF began its task by reviewing the control area functions and responsibilities as defined
in the NERC Functional Model. This review included identifying those functions currently
performed by SPP and those still performed by the individual control areas. In the terminology
outlined in the functional model, the task force looked strictly at the functions related to the
balancing authority. Other functions traditionally performed by control areas, such as
transmission operations, will remain in place.
For balancing authority functions anticipated to be performed by the individual control areas
after SPP initiates its imbalance market, the OCTF developed a survey questionnaire, which was
sent to the 11 control areas that have their facilities under the transmission tariff (or anticipate
doing so). This survey asked the control areas to identify any additional costs or benefits they
would incur if SPP took over various balancing authority functions. The survey also asked
control areas to indicate whether or not they would be willing to participate in the transfer of
balancing authority functions to SPP. In addition to the survey, the OCTF prepared two sample
analyses of the reduction in regulation requirements by combining all SPP control areas into a
single ACE calculation using either supplemental regulation or overlap regulation options. The
OCTF also requested that SPP staff estimate the additional costs that SPP would incur if it were
to take on the additional control area functions currently performed by individual control areas.
Control area responses to the survey questionnaire indicate that there are no significant barriers
to combining the individual SPP control areas into one or more larger control areas. The general
consensus of the responses is that cost savings and benefits will occur with a consolidation of
control areas. However, it was noted by several respondents that the cost savings and benefits
are difficult to quantify without a better definition of the functions to be performed by SPP and
what would be expected of the control areas in the transfer of those functions to SPP. Several
respondents indicated a willingness to participate in the transfer of various control area functions
to SPP, at least on a trial basis. Some respondents indicated a need for more definition of certain
control area functions and how SPP would perform them before committing to transfer those
functions to SPP.
The analysis of implementing supplemental or overlap regulation service by SPP shows a
significant reduction in individual control area regulation requirements. It is difficult to quantify
these cost savings as they are dispersed in small incremental savings in generator heat rate and
operation & maintenance expenses.
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The cost estimate for SPP undertaking additional control area functions are $100,000 of up front
hardware and software expense and $500,000 to $1,000,000 per year of on-going expenses for
additional SPP operating staff. Members expect to incur, in total, about $400,000 in up front
costs and between 2 and 4 man-months of effort. Some members, however, expected to incur
costs but could not quantify them at this time.
Some members have recognized savings from SPP acting as their scheduling agent for control
area approval. In addition, there are opportunities for savings for at least some members
resulting from the reduction in the need for balancing authority certification and system operator
certification requirements and the continuing expense of maintaining such certifications
(including expected increases in training requirements). The number of control areas that need
to commit transferring balancing authority functions to SPP in order to provide a net benefit has
not yet been determined. A net savings is expected to be realized with less than all control areas
under the regional tariff commiting to transfer such functions.
In summary the OCTF believes that the consolidation of SPP control areas is technically
feasible. Because significant SPP staff and member resources are currently being utilized for
implementation of the imbalance market, it would be wise to postpone implementation until after
SPP’s imbalance market is operational. Additional analysis and study is needed to determine
cost savings and benefits from transfer of control area functions to SPP. The OCTF makes the
following recommendations to the ORWG:
•
•
•

Provide a detailed plan of how SPP will perform each control area function and define
what will be required of each control area to transfer its responsibility for that function
to SPP;
Draft language for the SPP Criteria which will allow SPP to assume additional control
area functions (e.g., a requirement for regulation reserves); and
Develop pilot programs for the various control area functions to be assumed by SPP
and solicit participation from member control areas to test SPP’s performance of those
functions.
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2 BACKGROUND
2.1 Reason for the study
In its October 15, 2003 filing, Southwest Power Pool (“SPP”) applied for recognition as a
Regional Transmission Organization (RTO) with the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission (“FERC”). FERC responded to this filing in its Order dated February 10,
2004 (Docket Nos.RT04-1-000, ER04-48-000). In this Order FERC directed SPP to
meet several conditions prior to being officially recognized as an RTO. In October 2004
FERC recognized those conditions had been met, giving SPP official RTO recognition.
In its order to SPP issued February 10, 2004, FERC identified the following additional
requirement, “While we share many of the concerns intervenors identified, we will not, at this
time, require SPP to have a single control area. We will, however, require SPP to study the
feasibility of reducing its control areas and provide the Commission, within one year of the date
of this order, the outcome of its study” (¶ 81).

2.2 Methodology
2.2.1 Task Force Formation, Membership and Scope
In reviewing the order, the ORWG chose to create a task force to address two of the issues raised
in the February 10, 2004, order. The OCTF was formed at the March 8, 2004 Operating
Reliability Working Group meeting. The issues assigned to the task force were (1) to draft a
report clarifying SPP’s operational authority as an RTO and (2) prepare a study assessing the
feasibility of reducing control areas within SPP.
The group was cross-functional in at least two respects. First, membership was assigned
representing control areas, TDUs and IPPs. The membership also represented different working
groups in SPP dealing with operational reliability, tariff design and market design. The group
was initially comprised of members from Western Farmers Electric Cooperative, Arkansas
Electric Cooperatives, Calpine, Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority, Kansas City Power and
Light, Westar, Oklahoma Gas and Electric and SPP. There was also additional participation from
others (for example, state regulatory staff) from time to time.
The responsibilities assigned to the OCTF were to:
·
Prepare a report demonstrating SPP’s “hands on involvement with day to day
operations” using NERC’s proposed functional model. This report was due with SPP
compliance file on the RTO order May 2004.
·
Prepare a study to assess the timing, costs and feasibility of reducing the number of
control areas within SPP. This report is due to the FERC February 10, 2005.

3

In its efforts, the OCTF sought input from various groups within SPP, including its parent group
(the ORWG), the Markets and Operations Policy Committee and the Board of Directors.

2.2.2 Operational Authority Reference Document
The initial report produced by the group was the Operational Authority Reference Document.
As one of the prerequisites to RTO recognition, FERC directed SPP to adopt the NERC
functional model and use the document as the basis to clarify how SPP had the operational
authority needed for it to become an RTO.
This document was filed and later, to meet additional requirements, became part of the SPP
Membership Agreement. It also served as the starting point for the OCTF’s second task of
assessing the feasibility of reducing the control areas inside of SPP.
The Operational Authority Reference Document identified the entities currently responsible for
each task outlined in the NERC functional model. Among the entities listed were Control Areas,
SPP, Transmission Operators, Generation Operators and Transmission Owners.
The approach undertaken as a group in its feasibility study was to examine the effort it would
take to move the tasks currently assigned to control areas to other entities, principally SPP.

2.2.3 Regulation Diversity Analysis
One of the areas studied prior to the creation of the task force is the area of regulation diversity.
It is commonly believed that, as the boundary of a control area increases geographically in size,
the amount of regulation service needed to serve the growing area becomes increasingly less on
a percentage basis. This is because regulation needs become more diverse as the area expands.
The result is that the effort to regulate a larger area will often be less than the effort needed to
regulate smaller areas within it.
It was therefore decided that this study should address the possibilities of cost savings through
efficiencies in providing regulation for the whole of SPP instead of the several control areas
within it.
1
Unfortunately the effort required to retrieve the needed data is quite intensive. As a result, two
days were selected from the previous 12-month period: one representing a peak day, and the
other representing a mild day. For each 10-second period, the Area Control Error was measured
for each control area for which SPP collects such data. The results were then compiled into
MWH of “upward regulation” needed and MWH of “downward regulation” needed. This serves
as a proxy of the “regulation effort” of each of the SPP members prior to realizing any diversity
savings.
1

It took approximately 1 man-day for SPP to retrieve 24 hours of ACE information from
its database. This procedure could be automated if it becomes necessary to retrieve this
data often.
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After a methodology for sharing diversity was applied2, the reduction in “regulation effort” was
measured. The difference, as a percentage, would indicate the amount of effort saved by
consolidating control areas within SPP. Results of the analysis are discussed in Section 6.2.

2.2.4 Control Area Survey Process
The task force believed that input from control areas was important in assessing feasibility. A
survey was designed with the following objectives:
1. To assess the effort and costs required for control areas to transfer the information
needed for each balancing authority task so that SPP could perform it.
2. To assess any benefits from having SPP perform these tasks.
3. To identify any concerns associated with transferring balancing authority tasks to
SPP.
Surveys were issued to each control area anticipated to be part of SPP’s initial energy imbalance
market. Conference calls were conducted to discuss the survey in detail and answer participants’
particular questions. Each control area submitted a response. These responses were modified
for anonymity and are attached, in summary form, in Section 9.3.

2

The ACE sharing methodology from the 2001 Control Area Implementation Task Force
final report was utilized. The methodology is outlined in Section 9.6.
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3 CONTROL AREA CONCEPTS
A control area, as defined by NERC is, “An electrical system bounded by interconnection (tieline) metering and telemetry. It controls generation directly to maintain its interchange schedule
with other control areas and contributes to frequency regulation of the interconnection.” NERC
is phasing out the term “control area.” In the new NERC Functional Model, functions
traditionally performed by control areas are represented by various terms, such as “balancing
authority,” “transmission operator” and others.
In looking at the concerns expressed by interveners in the filing, the stated concerns dealt
exclusively with the Balancing Authority functions described in the NERC document entitled
Functional Definitions and Responsible Entities, Version 2. As a result, this study centers
around Balancing Authority functions.
Because control areas are traditionally operated by vertically integrated utilities, there are often
misconceptions of the responsibilities associated with operating a control area. Often these
misconceptions are that “control area” and “transmission operator” are synonymous. Rather,
balancing authorities\, as defined, are not centered around the ability to operate a transmission
system. The concept, rather, is to be able to balance resources and obligations in a reliable
manner.
To function as a balancing authority, the key tasks an entity needs to perform are essentially (1)
monitoring interchange schedules, (2) monitoring tie line telemetry, (3) reconciling metered
values with neighboring control areas and (3) formulating a plan to ensure that obligations in the
balancing authority are met. As a result, the scope of this analysis is limited strictly to the
transference of operations and data only for a balancing authority in its strictest definition.
Because this is currently a relatively minor role for utility operations centers, there was, early on,
no expectation of dramatic savings from items such as reduced staffing or consolidated facilities.
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4 STATED CONCERNS WITH MULITPLE CONTROL AREAS
4.1 Intervener issues raised in the RTO filing
4.1.1 Control Area Barriers to Ancillary Service Markets
|Concerns were raised by Transmission Dependent Utilities (TDU’s) regarding the ability to
obtain ancillary services. Specifically, the order stated, “Further, TDU Intervenors argue,
multiple control areas also undermine comparability and creates inefficiency, while artificially
subdividing the market for regulation service and potentially spinning reserves.”
Section 4.1.2 below addresses the issues of regulation service. SPP has stated its goal to study
the costs and benefits of implementing various ancillary services markets in addition to the initial
energy imbalance market. To the extent that the benefits of implementing such markets exceed
the costs, SPP expects to implement such markets.
Over a third of control areas that responded to the OCTF survey indicated that they had provided
regulation services to entities outside their control area. Furthermore, the SPP tariff allows
customers to source transactions from anywhere within the SPP footprint for a fixed, zonal rate.
Therefore it does not appear that control areas provide a barrier to the procurement of ancillary
services.

4.1.2 Control Areas and Regulation Deployment
TDU’s are concerned with regulation involving the number of generators on Automatic
Generation Control (AGC) within multiple control areas versus the need for fewer generators on
AGC associated with fewer or one control area.
The Control Area Survey addresses these issues via Task 1 on control of generation, load, and
scheduled interchange and Task 2 on calculating ACE. These tasks show SPP can be a more
effective provider of regulation service. Please refer to Section 6.2.

4.2 Hierarchy of Control
SPP, as an RTO, has functional control over the facilities in the RTO footprint. In order to
monitor those facilities, SPP collects data from the energy management systems of each of its
members and uses an operational state estimator. This data includes various aspects of the
system, such as transmission line power flows, voltages and generator output.
SPP does various assessments of this data and uses its assessments to direct actions to maintain
system reliability, or to restore system reliability in the event of an emergency. SPP’s control
model is similar to that used by MISO, PJM and others.

4.2.1 Response to 2003 Blackout Concerns
Interveners in SPP’s various RTO-related filings had expressed concern that relying on member
systems for data collection contributed to the August 14, 2003, blackout. SPP collects the data
7

needed to act as reliability coordinator and assesses data independently of its members.
Members are obligated to abide by SPP’s operational instructions. As a result, SPP does not
believe it suffers from any of the complications that contributed to the 2003 blackout.
Furthermore, as a result of studies done after the 2003 blackout, SPP has followed industry
recommendations and enhanced key areas of its operations and attained better visibility of the
RTO’s transmission system in its entirety among several other improvements.
The consolidation of control areas does not inherently give SPP any additional reliability data
beyond what it collects today. It is therefore believed that the number of control areas does not
affect SPP’s ability to maintain reliability.

4.3 Wholesale Market Impediments
Interveners in SPP’s initial RTO filing also stated that multiple control areas were an
impediment to the development of wholesale energy markets. SPP’s current imbalance market
design is designed to work with multiple control areas with no significant impediments placed on
participants due to having multiple control areas. Furthermore, the regional transmission tariff
allows for the delivery of power anywhere within SPP without regard for control areas.
SPP’s market centers around a security-constrained economic dispatch that optimizes resources
across the market footprint without respect to control area boundaries. Thus many of the
efficiencies that would be realized within a single control area will already be realized by SPP’s
imbalance market. The task force, therefore, does not believe multiple control areas impede
wholesale energy markets.
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5 IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES
In the task force’s discussion of the possibility of reducing the control areas in SPP, certain
issues were raised that should be addressed prior to consolidation. These issues are not part of
the scope of this analysis, but it would be important to address them prior to moving forward.

5.1 Allocation of responsibility for meeting Control Area
Performance Criteria
The Balancing Authority has the ability to direct generation in order to meet its control
performance criteria. By doing so, the Balancing Authority is meeting its requirement to support
the reliability of the Interconnection. In directing generation, however, there is a need for SPP to
perform an assessment of whether generators are performing at their expectations. There also
needs to be a way of making sure those who do not perform are identified and appropriate action
is taken.

5.2 Allocation of implementation costs
The study presumes that the transfer of Balancing Authority functions will be voluntary. The
issue of how to allocate costs will be addressed by SPP’s Board of Directors at the time of
implementation.

5.3 Allocation of regulation costs/benefits
If the entire region benefits from regulation diversity, there is an issue on how those benefits are
shared. For those providing regulation service, is there a need for compensation other than what
might be provided to them through the imbalance market.

5.4 Criteria for regulation reserve requirements
Currently there are no criteria for SPP to have a regulation reserve requirement. This is currently
left to control areas and presumed to be adequate as long as CPS and DCS are being met.
Should SPP undertake this, however, the task force believes that criteria for regulation reserve be
formulated. It also would be necessary to have criteria prior to implementing a facilitated
reserves market.

5.5 Limited resources applied to various SPP initiatives
SPP staff and member operations personnel are addressing various SPP initiatives, including
implementation of the real-time energy imbalance market. The task force believes that any
transfers of balancing authority obligations should occur after the energy imbalance market
comes on-line. As a result of the energy imbalance market, much of the systems and
infrastructure (such as data communications) will be in place to facilitate the ability to provide
balancing authority functions.
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5.6 Regulatory Approval
Some members may be facing an issue with whether the transfer of balancing authority functions
would require state regulatory approval.
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6 ANALYSIS
Much of the work of the task force centered around administering a survey of control areas and
examining the potential for gaining efficiency in regulation due to ACE diversity.

6.1 Control Area Survey Results
The survey results are summarized in Section 9.3. Survey participants identified nothing that
would pose a significant barrier toward SPP providing balancing authority functions. In terms of
identifiable costs and effort, members that could quantify cost estimated that it would cost about
$400,000 (total) to enhance their systems to be able to transfer the information necessary. Other
members cited an additional 2- to 4 man-months of effort. A few members indicated that they
could not quantify costs that would be incurred.
There is a benefit due to the diversity of the region reducing the amount of regulation
deployment required. Cost savings from reduced effort for regulation, however, are difficult to
quantify, and neither the task force nor any of the survey participants could propose a method to
measure these savings as a dollar amount.

6.2 Regulation Efficiencies
An earlier SPP study completed in 2001 proposed a methodology whereby the regulation
diversity in the SPP footprint could be realized by combining individual control area ACE values
and allocating the result in a manner to reduce the effort required for regulation.
Ten-second ACE data was collected for each control area in SPP for a typical summer day and a
typical spring day. The data was analyzed using the 2001 methodology, and the results indicate
that regulation effort (in terms of energy) could be significantly reduced. Each of the days
studied indicated approximately a 30 percent reduction in the effort required for regulation. That
suggests that there are efficiencies that could be realized either through a regulation market or
from some other means (such as a cost-sharing arrangement).
Additionally, it is expected that the regulation efficiency realized could result in the reduction of
required capacity to serve load. That reduction, however, may not be in proportion to the
reduction of regulation effort discussed above.
Section 9.5 has a graphical summary of how reduced regulation would affect select control areas
within SPP.
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7 IMPLEMENTATION MILESTONES
The implementation plan should have the following milestones.

7.1 Development of SPP Criteria for Balancing Authority
responsibility
Criteria need to be developed to dictate how the balancing authority (whether SPP or members)
should measurably demonstrate it is meeting its responsibilities, particularly with respect to
regulation. 3 Criteria should also include:
1. Who in SPP is responsible for obtaining the services;
2. How much of any service is required;
3. Who in SPP is responsible for providing the services;
4. How do you measure whether the service was provided; and
5. What to do if an entity fails to meet its obligation.

7.2 Implementation of SPP Imbalance Market
The analyses of the task force were premised upon SPP successfully implementing its imbalance
market. In doing so, much of the infrastructure and system will be in place to facilitate SPP
becoming a balancing authority. Additionally, resource constraints would make it extremely
difficult to attempt to implement Balancing Authority functions simultaneously with attempting
to bring the imbalance market online.

7.3 Develop Compensation Model for Regulation Service
7.3.1 Ancillary Service Markets Cost/Benefit Analysis
SPP expects to undertake a study to determine the costs and benefits related to ancillary service
markets as part of its phased plan for market implementation. The results of the study will have
some bearing on the timetable and ability for SPP to offer Balancing Authority services.

7.3.2 Cost-based Compensation Model for Ancillary Services
As an alternative to waiting for a full market design, SPP could provide these services sooner
provided that a method is developed to deal with compensation issues other than through
markets. It is believed that SPP could utilize its exisiting Schedule 3 in the SPP Regional Tariff
as a basis to charge for regulation service.

7.4 Detailed Transition Plan
A detailed transition plan would need to be developed prior to implementation. The plan could
provide for an incremental approach to SPP becoming balancing authority in the sense that
3

Additional SPP criteria should be formulated regardless of whether there is a
consolidaton of Balancing Authorities within SPP
12

control areas would transfer Balancing Authority functions over time. The plan could provide
for a pilot program to realize the benefits associated with ACE diversity independent of the
cost/benefit analysis for regulation markets.
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8 TRANSITION OVERVIEW AND POSSIBLE TIMEFRAME
The OCTF believes that SPP should not attempt to consolidate any Balancing Authority
functions within SPP until after the EIS market has come online. The following timeline is
proposed if Balancing Authority functions are consolidated independently of SPP’s facilitation
of ancillary service markets.
Task
Development of Criteria
Energy Imbalance Market
Development of compensation model for
ancillary services
Detailed system design

Estimated Time to Completion
6 to 9 months
October 1, 2005 (milestone)
6 months after development of criteria

In parallel with compensation model,
ending 2 months after its completion
SPP system upgrades and testing
4 months after detailed system design
Member system upgrades and testing
4 months after detailed system design
Balancing Authority consolidation begins No earlier than 2Q 2006.
The following timeline is proposed if Balancing Authority consolidation depends upon SPP’s
facilitation of ancillary service markets.
Task
Development of Criteria
Energy Imbalance Market
Ancillary Service Cost/Benefit Analysis
Detailed Ancillary Service Market
Design
SPP system upgrades and testing
Member system upgrades and testing
Balancing Authority consolidation begins

Estimated Time to Completion
6 to 9 months
October 1, 2005 (milestone)
6 months after EIS market online
3 months after Cost/Benefit Analysis
(assuming start prior to analysis)
8 months after detailed design
8 months after detailed design
No earlier than 1Q 2007
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
FINANCE COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors
January 7, 2005
Roster:
Harry Skilton, Chair
Bob Schoenberger
Gary Voigt
Trudy Harper
Doug Henry
Michael Desselle

Director
Director
Arkansas Electric Coop Corp
Tenaska
Westar Energy
AEP

Background
The Finance Committee submitted to the Board of Directors at its July 27, 2004 meeting
a recommendation defining the obligations of members upon withdrawal. The Finance
Committee, at that same meeting, took on the responsibility to submit draft language
which could be adopted in the SPP Membership Agreement to further clarify the financial
obligation and commitments of members upon withdrawal from SPP.
Analysis
Arnie Podgorsky, a commercial law attorney at Wright & Talisman in Washington D.C.
was engaged to draft language to better detail the obligations of members upon
withdrawal. The Finance Committee met on October 8, 2004, October 18, 2004, and
November 30, 2004 to review and edit numerous revisions to the initial draft. Following
the November 30, 2004 meeting, final revisions were made to the document and the
Finance Committee members voted to accept as final those changes and recommend to
the Board of Directors adoption of the language in the SPP Membership Agreement.
Recommendation
The Finance Committee recommends that the SPP Board of Directors incorporate the
attached language detailing the financial obligations and commitments of members upon
withdrawal from Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Approved:

Finance Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

January 7, 2005

Draft Revisions Following FC Meeting 113004
Discussion Only

Proposed Revisions to SPP Membership Agreement
Withdrawal/Termination Provisions

[New Definitions to be added to definition section:]
“Existing Obligations” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.2(b).
“Financial Obligations” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.2(b).
“Future Interest” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.2(b).
“Partial Termination” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.1.
“Termination” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.1.
“Termination Date” shall mean the date the Termination is effective in accordance with
Section 4.2.2(b).
[Revised Language:]
4.0 Termination of Membership
This Section states the terms and conditions applicable to any Termination or
Partial Termination.
4.1
Events of Termination and Partial Termination. A “Termination” shall
mean any cessation of Membership, voluntary or involuntary, or a termination of this
Agreement for any reason, including the following:
a.
b.
c.
d.

e.
f.

g.

Member voluntarily withdraws from membership under Sections 4.0 or
5.0 of this Agreement,
An involuntary termination of membership occurs pursuant to Section 6.0
of this Agreement;
Member withdraws from membership or terminates this Agreement to
comply with the terms of any applicable law or regulation;
A withdrawal from membership or termination of this Agreement is
ordered by any court or administrative agency of competent jurisdiction;
SPP reserves the right, but is not obligated, to maintain before such court
or administrative agency, or on any appeal, that FERC has preemptive
jurisdiction;
A material breach or repudiation of this Agreement, in the discretion of
the non-breaching or non-repudiating party;
The liquidation or dissolution of SPP, unless a third party has assumed
the rights and obligations of SPP under this Agreement and has
reasonably demonstrated capability to perform SPP’s obligations under
this Agreement;
An agreement between SPP and the Member to terminate this
Agreement.
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A “Partial Termination” occurs upon a Member’s voluntary removal of a portion of
its transmission facilities or customers from the SPP service area, including, by way of
example and not limitation, sale of a part of the Member’s distribution or transmission
network or transfer to another service provider of a portion of its retail load.
4.2 Termination Procedures and Effective Dates
4.2.1 Notice of Voluntary Withdrawal
Subject to Section 4.3, a Member may withdraw voluntarily from this Agreement,
provided that it has given written notice to the President of its intent to withdraw. Notice
of intent to withdraw must state a proposed date for the withdrawal and be delivered to
the President no less than twelve (12) months prior to such date. The President will
advise the Membership and the Board of Directors of any withdrawal notices received.
In order to assure that there is no more than one proposed termination date with respect
to a Member, a withdrawal notice shall be deemed to rescind any prior withdrawal notice
given by the Member. Voluntary withdrawal is a Termination and creates the same
obligations as a Termination for any other reason.
4.2.2 Effective Date of Termination
(a)
Voluntary Withdrawal. If the withdrawing Member is not a
Transmission Owner subject to FERC jurisdiction, the Termination Date shall be
the date proposed in the withdrawal notice under Section 4.2.1 or otherwise
agreed by SPP. If the withdrawing Member is a Transmission Owner subject to
FERC jurisdiction, the Termination Date shall be the later of (i) the proposed date
specified in the withdrawal notice or other agreed by SPP, (ii) the effective date, if
any, set by the FERC order approving the withdrawal; or (iii) the date that such
FERC order is no longer subject to review by a court of competent jurisdiction.
(b)
Termination other than Voluntary Withdrawal.
If the
Termination occurs for any reason other than the Member’s voluntary withdrawal
under Section 4.2.1 or by agreement with SPP, the Termination Date shall be as
follows:
(i)
If the Member is not a Transmission Owner subject to
FERC jurisdiction, the Termination Date shall be the date of the event by
which the Termination occurs, for example, the date a party gives notice
that it will treat a breach or repudiation as a Termination or the date a
Member withdraws in order to comply with the terms of a law or
regulation. The foregoing notwithstanding, if the Termination occurs due
to the order of a court of administrative agency, the Termination Date
shall be the date the order is no longer subject to review by a court of
competent jurisdiction.
(ii)
If the Member is a Transmission Owner requiring
regulatory agency approval prior to effectively withdrawing from
Southwest Power Pool, then the Termination Date shall be the later of (i)
the effective date, if any, set by the regulatory agency order approving the
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Termination; or (iii) the date that such regulatory order is no longer
subject to review by a court of competent jurisdiction.
(iii) In conjunction with the requirements and limitations imposed in
Section 4.2.2(b)(ii) above; Transmission Owning Members of Southwest
Power Pool wishing to withdraw from Southwest Power Pool and
requiring regulatory agency approval prior to such withdrawal being
effective are required to initiate the required regulatory filings seeking
approval to withdraw prior to the end of the 12 month notice period.
Addtionally, these members must provide Southwest Power Pool copies
of the regulatory filings in a timely manner after filing with the appropriate
regulatory agency. Failure to comply with the terms of this paragraph will
effectively rescind the notice of the withdrawing member.
4.3 Obligations Upon Termination
4.3.1

Obligation to Hold Users Harmless

Transmission Customers taking service which involves facilities being withdrawn
by a Transmission Owner from the functional control of SPP and where such service is
under transmission contracts executed before the Termination Date, shall continue to
receive the same service for the remaining term of each such contract at the same rates,
terms, and conditions that would have been applicable if the Termination or Partial
Termination had not occurred. Transmission Owner agrees to continue providing
service to such Transmission Customers in accordance with the preceding sentence,
and shall receive revenues calculated in accordance with the OATT but no more in
revenues for that service than if there had been no Termination or Partial Termination.
4.3.2

Obligation to Pay Current and Existing Obligations

(a)
In the event of a Termination or Partial Termination, the Member
shall pay all obligations incurred under this Agreement at any time prior to the
Termination Date. In addition, in order for SPP to recover a portion of certain
debts and costs payable by SPP after the Termination Date as further specified
in this Agreement, the Member shall pay all Existing Obligations (as defined
herein) calculated as of the Termination Date. SPP shall make reasonable
efforts to mitigate the Member’s Existing Obligations by commercially reasonable
actions (such as prepayment of allocable debt, or investment of part or all of the
Member’s payment in an interest-bearing instrument) and, in its discretion, may
further discount the Member’s Existing Obligations to reflect any additional
mitigation SPP determines it will achieve.
(b)
“Existing Obligations” are all of the following and other obligations
as may be set forth in the Bylaws from time to time:
i. Member’s unpaid annual membership fee,
ii. Member’s unpaid dues, assessments, and other amounts charged
under Section 3.8 or otherwise under the Bylaws, plus the Member’s
share of costs SPP customarily includes in such dues, assessments
or other charges, but which as of the Termination Date SPP had not
included in such dues, assessments or other charges.
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iii. Member’s share (computed in accordance with the Bylaws) of the
entire principal amounts of all SPP Financial Obligations outstanding
as of the Termination Date. “Financial Obligations” are all long-term
(in excess of six (6) months) financial obligations of SPP, including
but not limited to the following:
a.
debts under all loans, loan agreements, borrowings,
promissory notes, bonds, and credit lines, under which SPP
is obligated, including principal and interest;
b.
all payment obligations under equipment leases, financing
leases, capital leases, real estate and office space leases,
consulting contracts, and contracts for outsourced services;
c.
any unfunded liabilities of any SPP employee pension
funds, whether or not liquidated or demanded; and
d.
the general and administrative overhead of SPP for a
period of three (3) months.
iv. Any costs, expenses or liabilities incurred by SPP directly due to the
Termination, regardless of when incurred or payable, and including
without limitation prepayment premiums or penalties arising under
SPP Financial Obligations.
v. Member’s share (computed in accordance with the Bylaws) of all
interest that will become due for payment with respect to all interest
bearing Financial Obligations after the Termination Date and until the
maturity of all Financial Obligations in accordance with their
respective terms (“Future Interest”). In the event that a Financial
Obligation carries a variable interest rate, the interest rate in effect at
the Termination Date shall be used to calculate the applicable Future
Interest. In determining the Member’s share of Future Interest, SPP
shall take into account any reduction of Financial Obligations due to
mitigation under this Section.
(c)
In the event of a Partial Termination, Existing Obligations shall first
be calculated as though a Termination occurred, and the Member shall pay a
percentage thereof as Existing Obligations due to the Partial Termination. Such
percentage shall be the percentage reduction of the Net Energy for Load Ratio
applicable to the Member resulting from the Partial Termination
(d)
SPP shall invoice Member for Existing Obligations within one
month after the Termination Date, except that delay by SPP in issuing the invoice
shall not diminish Member’s obligation to make timely payment. The invoice shall
be due and payable no later than five (5) business days after issuance. Any
amounts owed by SPP to the Member shall, solely at SPP’s election and in its
discretion, be offset against the Member’s Existing Obligations or paid to the
Member concurrently with issuance of the invoice.
(e)
The Member acknowledges and agrees that Existing Obligations
include amounts that SPP expects to accrue and that will become payable by
SPP following the Member’s Termination, and that no part of a payment of
Existing Obligations shall be refundable to the Member under any circumstances,
including (except as provided in this Section with respect to mitigation) any
reduction of the Financial Obligations. Any disagreement as to the calculation of
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Existing Obligations shall be resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution
procedures in the Bylaws.
4.3.3 Construction of Transmission Facilities
Any obligations relating to the construction of new facilities pursuant to an
approved plan of SPP shall be renegotiated between SPP and the Transmission Owner
prior to the Termination Date or promptly thereafter. If such obligations cannot be
resolved through negotiations, they shall be resolved in accordance with the dispute
resolution procedures in the Bylaws.
4.3.4 Regulatory and Other Approvals or Procedures
Any Termination with respect to a Transmission Owner shall be subject to
applicable federal and state law and regulatory approvals or procedures.
***
6.0 Removal Of Members
The Board of Directors may terminate the membership of Member for cause,
including but not limited to material violation of the Bylaws or nonpayment of obligations,
subject to any applicable regulatory approvals. Such Board of Directors termination shall
be after an affirmative vote consistent with the voting procedures in the Bylaws. Where
membership is terminated by the Board, the Member shall comply with the requirements
of Section 4.3 of this Agreement.
7.0 Effective Date, Duration, And Transition
a. This Agreement shall be effective on the Effective Date and shall remain in
force until any Termination Date. All obligations incurred pursuant to Section 4.3 of this
Agreement shall survive a Termination.
b. Where Member has, prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement, executed an
agency agreement and/or a membership agreement with SPP, upon the Effective Date
of this Agreement any prior agreements shall be considered terminated between
Member and SPP.
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Memorandum
To:

SPP Board of Directors

From:

Finance Committee

Date:

November 30, 2004

Re:

FC 2004 Evaluation

The Finance Committee (“FC”) met twelve times (seven via teleconference, five face-toface meetings) during the 2004 fiscal year. Attendance at the meetings was as follows:
Attended

Missed

Harry Skilton

12

0

James Eckelberger

4

0

Trudy Harper

10

2

Bob Schoenberger

11

0

Michael Desselle

11

0

Doug Henry

10

2

Gary Voigt

9

2

The Finance Committee performed the duties assigned to it in the SPP Bylaws, the
Finance Committee scope document, and as assigned by the Board of Directors.
Specific actions include:
1. Reviewed independent auditor relationship, recommended engagement of
independent auditor, reviewed final audit results with independent auditor.
2. Provided oversight, input and approval of SPP 2005 operating and capital
budgets as well as determined and recommended, for Board of Director
approval, an assessment and tariff administrative fee rate sufficient to meet
SPP’s cash requirements.
3. Reviewed with SPP management and independent auditors the adequacy of
SPP’s internal controls and discussed implementation of external audit of SPP’s

critical control procedures to assist SEC jurisdictional members with their
Sarbanes Oxley certification requirements in the future..
4. Analyzed numerous scenarios to resolve SPP’s member overpayment intentions
and recommend to the Board of Directors resolution of the matter.
5. Monitor capital requirements of the organization and review and approve
structure of senior debt issuance and short-term working capital borrowing
facility.
6. Reviewed, in detail, SPP’s risk management programs and suggested
improvements to the program.
7. Initiated the Credit Task Force to review the adequacy of SPP’s credit process
and policy and implement changes required to support imbalance market activity
and exposure.
During the 2004 calendar year, the Finance Committee did not review the following:
•

Business Continuity Planning and Disaster Recovery Programs as related to
financial and MIS risks as well as significant Information Security matters and
any actions being taken to address weaknesses noted.

•

Review and approve annually significant financial and compliance policies
which fall under the purview of the Committee (e.g. Reconciliations, Code of
Ethics, Privacy, Compliance, Regulation O, BSA, Vendor Management, etc.)

The Finance Committee is currently working to improve the definition and policy
surrounding obligations owed by members upon withdrawal from SPP. Additionally, the
Finance Committee will oversee the implementation of a procedures and control audit in
2005.
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
Organizational Group Scope Statement
January 24, 2005

Purpose
The Compliance Committee exists for the purpose of assuring compliance by SPP staff,
members, and customers with all SPP and NERC policies, market protocols, standards,
and criteria. The SPP Compliance Manager (responsible for NERC compliance) will
report to this committee. The Independent Market Monitor (IMM) will report to this
committee.
Scope of Activities
The responsibilities of the Compliance Committee shall include:
a. Oversee the process of monitoring compliance to SPP and NERC operating
policies;
b. Independently review activities of the Staff as they relate to compliance with
operating policies and Criteria;
c. Hear and rule on appeals from Members regarding penalty assessment or
fine distribution prior to dispute resolution proceedings;
d. Recommend Criteria changes necessary for enforcement of mandatory
compliance and in response to unclear enforcement provisions of Criteria;
e. Grant specific additional authority to the Staff responsible for the compliance
monitoring function when needed to perform challenging investigations;
f. Review engagements of the IMM for conflicts of interest;
g. Recommend market protocol changes necessary to assure market power
mitigation, and open and competitive market operations;
h. Complete a self-assessment annually to determine how effectively the
committee is meeting its responsibilities; and
i.

Perform such other functions as the Board of Directors may delegate or
direct.

Representation
The Compliance Committee shall be comprised of three members from the Board of
Directors.

Duration
The Compliance Committee will exist until such time as the Board of Directors
determines otherwise.
Reporting
The Compliance Committee reports to the Board of Directors.

